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PART I: GUILT PHASE ISSUES 6

I. REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT I: THERE IS
INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S
CONVICTIONS OF FIVE~IRST DEGREE MURDERS, AS WELL AS
THE JURY'S FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF THE SPECIAL
CIRCUMSTANCE OF MULTIPLE MURDER 6

A. Insufficiency OfEvidence To Prove That Appellant Aided
And Abetted Or Participated In A Conspiracy To Commit
Murder: - - 6

B. Insufficiency Of Evidence ToProve That The Murders Of
Maria Moreno And The Children Were The Foreseeable
Consequence Of The Conspiracy: 15

C. Insufficiency OfEvidence To Prove The Multiple Murder
Special Circumstance Findings As To Victims Gustavo
Aguirre, Maria Moreno, and Laura Moreno: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

D. IfAny Murder Conviction Is Set Aside, The Death
Penalty Should Likewise Be Set Aside. . 22
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E. Appellant's VCCR Claim Should Not Be Rejected On The
Merits; Appellant Has Had No Opportunity To Develop A
Factual Basis To Support His Claim ThatThe Denial Of
Consular Rights Caused Prejudice , 61

F. Respondent's Argument That Suppression OfAppellant's
Statements To Investigators Is Not Required UnderThe
VCCR Bespeaks A Misunderstanding OfAppellant's
Arguments Ort Appeal. ~ 63
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CONFRONTATION, DUE PROCESS AND A RELIABLE DEATH

'JllDGMENT 65
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THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING THE '
REDACTED AUDIOTAPE OF APPELLANTS INTERVIEW
WITH INVESTIGATORS; 77
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C. Appellant Did Not Forfeit The Right To Assert A
Violation Of Otherwise Meritorious Federal Constitution. I
Rights : 84.
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E. Appellant's Failure To RequestA Limiting Instruction
Should Not Be Deemed To Forfeit The Issue. . 102

F. This Court Should Address On The Merits The Argument
That The Court Erred And Compounded The Prejudice By
Failing To Instruct The Jury That Shyrock Was An
Accomplice Whose Statements Were Subject To The Rule
Requiring Corroboration. 102

G. Appellant's Meritorious Claims OfFederal Constitutional
Errors Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited 104
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THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING
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HIS PLAN TO KILL "DIDO." 107

A. Proceedings Below: 107

B. Shyrock's Statements Were Not Admissible As
Declarations Against Interest AndiOr As Coconspirator
Statements. .. . . . . . . . . . . . ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 107

C. Shyrock's Statements Were More Prejudicial Than
Probative. . 112

D. The Contention That The Trial Court Erred By Failing To
Instruct The Jury That Shyrock Was An Accomplice As A
Matter Of Law Was Not Forfeited And Has Merit. 113

E. Appellant's Should Not Be Deemed To Have Forfeited
Meritorious Claims That His Federal Constitutional Rights
Were Violated. 113

IX.. REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT IX:
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING
STATEMENTS BY GUSTAVO AGUIRRE THAT THE
MAFIA WAS GOING TO COME AND THERE WAS
GOING TO BE TROUBLE. 116

-v-



I ;

I

A. Proceedings Below: 1 116

B. Aguirre's Hearsay Statements Were Not Admissible A~
Contemporaneous Statements To Explain Aguirre's State Of
Mind , 116

C. Appellant Should Not Be Deemed To Have Forfeited [is
Otherwise Meritorious State And Federal-Constitutional ' .
Challenges To The Receipt OfThis Evidence. . 120

X. REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT X: 1

APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY THE RECEIPT 1

OF STATEMENTS MADE BY ANTHONY TORRES I

TO WITNESS 13 REGARDING HIS INVOLVENIENT IN THE
MURDERS ' 1 123

A. Statement Of Proceedings Below: j 123

B. Appellant's Claim Regarding The Erroneous AdmissLn
Of Torres' Statements As Described In Witness #13's I

I

Audiotaped Testimony Is Meritorious, And Should Not Be
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Regarding Torres' Admission To The Murder OfA RivJl
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E. Appellant's Contentions Regarding The Denial Of His
State And Federal Constitutional Rights Are Meritoriou~ And
Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited 1 135
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State And Federal Constitutional Rights. . 149

1. Appellant's Confrontation Clause Claim is
Meritorious And Should Not Be Deemed
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Statements Violated Appellant's Rights To Due
Process, Confrontation And A Reliable Death
Judgment. 153

XII. REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUNIENT XII:
APPELLANT'S CONTENTION THAT THE COURT
IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY PURSUANT
TO CALJIC NO. 2.11.5 IS MERITORIOUS AND
SHOULD NOT BE FORFEITED. . 156

A. Proceedings Below: 156
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REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S INTRODUCTION

APPELLANT'S REPLY BRIEF

, IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

)
) Supreme Ct.
) S070536
)
)
) Los Angeles
) ,County No.
) BAI08995
)
)
)

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Defendant and Appellant.

vs.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA"

LUIS MACIEL,

Respondent's "Introduction" misleadingly characterizes the nature

and strength of the evidence allegedly proving appellant's involvement in

, the brutal murders of Anthony, Maria and Laura Moreno, and Ambrose

Padilla. (Respondent's Brief [RB] 1.) The record does not contain

evidence showing that appellant isa "self~described'middle man'" who

recruited street gang members Anthony Torres, Richard Valdez, Daniel

Logan, Jimmy Palma and Jose Ortiz to murder Anthony Moreno. Appellant

denied and continues to deny acting as a "middle man" man for the

Mexican Mafia in connection with the murders. In his tape-recorded

statement to police, appellant repeatedly denied committing or setting up

the murders, and indicated he was busy baptizing his son on the day the

murders occurred. (8 Supplemental Clerk's Transcript [SCT] 1:1673, 1675,
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, I',
1682-1683, 1691, 1696, 1697, 1699, 1700.Y Appellant also indfcated that

someone had asked him to be involved in the murders but he der·lined to do

so because he knew the Moreno family very well. (8 SCT 1:8:' 698, 1700,
I

1701.) I '

Respondent also states "appellant expressed fear for his :ffamily
I

because ofhis role in the murders...." (RB 2.) This falsely i1Plies that

appellant had admitted having a role in the murders; such an implication is
. I

,manifestly false. In fact, in the tape-recorded interview, appellant admitted

knowing the identity of another person who acted as middle mah to commit

the murders. He refused to identitY this person to detectives, eJpreSSing

concern for the safety ofhis children and his wife. (8 SCT 1: 1~98, 1700,
I

1702.) In other words, appellant was fearful that someone would harm his

family if appellant gave police the name of the person who acte~ as middle

man to arrange the murders. Appellant did not express fear of ietaliation

due to any alleged role in the murders.

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OFF4CTS
I

Respondent repeats the assertionthat appellant "eventuatlY admitted,

that he was a 'middle man,' who was told '[t]o get a hold 0lfthis person

to tell them that they know what and that's it.'" (RB 42.) This tague phrase

is over-interpreted by respondent. Appellant did not admit thatlhe was a

"middle man" with respect to the Maxson Street murders. As Jreviously

1 The first number indicates the volume number. The n mber after
SCT indicates that this isthe first supplemental transcript filed!dUring
proceedings to augment and correct the record. CT 1 will refer ~o the
original Clerk's Transcript. The number before a reference to CT 1 will
indicate the volume number. " I ,
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stated, appellant told police that he was asked to be involved in the murders.

but refused to be involved because he was friends with members of the

Moreno family. (8 SCT 1:1698,1700,1701.) Appellant admittedknowing

the identity ofanother person who in fact acted as middle man in the

murders. Appellant refused to identify the real "middle man" to detectives

out of concern for the safety ofhis children and his wife. (8 SCT 1: 1698,

1700, 1702.)

Respondent's quotation, relied upon to attribute an admission of

"middle man" status to appellant, is selectively lifted from page 1696 of

Volume 8 of the firsfSupplemental Clerk's Transcript. The complete page

1696 contains the following dialog,demonstrating the extremely vague and

ambiguous character of appellant's statements to police:

"A: Well, I mean what you wanna know?

"Q: Well--

"A: I wasn't involved. I didn't set it up. I didn't - I didn't set it up.

I didn't give that order. I mean what do I get if! ,tell you who set it up and

every - and all that?

"Q: What do you get ifyou - well­

"A: Either way I'll be fucked, right?

"Q: What you get out of it, is perhaps the ability to do time where

you don't have to look over your shoulder. You know you're gonna do

time.

"A: For what?

"Q: It's just beginning. For all the shit - all the shit you've been.

involved in.

"A: Man, I ain't involved in none of this shit. People - I didn't even

do this. To get a hold ofthis person to tell them that they know what and

3



that's it.

"Q:You're a middle man?

"A: Yeah, I'm also a fuck man. They say you shut up - none of my

thing. Just ask me to get a hold of these people you, you knowJnd they

know you don't gotta do nothing, just tell them that I said that'skalright,
.. .. I·

homes, homie told me to tell you this and this and this and that, ou know -

and that's it.

"Q: so what you're saying is somebody - somebody calls you, tells

you to call somebody?

"A: Yeah, but see -

"Q: You don't know what's on either side?

(8SCT 1:1696.)

The preceding questions and answers are not only ambigyous, they

are wholly unintelligible. Appellant's responses do not by any sfretch of the

imagination constitute admissions to acting as a middle man intre Maxson

Street murders. Moreover, on the next page of the transcriptionJ appellant

is directly asked whether he acted as the go between and he emJ1haticallY

denies it.

"A: They already talk about it through ~ through - throuJh - I mean

through their wives and send it to this way and then they sent it in the other

way, so they don't know when, so when they decide when, they call me and

let me know, they already know.

."Q: SO you're saying that somebodyhere has already taIled to

somebody here? They've already made the plans of what theY'~e gonna do

and the whole thing, all they're waiting for is somebody to say, yes, so they

call you and tell you to call somebody and you don't say anythiJg except,
. . • I

yes.

4
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"A: That's it.

"Q: And they act on that, becallse you're the in between?

"A: Yes. I - I'm notgonna fall for this shit, man.

"Q: Were you the in between on Maxson?

"A: No. I can tell who it was.

. "Q: Tell me who was the in between, you're saying you're not the in

between on Maxson?

"A: Yeah, not the in between, the one on Maxson. I had nothing to

do with that one. That - I mean somebody had asked me if I wanted to be

part of it, butl said, no."

(8 seT 1: 1697; italics added.)

Investigators' questions are completely ambiguous. In the italicized

sentence above, the two references to "somebody here" fail to identitY to

whom the investigator is even referring. Furthermore, when the entirety of

the interview is read, it is clear that at most, appellant arguably admitted

that he had acted as an "in between" in the past and was familiar with what

such persons did. He emphatically denied that he was involved as an "in

between" for purposes of the Maxson Street killings. It is apparent that

appellant was pegged as the "in between" solely because he refused to "rat"

on the person who actually played that role. Accordingly, respondent's

repeated implications'or descriptions of "admissions" by appellant are

highly misleading and a misrepresentation of the facts.

5



PART I: GUILT PHASE ISSUES

; .. I. .. . I

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT I: THEJ,tE IS .
INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLlt\NT'S

CONVICTIONS OF FIVE FIRST DEGREE MURDERS, AS WELL·
AS THE JURY'S FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF THE S~ECIAL .

CIRCUMSTANCE OF MULTIPLE MURDER.

A. Insufficiency Of Evidence To Prove That Appella,t
Aided And Abetted Or Participated In A Conspiracy To
Commit Murder:

In Argument I, B, respondent argues that there is sufficiint credible

evidence of solid value to prove that appellant participated in a conspiracy

to commit the murders ofAnthony Moreno and Gustavo Agui+, or that he

aided and abetted in their murders. (RB 61.) Respondent's lenfhY

recitation of circumstantial evidence arguably shows that Raymond Shyrock
. .. I

had a motive to murder either Anthony Moreno, a Mexican Mara dropout,

or Gustavo Aguirre,.who was robbing Mafia drug connections 4nd not

paying "taxes." Evidence also shows that the murders of MOre!10 and

Aguirre were accomplished by the five codefendants, possibly t the request

of someone in the Mexican Mafia. However, respondent fails t6 address

appellant's principal point; there was little or no credible eVidelce of solid

value presented to show that appellant master-minded or aided ~d abetted

the killings, or that he participated in a conspiracy to have Agulrre or

Moreno killed, and/or that he did so on the Mexican Mafia's b1hal~.

As proof of guilt, respondent places great emphasis on appellant's

so-called admission to detectives that he was a '~'middle man,' fkhO was told

'[t]o get a hold of this person to tell them that they know what. nd that's

it.'" (RB 68.) This is the third occasion on which respondent .

6
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mischaracterizes appellant's tape-recorded interview. Appellant admitted

his relationship with Shyrock, admitted that he had done occasional errands

for the Mafia, and arglJably even admitted that he had acted as an "in

between" - meaning a messenger - on unspecified past occasions.

Nonetheless, contrary to respondent's misleading characterization of the

facts, appellant emphatically and repeatedly denied that he was involved in .

any way in the Maxson Street killings. (8 SCT 1:1696-1697.)

To rebut appellant's insufficiency argument,respondent also relies

on Raymond Shyrock's statements a,t a January 4, 1995, meeting of the

Mexican Mafia that was surreptitiously videotaped. (RB 62.) Atthis

meeting, Shyrock refers to someone named "Dido'" as a Mexican Mafia

dropout, and indicates that he wants him killed. Contrary to what

respondent seems to imply, the last name of Moreno was not mentioned

during this meeting, and the correspondence of identity between the "Dido"

who was mentioned and the "Dido" who was killed is not 100 percent

certain. (RB 62.) However, even assuming "Dido" Moreno was murdered

on orders from Shyrock, appellant was not a member ofthe Mexican Mafia,

or present at the meeting when the order to kill Moreno was ostensibly

given.

Of equal importance, Shyrock's hearsay statements about "Dido,"

should not have been received by the jury, and therefore should not be

utilized by this Court to upholdappellant's convictions. These statements

were erroneously received for the truth ofthe matters asserted as

declarations against penal interest. (See, Appellant's Opening Brief

[hereafter, AOB] 160-163; Evid. Code, § 1230.) As appellant has

previously argued, Shyrock's videotaped statements were not specifically

disserving to the penal interests of Shyrock at the time they were made - a

7
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. well-settled requirement for admissibility uuderthis hearsay extption ,

(People v. Lawley (2002) 27 Ca1.4th 102,152-153; AOBI62.) fhe ,

conspiracy had not yet been conceived, no crimes had yet 'been tommitted, '

and no steps had yet been taken in furtherance of Moreno's murder.' Hence,

Shyrock's statements could not have subjected him to liability fbr the'

Maxson street murders, or even conspiracy to commit murder, af the time

they were uttered. , j , ,
Forreasons previously explained,Shyrock's videotaped, tatements

also fail the test of reliability - another requirement for their ad~ission as
I

declarations against penalinterest. (Lilly v. Virginia (1999) 52f U.S. 116,

130-139 [144 L.Ed.2d 117,119 S.Ct. 1887]; AOBI60-168.) Frtrthermore,

in closing, the prosecutor repeatedly referred to Shyrock's state~ents as

evidence of a conspiracy and intent. (62 RT 9650-9661.) The ~rror was

further compounded by the court's failure to instruct the jury thht Shyrock

was an accomplice to whom the cautionary instructions on accJmplice

statements applied. (AOB165.) I '

As circumstantial evidence of guilt, respondent refers to levidence
I

that appellant was admitted to the Mexican Mafia at ShyrOCk'srehest fewer

than three weeks before the murders. (RE 63.) Respondent qubtesShyrock

as saying, on videotape, that appellant had already done a "lot dfbusiness"

for the gang, and had "downed a whole buuch ofmother fucke's." (RB 63.)

Respondent presumes the truth of Shyrock's hearsay statements, and argues,

in essence, that appellant's history of doing Mafia "business" ahd

"down[ing] .. ,' mother fuckers" makes it likely that he also marlterminded

the Maxson Street murders on Erne's behalf.

, Shyrock's statements are intrinsically ambiguous. It is tot clear

what Shyrock meant when he said that appellant had done a "lot of

8
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relationship with Shyrock and the Mexican Mafia. In addition, 4s

previously noted, the jury was not instructed that Shyrock was ah

accomplice whose statements were subject to the rule requiring

corroboration. (AOB 150-152; People v. Tobias (2001) 25 Cal.fth 327,

331.) . I .

Further argument regarding the admissibility of videotap~devidence

of Mexican Mafiameetings is reserved for appellant's reply to rspondent's

Arguments VII and VIII, post. (RB184-.216.) It suffices to say fhat this

Court cannot fully adjudicate appellant's insufficiency-of-the-e!idence

claims without first addressing arguments regarding the inadmi isibility and

prejudicial impact of the evidence used to obtain appellant's cohvictions.

Respondent argues that the testimony of witness 15, An+ony

Moreno'sbrother, furnishes evidence of appellant's "involvemtimt in
I .

facilitating Shyrock's wishes...." (RB 63.) In reality, witnesf 15's

testimony amounts to little more than cumulative evidence that ~nthony

Moreno was a Mexican Mafia dropout, and that appellant had Jrelationship

with Shyrock and Eme. However, evidence of appellant's mer~
membership in a group that may have harbored a motive to kill IAnthony

Moreno, and his possible awareness of the motive, does not su~plant the

need for substantial proof that appellant was personally involvJd in the

. brutal murders of Moreno and four other people. I

Respondent recounts witness 1Ys testimony regarding a~pellant's

alleged visit to the Moreno family on the day ofthe murders, +d asswnes

the truth of the witness's statements without addressing any of!the troubling

credibility problems that arise from viewing Moreno's testimo~yas a

whole; At the time of trial, Moreno was an admitted former gJng member,

a heroin addict and a career felon who had charges pending w1iCh carried a

. 10 I
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possible sentence of25 years to life. (56 RT 8709,8712-8715, 8722-8723,

8744, 8761, 8765-8766, 8810-8812.) He denied receiving any benefit for

his testimony, but then - despite a long prior record -miraculously received

credit for time served in his pending felony "Three Strikes" case. (66 RT

10246-10247.) Witness 15 wasthe only person to testify that appellant

went to the Moreno residence on the day ofthe murders; none of the other

percipient witnesses identified or described appellant as among the visitors.

(56 RT 8665, 8728, 8735-8738; RT 55:8627, 8686-8644.) Moreover,

appellant's family members who did not have criminal histories testified

that appellant was at a baptism when this allegedvisit to Alex Moreno was

supposed to be occurring. (60 RT 9321-9323,9396-9397,9418,9436­

9438,9466.)

Another aspect ofwitness 15's testimony was substantially

impeached.· Witness 15 testified that,·onthe day of the murders, he made

three trips with his brother, Alex Moreno, to collect some money from a

"fence" to whom they had sold some stolen property and to buy heroin. (56 .

RT 8725, 8769.) Witness 15 testified that he returned from his third and

last excursion to procure drugs at about 2:15 p.m., 15 minutes before

appellant allegedly paid a visit to the Moreno residence. (56 RT 8727­

8728.)

Witness 15 could not remember the address of the "fence," but said

the "fence" operated out of a barber shop at the comer Live Oak Avenue

and Peck Road in Arcadia, on the south side of the intersection across from

the Edwards Theater. (56 RT 8771- 8773.) Subsequently, appellant called

Stefanos Kaparos as a defense witness. Kaparos had been the owner for 19

years of a Shrimp Ahoy restaurant located at the comer ofPeck Road and

Live Oak Avenue in Arcadia, across from a fonner E~wardsDrive-in

11



Theater. Kaparos testified that there had never been a barber sh p at the

comer ofPeck Road and Live Oak Avenue. (61 RT 9466-9469.1 Kaparos'
. . . I

testimony raises significant doubts regarding the veracity of witness 15's

testimony that appellant visited the Moreno residence at approxikately 2:15 .

p.m., at which time appellant's relatives attested he was present rt his son's

baptismal party. (60 RT 9322-9324, 9396-9397~) I

Respondent also emphasizes the testimony of witness 14 as

convincing evidence supporting appellant's convictions. (RB 6t.) .
Respondent credits this witness's testimony without addressing severe

.credibility problems that arise fromhis motives and bad charactbr, as well
. 1 .

as the l~c~ of c~rrob~ratingevidence and abundance of eVidencrl

contradIctmg hIS claIms. . .

Witness 14, an admitted heroin user and an El Monte Flo~es gang

~emb~r (57 RT 8984, 9000, 9011-9012), wa~ serving. prison se~tences for

kidnapmg, robbery and drug offenses at the time oftnal. (57 Rt 8980­

8981.) At the time events were purportedly witnessed, witness 14 was

simultaneously using methadone and heroin while he was work~ng for

MTA, entrusted with driving the agency's vehicles. (57 RT89~3, 9011-

9012J j
This witness claimed he ran into appellant on the day of he murders

at about the same time that family members placed appellant in church, at

his own son'sbaptism. (60 RT 9388-9389.) To this extent, theitestimOny

of witness 14 is also inconsistent with the prosecution's theory egarding

what occurred during the day on April 22, 1995. Prosecutors ~eOriZed,
based on the testimony of several of the Morenos' neighbors, tHat appellant

was one ofthe four men who reportedly visited the victims mifay on April

22, 1995, to ply them with heroin. Appellant cannot have been in two places

12
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at once.

Witness 14 also claimed that, late the same evening"appellant left

the baptismal party with him to go to appellant's apartment. There, during a

supposed one- hour absence from the party (57 RT 8987-8997; 58 RT

9190-9191), appellant purportedly conversed with Jimmy Palma about

Mafia business and gave him some heroin.. This incident allegedly occurred

at a time when appellant's wife and mother-in-lawtestified they observed

appellant opening gifts, helping to clean up after the party, and loading the

family's car. (57 RT 8987-8997; 60 RT 9405-9417,9438-9439,9466.)

, Nobody at the party, inclUding appellant's wife and mother-in-law, saw

appellant disappear for an hour. (60 RT 9403-9408, 9416-9417,,9436­

9439.)

Witness 14'stestimony is also inherently incredible considering the

number of inconsistent accounts he gave on other occasions regarding his

claimed contacts with appellant prior to the trial. On June 21, 1995, he was

interviewed by Investigator Davis and never mentioned driving appellant

home from a baptismal party on the night of the murders. Rather, on

December 6, 1995, witness 14 testified under oath that, on the day in '

question, he went directly to appellant's house, unaccompanied, to score a

gram of heroin. Witness 14 claimed that, while he was there purchasing
, ,

heroin, Jimmy Palma also stopped by to purchase some heroin. Palma

mentioned he was "packing" and told appellant he was going to take care of

some business. (58 RT 9196-9197.)

Conveniently for prosecutors, witness 14 changed his testimony prior

to trial. It wasn't until March 12,1996, after witness 14 had been taken into

custody for kidnaping and robbery that he reported attending the post­

baptismal party with "Deilise,"and driving appellant to his apartment for

13



the meeting with Palma. Not surprisingly, after changing his stor' witness

14 received a comparatively lenient sentence of only 11 years anr 8 months

in prison. (58 RT 9029, 9200.) It is unknown what other benefits witness

14 received in exchange for testifYing. At trial, defense counsellwas not

permitted to cross-examine witness 14 regarding whether his C01ditions of

. confinement in the Pelican Bay State Prison Security Housing Unit (SHU) ­

. about which he had vociferously complained - had improved aJer he

revised his account ofwhat happened on the night of the murder~. (58 RT

9027-9028, 9053-9055~ 9062.) . 1
Respondent also emphasizes the fact that appellant's pag Ir re.ceived

. . I·
numerous calls from the perpetrators of the murders before and after they

occurred. (RB 68.) There was no evidence proving that appellaht was

carrying the pager at the times the calls were made. FurthermorJ, the

telephone records of appellant, his family members, and the hosls of the

baptismal party were clearly subject to prosecutorial discovery 1.efore trial.

Nevertheless, the prosecution failed to produce any evidence at trial that

appellant had ever returned calls to the codefendants in respons~ to any of

these pages.2 Evidence that appellant was paged but did not retJrn calls is

as consistent with his innocence as it is with his guilt. It tends If
corroborate appellant's extrajudicial claim to detectives that he was urged to

act as middle man to kill Moreno and/or Aguirre, but refused to become

involved because of his friendship with the Moreno family. I

Referring to weaknesses in the prosecution's evidence th~t were
t I

exposed to the jury, respondent dismisses appellant's insufficielcy

2 Only witness 14, whose credibility is questionable, tes'fied that
during the baptismal party appellant received a page and left th~ room. (RT
57:8988-8989.)
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arguments as "nothing more than an invitation to reconsider the jury's ­

factual findings and determinations." (RB 69.) In making this argument,

respondent completely ignores the devastating impact of inadmissible

-_evidence that very likely swayed jurors to find inherently incredible and

uncorroborated witnesses more credible. The erroneously admitted _

videotape in which Shyrock attributed to appellant vague prior acts of

murder3 on behalf of the Mexican Mafia is but one ofmany examples of

emotionally charged 'evidence which the jury would have been-incapable of

Ignonng. (Thomas v. Hubbard (9th Cir. 2001) 273 F3d 1164, 1173;

People v. Saling (1972) 7 Ca1.3d 844, 856.) Excluding Shyrock's highly

prejudicial statements which clearly implied that appellant had killed

before, the evidence is plainly insufficient to establishappellaIit's

culpability for the murders as an aider and abettor or as co-conspirator.

B. Insufficiency Of Evidence To Prove That The Murders
Of Maria Moreno And The Children Were The
Foreseeable Consequence Of The Conspiracy:

As evidence that the murders ofMaria Moreno and the children were

a foreseeable consequence of the conspiracy, respondent points to the

testimony ofwitness 15 that appellant visited the residence during the

afternoon ofApril 22, 1995, and saw that children were present. (RB 73.)

Witness 15 is the sole source of evidence for this purported fact. For

reasons previously stated, this inherently incredible witness's testimony was

uncorroborated and should not be believed. (Argument I, A, ante.)

3 Shyrock informed his companions that appellant had done a "lot of
business" for the Mafia and "downed a whole bunch ofmother fuckers."
(8 SeT 1:1644-1664.)
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Witness 15, who was on heroin at the times these events t~ok place,

testified that Maciel and three younger men visited the Moreno r~sidence at

about 2:30 p.m. This' fits nicely with witness 14's claim that he rkn into

appellant near an El Monte trailer court at about 12:30 p.m. the S~meday.
(57 RT 8983-8985, 9007.) However, the testimony is inconsist~ht with the

testimony ofthe state's more disinterested witnesses, Le.,. neigh+rs who

noticed the four male visitors arriving at the Morenos' residence I midday on

April 22, 1995. For example, witness 8, a neighbor, testified thaft she saw

the male visitorsarrive at the Moreno residence between 12:00 ~nd 1:00

p.m. on April 22, 1995, or possibly between 1:00 and 2:00 p.m., Idepending
. . I

on when she arrived home from work. (55 RT 8609, 8622.) W~tness 9,

who has having a yard sale in the vicinity of the Morenos' resid~nce,
. . I

recalled that she saw the four men go down the Morenos' driveray at about

noon. (56 RT 8660.) Witness 11, another neighbor, recalled that the visitors

arrived at about 12:30 p.m. (55 RT 8629.) I

When a majority ofwitnesses observed the four visitors arriving at

the Moreno residence, appellant was, according to family mem~ers, at his

son's baptism, in transit to the home of the Lopez family for a brptismal

party, and/or just arriving at the baptismal party with his wife artd son. (60

RT 9321-9323, 9391-9397.) At the time witness 1~ claims app1llantpaid a

visit to his brother and him - after 2:30 p.ni. - the baptismalp~ was

already' in progress. Appellant's testifying family members exp~essed
certainty that he was with them at the baptism and party. (60 Rf 9321­

9323,9396-9397, 9436-9438.) Viewed as a whole, it cannot bi said that

substantial evidence ofsolid value establishes appellant's preserce at the

victims' residence on the day of the murders. I'

As evidence that the deaths of Maria Moreno and the children were a
. . . I
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foreseeable, natural and probable consequence of the murders of "Dido"

Moreno and Gustavo Aguirre, respondent points to triple hearsay ~ "

testimonyby (l).codefendant Torres' sister, witness 13, that (2) Torres told

her that (3) somebody told the perpetrators that they were not supposed to

leave any witnesses. (RB 73.) The identity of the person who supposedly

gave the order to kill witnesses is not revealed through witness 13's

testimony. Of course, this "declarant" did not testifY and could not be

cross-examined. Furthermore, there is absolutely no evidence in the record

that if such an order was given to Torres, Palma, Logan, Ortiz, and/or

Valdez," it was given by appellant, or by someone else in the Mexican Mafia

with appellant's knowledge or assent.

The state's own evidence is to the contrary. Assuming Raymond

Shyrock was referring to the need to kill Dido Moreno during the Mexican

Mafia meeting that was videotaped on January 4, 1995, Shyrock explicitly

stated he did not want the children in the residence killed. (8 SCT 1: 1642­

1643.) According to other evidence, Torres told his sister that they were not

supposed to kill the children. (8 SCT 1:1628, 1633.) Theprosecution's

gang expert, Richard Valdemar, testified, consistently, that the Mexican

Mafia has a rule against killing innocent women and children. Violation of

the rule is punishable by death. Codefendant Palma was murdered while on

death row as punishment for his involvement in the killing of the children in

this case. (55 RT 8584-8586, 8603.) Under such <?ircumstances, the fact

that some unidentified individual may have directed Torres not to leave any

witnesses hardly makes it foreseeable to appellant that the Morenos'

children would be slaughtered, particularly since Torres was also instructed

not to kill the children.

More importantly, this hearsay evidence was highly unreliable and

17



inadmissible; it waserroneously admitted over objection. (AO' 181.)

Therefore, it should not be considered by this Court in weighinj the

sufficiency ofevidence offoreseeability. Torres' statement abi.t not

leaving any witnesses was made after the objectives of the alleged

conspiracy had been achieved; it was not properly received as al statement in

furtherance ofthe alleged conspiracy. (AOBI85; People v. Letch (1975)

15 Ca1.3d 419, 431; Krulewitch v. UnitedStates (1949) 336 U.S. 440, 443

[93 L.Ed. 790,69 S.Ct. 716].) In addition, Torres' self-servinJ statement

did not qualifY as a statement against Torres' penal interest. J
accomplice's confession is considered presumptively unreliabld when it

appears the declarant has a considerable interest in "'confessinJ and

betraying'" his cohorts. (Lilly v. Virginia, supra, 527 U.8. at p. ~31; internal

citation omitted.) Clearly, Torres was playing the "blame gam,,, with his

sister, implying that he bore no responsibility for the deaths of tre children.

Hearsay statements must be actually disserving to the individua~ declarant

to be admissible pursuant to Evidence Code section 1230. (peJfle v.

Leach, supra, 15 CalJd at p. 439.) Without this unreliable, uitdmissible

hearsay, substantial evidence is lacking to support thejury's implied finding

that the murders of Maria Moreno and the children were a natuial and

probable consequence of the plan to kill Aguirre and/or Morenl

C. Insufficiency Of Evidence To Prove The Multiple
Murder Special Circumstance Findings As To Victims
Gustavo Aguirre, Maria Moreno, and Lanra MOrenr'

Respondent argues that the trial court properly denied a,~ellant's

motion to dismiss the multiple murder special circumstance finFing since

there was substantial evidence in the record to prove that appel ant intended

18
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the deaths of the victims other than Anthony Moreno. (RB 74-75, 77-78.)

Respondent's argument contradicts the district attorney's guilt phase

closing argument to the jury. Mr. Manzella conceded in argument that "we

have not proven that he did intend the killing of the children." . (62 RT

9660.) He repeated, "... we haven't shown that this defendant intended the

killing of the children." (62 RT 9660.)

Respondent points to two cases as support for the jury's finding that

the killings of Gustavo Aguirre, Maria Moreno and five-year-old Laura

MOreno were intended by appellant, People v. Hardy (1992) 2 Ca1.4th 86,

192 and People v. Maury(2003) 30 Ca1.4th 673. A third case, People v..

Williams (2003) 16 Ca1.4th'635, 689, which reverses the death judgment, is

cited as distinguishable.

Neither Hardy nor Maury "mandate" the rejection ofappellant's

insufficiency of evidence argument (RB 75.) In Hardy, the jury not only

found true a multiple murder special circumstance; it also found true that

the defendant had aided and abetted the killing of a witness to a crime. The

latter special circumstance required the jury to find that the defendant aided

and abetted the codefendant with knowledge ofthe codefendant's explicit

purpose - to kill to prevent the victim from testifying. This Court found the

absence of instructions requiring proof of intent to kill harmless because it

was clear that the jury must have found under the instructions that the

defendantintended to kilL (People v. Hardy, supra, 2 Ca1.4th at p.192.)

In Maury, the defendant was convicted ofthe first degree murders of

three women, assault on one with intent to commit rape, the robbery of

another, and the forcible rape ofa fourth woman. After each of the crimes,

the defendant had called a secret witness operator with information on the

crimes in exchange forreward money. With respect to two of the three

19



murders, this Court found that there was no evidence at all to sutport

~::c:~::::;::~a~~ea::;=:':::~tr:::::.:::::!:::
. police constituted the sole evidence that appellant aided and abeked, rather

than committed the murder.

In Maury, it was impossible to determine from the record which

murders the jury relied upon to findtrue the multiple murder sp cial .

circumstance allegatiou. This Court declared that ·there was "no ~vidence to

support a finding that defendant aided Morris in killing [the thirf victim]

without knowing that Morris intended to kill her." (People v. Maury, supra,

30 Ca1.4th at pp. 431-432.) Even ifthe jury believed the defendknt, who

said that the codefendant forced hini to strike the victim on the Iead with a

rock to mask the cause ofdeath, the jury could not have fotind t at the

defendant aided the killing accidentally or unintentionally. (Id., at p. 432.)

In People v. Williams, supra, 16 Ca1.4th 635 (RB 75), thi Court

reversed the death senteuce where the trial court failed to iustru1t jurors that

to find the multiple murder circumstances true, they had to find fhe
. I

defendant aided and abetted the murders with the intent to kill. In Williams,

the perpetrators entered the victims' home mistakenly; they werrl' apparently

looking for the intended victim, the subject of a contract to kill. Right after

shots were fired, the defendant was seen leaving the victim's residence, in
. . . I

possession of a gun. Shortly after the murders, the defendant aIr spent a

,large amount ofmoney. The defendant admitted to police that lie was

inside the victims' residence, but claimed that he fled when the bodefendant

started shooting. Finding the instructional eiror prejudicial, thi1 Court

explained that the fact that the "actual perpetrator committed th¢ murders'

(execution style) did not itself reveal an intent to kill by defend nt as an

20
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aider and abettor." (Id., at p. 690.)

.In contrast, in this case the prosecution's evidence on the intent to

kill issue is even weaker than it was in the Williams case. Raymond Shyrock .

allegedly wanted Anthony Moreno killed be~ause he had dropped out of the

Mexican Mafia. Shyrock knew there were women and children in the

Moreno household, and, consistent with Mexican Mafia "rules," said he did

not want the children killed. At least one of the actual perpetrators, Tortes,

told his sister they were not supposed to kill innocent children; according to

the plan, only one mail - presumably Moreno - was supposed to be killed.

(8 SeT 1:1626-1633.)

Appellant may have been friendly with Shyrock, and he may even

have joined the Mexican Mafia by the time Moreno was murdered.

However, he was nowhere near the Moreno family's home at the time of the

killings. Even assuming.arguendo that appellant arranged for the murder of

Moreno on the Mafia's behalf, and further, that appellant would have

condoned the murder of Moreno's companion, Gustavo Aguirre, who was

robbing Mafia connections, the uncontroverted evidence shows that neither

appellant nor Shyrock intended to cause the deaths ofMaria and the

children. Although the issue here is not instructional error, but rather,

whether substantial evidence supports the jury's findings of intentional

murder as to Aguirre, Maria Moreno, and Laura Moreno, the Williams

decision nonetheless supports appellant's position.

Respondent also argues in a footnote (RB 78, fn. 39) that the court

lacked discretion to strike or dismiss the special circumstance fmdings in

21



furtherance ofjustice. (pen. Code, § 1385.1.)4 The trial court d d not lack

discretion under· section 1385.1 to· dismiss or strike special circu stances

that were found by the jury based on constitutionally insufficien

As has been previously explained in subsection B, above, there.

evidence, much less substantial evidence of solid value, suggest ngthat

appellant, or even Raymond Shyrock - who purportedly ordere the killing

- intended to cause the deaths of any victim except the alleged Nfexican

Mafia dropout, Anthony Moreno. The motion to dismiss the mhltiple .

murder special circumstance findings should therefore have beeh granted.

D. IfAny Murder Conviction Is Set Aside, The DeatH
. . I

Penalty Should Likewise Be Set Aside.

Respondent cites numerous cases for the proposition tha~ the death

penalty should be affinned even if one or more of the murder c1nvictions is

reversed. (RB 78-79.) The cited cases do not present the same situation'
.. I .

presented here: where there is only one death penalty eligibility Ifactor-

multiple murder - and the evidence is insufficient to support jU~'s findings
. I

that the appellant intended to kill some of the murder victims. (F 48-49.)

In the first category of cases cited by respondent, prosecjtors

erroneously charged - and the jury erroneously found true - mOre than the

permissible number ofmultiple murder special circumstances. tPeople v.
I

Bonin (1989) 47 Ca1.3d 808,856; People v. Allen (1986) 42 Ca1.3d 1222,

1273.) Even though there were no other special 'circumstances ~ound true,

the duplicative multiple murder special circumstance findings .ere found

4 All further statutory references are to the Penal Code Inless
otherwise indicated.
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harmleSs because, in essence, the jury could not have been confused about'

the total number of intentional murders committed by the defendant.

(Peoplev. Sanders(1995) 11 Ca1.4th 475,562.)

For example, in Peoplev. Miller (1990) 50 Ca1.3d 954,1001~1O02

(RB 79), the jury found true four multiple murder circumstances based on

convictions of four murders. The death judgment was affirmed based on

the single valid multiple murder special circumstance finding even though

three of the multiple murder findings had to be reversed. (Accord: People v.

Hamilton (1989) 48 Ca1.3d 1142, 1180-1181; People v. Kimble (1988)44

Ca1.3d 480, 504.)

In the second category of cases cited by respondent, a multiplicity of

multiple murder special circumstances were found true rather than the

allowable one and the jury also made one or more other valid special

circumstance findings. In these cases, the Court struck any duplicative

findings and affirmed the death judgment based on the valid multiple

murder special circumstance finding and other special circumstances

properly found true by the jury.

For example, in People v. Sanders, supra, 11 Ca1.4th at p.562 (RB

78), the jury found true four multiple murder special circumstances and one

felony-murder-robbery special circumstance. This Court struck the

superfluous multiple murder findings but affirmed the death judgment

based on the jury's consideration of allowable multiple murder and felony­

murder special circumstance findings. (Accord: People v. Beardslee (1991)

53 Ca1.3d 68, 117; People v. Gallego (1990) 52 Ca1.3d 115,201; People v.

Hernandez (1988) 47 Ca1.3d315, 357-358; People v. Odie (1988) 45 Ca1.3d

386,409-410; People v, Williams (1988) 44 Ca1.3d 1127, 1146; People v.

Allen, supra, 42 Ca1.3d at p.1273; People v. Rodriguez (1986) 42 Ca1.3d
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730, 787-788; Peoplev. Har~is (1984) 36 Cal.3d 36, 66-67.).~ n).

In none of the cases c1ted by respondent was there a smgl, multIple·

murder special circumstance finding supported by one or more murder
. . I

convictions that had to be ·reversed based on the insufficiency 01the

evidence to prove the defendant shared the intent to kill the victIm.

Appellant asserts· that, even if this Court finds the evidence sn,cient to

establish that appellant conspired with gang members to kill Anthony

Moreno, the evidence is wholly insufficient to prove that he intJnded to

cause the death of the other four of the victims includin Laura Moreno

Ambrose Padilla,S Maria Moreno. and Gustavo Aguirre. If, ho ever, this

Court concludes that appellant did not intendto kill Laura More 0 and

l\tlaria :Moreno, but did intend to kill Gustavo Aguirre, a multiple murder

special circumstance finding could still arguably be predicated In the

intentional murders of the targeted victim, Moreno, and Aguirr4. However,

this does not mean the death judgment should necessarily be affirmed. The

circumstances presented are not analogous to cases wherein thi1 Court has
I

reversed superfluous multiple murder special circumstance finiings, but

the total number of intentional killings shown by the evidence r~mained the

same.

The essential holding ofBrown v. Sanders (2006) 546 U.S. 212 [163

L.Ed.2d 723, 126 S.C!. 884], is that "constitutional error only atises where

the jury could not have given aggravating weight to the same f~cts and

circumstances under some other sentencing factor." (United States v.

Mitchell (9th Cir. 2007) 502 F.3d 931,977.) In this case, multiJle murder

was the only death-eligibility factor. The jury's decision to imJose death

5 The jury did not count the death of Ambrose Padilla in finding true
the multiple murder special circumstance allegation.
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II

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARG.UMENT II: THE TRIAL
COURT ERRED BYDENYING APPELLANT'$

TIMELY REQlJ.EST TO DISCHARGE Rl'TAINED C9UNSEL.

, A. The Trial Court Applied The Wrong Standard. I

Respondent asserts that the trial court applied the correcJ legal

standard -that ofPeople v. Ortiz (1990) 51 Cal.3d 975 - in deting

appellant's motion to discharge retained counsel. ,Respondent sfates that the

record "plainly shows the court was cognizant of the criteria iddntified in

Ortiz and applied thos~ criteria correctly." ,(RB 91.) The recor~ speaks for

itself and supports a contrary conclusion.

Appellant's motion to discharge counselcited People v. 'tJarsden

(1970) 2Ca1.3d 1118, as authority. (8 SCT 1:1598.)6 The exp~esspurpose

of holding an in camera hearing was to afford appellant an oppprtunity to

express the grounds for his dissatisfaction with counsel - an inquiry that

Marsden, but not Ortiz, demands. (People v. Lara (2001) 86 Cf.APPAth

139,155.)' The court referred to the in camera proceeding as alMarsden

motion. (50-1 RT7554.) The court made findings, consistent rth the

Marsden standard; that trial counsel was competent, and that t~ere had not

been a breakdown of the attorney-client relationship to the extert that there

was an "actual conflict of interest" where appellant and Mr. Es6.ueda were

going to "kill each other." (50-1 RT 7553.) The judge deSCribr what he

was doing as denying "a Marsden motion." (50-1 RT 7554')lhe sealed

6 Given Guillen's lack of experi~nce,and Mr. Esqueda,llaCk of
involvement in drafting the motion, it cannot be said that eithet appellant,
Guillen, or~. Esqueda delibera~ely mi~charact~ri~ed the mot~on as a
Marsden motIon as a matter oftnal tactIcs, and tnvlted the error. (People v.
Lara (2001) 86 Ca1.AppAth 139, 164-195.)
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reporter's transcript of the in camera proceeding is even entitled·"Marsden

Hearing." The court clearly believed its ruling was governed by Marsden.

When a trial court utilizes. the wrong standard to decide on a motion to

discharge retained counsel, and therefore does not adequately address the

.issue of delay, reversal is automatic. (People v. Ortiz, supra, 51 Ca1.3d at p.

988; People v. Hernandez (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 101, 109.)

B. The Court Did Not Find That Granting The Motion
Would Prejudice Appellant Or Disrupt The Orderly
Processes Of Justice.

Respondent also argues that trial court made findings, supported by

the record; that the discharge of retained counsel would cause "significant

prejudice" to the appellant and/or "disruption of the orderly processes of

justice." (RB 92.)· No such findings were made. The trial court's reasons

for denying the motion included: (1) that the case had been pending for a

long period; (2) that substitution of a new attorney would entail a delay of

another six months at minimum; and (3) that the motion was "not the most

timely request." (50-1 RT 7548-7551.) The court also commented that the

witnesses were scared due to the nature of the case, and the longer thecase

went on, the more difficult it would be to get the case tried. (50-1 RT

7551.)

The trial judge certainly did not find that the delay would cause

significant prejudice to appellant. To the contrary, on December 12, 1997,

Judge Horan sympathized that appellant's trial lawyer was "spread pretty

thin ...." (50-1 RT 7543.) At the in camera hearing, the court also

conceded that appellant had expressed a number of valid concerns about

matters that had notyet been investigated. (50-1 RT 7552.) Yet trial
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counsel commenced appellant's death penalty tnal sevt?ral weeks later, on

January 5, 1998. Assuming Mr. Esqueda became unengaged fr1m his prior

trial, as predicted, on December 18, 1997, this would have allo"!ed counsel

a total of 19 calendar days or 11 business days, excluding Satur1ays, '

. Sundays, Christmas Day and New Year's Day, to "get up to spe€d" on ..

appellant's death penalty case. (51 RT 7602.) Under the circuJstances,

further delay would certainly not have prejudiced appellant.

. The court did express concern with the potential adverse fffects of a

six-month or more delay to allow new counsel to prepare. Howrver, the

court also indicated that "the timeliness of the whole thing" - referring to

the timeliness ofthe motion to discharge counsel - was "not theIfirst and

foremost consideration ...." (50-1 RT 7550.) Manifestly, the~udge's
paramount consideration in denying the motion was his belief-Ibased on

what he learned at the Marsden hearing - that Mr. Esqueda was furnishing

. adequate representation and that there did not exist an irreconci able

conflict between appellant and his lawyer. (50-1 RT 7553.) As previously

indicated, when an Ortiz motion is denied under such circumstarces

reversal is automatic. (People v. Hernandez, supra, 139 Ca1.APtAth at

p.l09.) . . I

Nor does the record support even an implied finding thatlreplacing

retained counsel would have disrupted the orderly processes ofjustice. The

motion was not made on the eve of trial, but rather, a full man, before the

scheduled trial date. There was no jury venire waitingto be sworn.

Witnesses had already been scheduled to appear or remain avai~able for a

trial commencing December 12"'. Nothing in the record sugge+ that it

would have been more inconvenient or frightening for particUI! witnesses

to appear for trial in Mayor June of 1998, rather than on the SCrdUled trial

28

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
'I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I!

date, which had to be continued several times more. "Blanket

generalizations about possible delay'; do not sufficeto show that disruption

ofthe orderly processes ofjustice would occur. (People v. Munoz (2006)

138 Ca1.AppAth 860,870; see also,In re Marriage ofGoellner (Colo. Ct.

App. 1989) 770 P.2d 1387, 1389 ["[AI court's interest in administrative

efficiency may not be given precedence over a party's right to due

process."].) .

c. The;M:otion Was Timely.

Respondent also argues that the trial court acted properly by denying

appellant's motionto discharge retained counsel because the motion was

untimely. (RB92:) Mere untimeliness that does not cause disruption to the

orderly processes ofjustice cannot be relied upon to justify the denial of

appellant's Ortiz motion. (People v. Ortiz, supra, 51 Ca1.3d at p. 988;

People v. Hernandez, supra, 139 Ca1.AppAth atp.109.) In addition,

however, respondent's lengthy recitation of the facts (RB80-89) skews the

picture by omitting important details which suggest that, considering the

circumstances, appellant's request to discharge Mr. Esqueda was as timely

as it possibly could have been.

Appellant was indicted in December of 1995. Mr. Esqueda was hired

in mid-February of 1996. Thereafter, appellant's case was postponed over

and over again. (AOB 65, fn. 22.) Respondent argues that the granting of

numerous prior continuances should have nO'bearing on the correctness of

the trial court's determination that the motion was untimely. (RB 94.)

Appellant disagrees. The prior delays do have relevance to the timeliness

issue. On January 16, 1997, nearly a year before the trial actually began,

Mr. Esqueda declared himself ready for a joint trial with codefendant

29



Torres. (8 RT 895.) However, the prosecutor belatedly decided to seek

consolidation of another case against appellant (BA109088) with the capital

murder case agaiust Torres and appellant. (CT I: 494.) Delays tnsued to

allow appellant's counsel in the second case - Joel Garson - to fl.ppose

consolidation. (CTl: 532;)6 RT 2290-2304; 26 RT 3863-387.) .

Consequent to consolidation, the trial of appellant's two unrelate

l

d cases

was severed from the capital murder trial of codefendant Torr~s" (26 RT

3884-3891.) This caused further delays because appellant had+be tried

. separately instead ofjointly with Mr. Torres. Continuances were

additionally necessary to allow appellant's counsel to seek distvery

related to the new charge. (26 RT 3888.) After numerous delays, on May

21, 1997, the prosecutor decided not to proceed against appell1t in the

unrelated case. (45 RT 7162-7166.) By then, of course, Mr. Torres had
.. I

already gone to triaL If the trialjudge was genuinely concerne4 about

inconveniencing witnesses and the possible deterrent effect of Jostponirtg

appellant's trial on the willingness of fearful witnesses to testiJ, the court

could have avoided nearly a year of delays by denying the prosJcutor's

tardy motion to consolidate. . I·

The events leading to the motion to discharge also belie respondent's

untimeliness argument. In August of 1997 - shortly before the Ioften

rescheduled trail date (CT 1:103-109A; sealed Marsden CT 16~4),
. I

appellant, worried about Esqueda's failure to investigate, finally took it

upon himself to hire an inexperienced law graduate, Isaac GUil len,7 to act as·

7 Criminal defense attorney Isaac Guillen, 48, of West <{ovina, was
recently charged by federal indictment with regularly transferrirg thousands
of dollars of funds to a Mexican ·Mafia member imprisoned at 1JEe federal
"Supermax" facility in Florence, Colorado. According to the intlictment,
from October 2003 until September 2008, Guillen transferred
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an inves.tigator on his behalf. On October 6, 1997, Mr. Esqueda appeared

on appellant's behalf and represented to the court that he wanted a court

order allowing his "investigator," Isaac Guillen, to visit appellant in jail.

The Court signed the order. (RT 7448; 8 SCT 1:1997.)

Guillen's pennission to visit appellant was short-lived. On October

8, 1997, Guillen tried to visit appellant pursuant to the court's order and
, '

was denied access: When he demanded to speak with a supervisor, he was'
,

arrested and charged with a violation of section 148 - charges which were

never pressed. (Sealed Marsden CT 1606.) A few days after his arrest,

Guillen complained about the incidentto a jail lieutenant. Guillen then

learned that Esqueda had been contacted by jail personnel to verify his

authority as Esqueda's investigator to visit appellant, and Esqueda had

denied that Guillen was his investigator and said deputies should go ahead

and arrest him. (Sealed Marsden CT 1606.)

On October 16, 1997, Mr. Esqueda filed a written motion seeking a

continuance of appellant's trial because he was engaged in another client's

death penalty jury trial. (8 SCT1: 1588-1591.) On October 17, 1997, Mr.

Esqueda failed to make a calendared appearance at the hearing of his

continuance motion. Appellant was not brought into the courtroom and had

no opportunity to address the court. The hearing on the 'continuance motion

was trailed to October 20; 1997. (8 SCT 1:1592.)

On October 20, 1997, attorney Richard Escalera made a special

appearance for Mr. Esqueda, who was absent. The court advised appellant

'approximately $27,500 into the Mexican Mafia member's prison account.
The indictment also alleges that Guillen and the imprisoned Mexican Mafia
Member are partners in several businesses, including a limousine service, a
liquor distributor, and a real estate holding corporation.
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that his attorney was engaged in a matter in another court, quip~ing,
"nothing we can do about that." (49 RT 7454.) Appellant was ,hen asked

to and did waive his rightto a speedy trial. (49 RT 7455.) on1ctober 20th

- in Mr. Esqueda's absence - the court also rescinded the Octo~er6, 1997, .

order appointing Guillen to act as appellant's investigator. (49 fT 7459.)

Thereafter, Guillen prepared the written motion to dischhrge counsel

filed by appellantin propria persona, file-stamped November 1~, 1997. (8

SeT 1:1595 et seq.) The court must have received notice that a~pellant
wanted to discharge counsel prior to November 17th

• In open cdurt on

November 17, 1997, the judge called the case and immediately lnnounced

that "Mr. Maciel made a request last week to discharge COmrSel/and have

the court appoint counsel to represent him at the trial." (49 RT 1466;

emphasis added.) The courtalso announced that Mr. Esqueda ~ad filed

another motion to continue. (49 RT 7466.) Appellant was aSk,d ifhe had

. yet had an opportunity to speak with Mr. Esqueda about his motion to

. discharge counsel. (49 RT 7466.) Appellant said yes, he had sJoken with

Mr. Esqueda the previous Friday and still wanted to discharge

7466.)

The court found good cause to continue the trial to Dece ber 12, .

1997; Mr. Esqueda was engaged in trial in another extremely stous felony

case involving the attempted murder ofapolice officer. (49 R17468,.

7470.) The court denied appellant's motion to discharge "with(j)ut

prejudice." (49 RT 7468, 7470.) Appellant was told he could 1enew his

motion to discharge Mr. Esqueda on December 12, 1997, at wh~ch time he

would be given an opportunity for an in camera hearing to presb[nt the

reasons for his dissatisfaction with counsel. (49 RT 7470.)

Appellant pressed the court for an immediate in camera earing of
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his complaints against counsel. (49 RT 7470-7471.) The court reiterated

thatappellant would be given an opportunity on December 12th for a

hearing, not sooner. (49 RT 7471.) When appellant continued to argue for

an ifumediate hearing, the court added that the request to discharge counsel

was being denied without prejudice because it was "untimely in the

extreme," because witnesses were reluctant to testifY and had repeatedly

.been inconve'nienced, and further because it would probably take another .

competent counsel at least six more months to prepare. (49 RT 7472-7474,

7476, 7549.)

Appellant then requested a hearing regarding why Guillen had been

arrested at the county jail. (49 RT 7478-7479.) The court refused to hold a

. hearing, suggesting that appellant ought to hire a "licensed investigator."

(49 RT 7480.) Appellant informed the court that Mr. Esqueda did not have

enough money to hire an investigator. (49 RT 7481.) The court asked

appellant - not Mr. Esqueda:- ifhe was asking the court to appoint an

inves~igator for him~ Appellant said no. (49 RT 7482.)

On December 12, 1997, the case was called for trial, butMr.

Esqueda was still engaged in trial in another courtroom. He expected to

complete the other trial by December 18,1997.(50-1 RT 7488-7489.)

During his brief appearance, counsel admitted "in all fairness to Mr.

Maciel" that he had not had much contact with his client because he had

been engaged in other trials almost continuously since September. (50-1

RT 7490.) Esqueda asked'the court for a continuance to December 29, as

"zero-of-thirty," so that he could "go back and review things and get up to

speed." (50-1 RT 7490.)

A Marsden-type hearing was then held during which appellant was

allowed to voice his complaints about Mr. Esqueda's handling ofthe case.
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(50-1 RT 7496.) After appellant complained that his attorney w: s

unprepared for his trial due to his engagement in other death pe alty trials,

Mr. Esqueda assured the court that he was intimately familiar w'th the facts

of the case, and that "alot ofthethings that [appellant is] reque,ting he's

entitled to get and he's hired Mr. Isaac Guillen to do a lot oftho~e things."

(50-1 RT 7544.) Considering Mr. Esqueda's role in facilitating pumen's

arrest, this glib reference to Guillen's ostensible investigative fupction

seems disingenuous. Even worse, Mr. Esqueda then proceeded to cast

doubt on Guillen's competency and credibility; he described hi4 as having

"an axe to grind with society," and "a chip on his shoulder," and said

Guillen had been misleading appellant about the need for investigation.

(50-1 RT 7545-7546.) .. .

In short, appellant's request to discharge 'Counsel was~ dilatory at

all. He moved for discharge -justifiably - only after his retain,d attorney

had repeatedly and continuously become engaged in trial insev~ral other

murder and capital cases for several months, leaving what appelred to be

inadequate time to investigate and prepare appellant's death pedalty case.

Appellant's evolving concern about trial counsel's lack ofPrep~redness is

evinced by his attempt to hire an unlicensed "investigator," i.e., Isaac

Guillen, in August 1997.8 The ultimate decision to discharge relained

I

8 Notably, ABA Guidelines provide that a defense team in a death
penalty case should consist of no fewer than two qualified attorbeys, an
inves~igatorand a mitigation specialist. (~A Guidelines for thf
Appomtment and Performance of Counsel m Death Penalty Ca~es

(Februa~ 20?3) [hereaft~r.ABAGUidelin~s],Guideline4.1., p.38.) The
ABA Gmdehnes were ongmally adopted m 1989. The Gmdeh~eswere
revised in February of2003. They articulate the "official positijon of the
ABA," and are intended to furnish clear benchmarks "for meas¥!,ing
whether ... lawyers are rendering effective assistance in individual cases...."
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counsel was made in October, shortly afterMr, Esqueda's counsel's role in

the arrest of Guillen became known, and the trial court unilaterally revoked

Guillen's investigator status following the incident at the jail. Appellant's

"repeated and detailed requests for a new attorney reflect[ed] a 'genuine

concern about the adequacy ofhis defense rather than any intent to delay. ,,,

(People v. Munoz, supra, 138 Cal.AppAth at p. 870, quoting People v.

Ortiz, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 987.)

Although these events occurred-in October, appellant had no

opportunity to request the discharge ofcounsel until mid-November, when

Guillen tendered for filing appellant's written motion to discharge. Then

the Court refusedto hold a hearing ofappellant's motion until December

12th, nearly a month later. A fair reading of the record suggests that the trial

court never seriously contemplated granting appellant's motion for

substitute counsel. By delaying and then denying the motion,. the court

myopically insisted on expeditiousness in the face ofappellant's justifiable

request for new counsel, and rendered his constitutionally guaranteed right

to counsel of choice an "empty formality." (People v. Ortiz, supra, at p.

984; quoting People v. Crovedi (1966) 65 Ca1.2d 199,207.)

D. The Same Standard Applies To Appellant's Paid
Attorney As To Attorneys Who Are Not Paid Or Who
Serve As Volunteers.

(Freedman, 'The Guiding Hand ofCounsel': ABA Guidelines for the
Appointment and Performance ofDefense Counsel in Death Pemilty Cases;
Introduction (2003).) 31 Hofstra L. Rev. 903, n. 1, n. 5.) Furthermore,
"ABA Guidelines are not aspirational. They embody the current consensus
about what is required to provide effective defense representation in capital
cases." (Guideline 1.1,2.)
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Respondent seeks to distinguish appellant's case from th

circumstances presented in Peaple v. Ortiz, supra, 5 ~ Ca1.3d at fP. 984-987,

and People v. Stevens (1984) 156 Cal.App3d 1119, III part becJuse those

cases dealt with motions to discharge unpaid or volunteer attorneys rather

than paid coun~el. :RB 95) This is a distinction without a difflen~. Mr.

Esqueda was hIred III February of 1996 for a flat fee Of$35,000l ThIS

unrealistically m~ager fee was supposed to cover his·legal fees lnd the costs

of a complex capital case investigation with six defendmJ.ts and Fve murder

victims. (Sealed Marsden CT 1602.) Aside from the fact that fixed fee

arrangements are considered improper in death penalty cases branse they

create "an unacceptable risk that counsel wi11limit the amount of time

. d' h .". d· ···h I hfi dlllveste III L e representatlOn III or er to maXImIze t e return on t "e lxe

fee" (ABA Guideline 9.1, B (2); Commentary,p. 54), the amoutt of the

retainer in this case was plainly insufficient to cover investigati e costs for

a capital trial (ABA Guideline 10.7; see also 2008 Supplement!

Guidelines for the Mitigation Function of Defense Teams in Death Penalty

Cases, Guideline 4.1; Freedman, Supplementary Guidelines for the

Mitigation Function ofDefense Teams in Death Penalty Cases (2008) 36

HofstraL. Rev. 663) as well as fees for the 2,000 or more attoJey hours

typically required to competently prepare and try the average dd1ath penalty

case. (ABA GUideline. 6.1, Workload, Commentary, p. 40.) Th,'s case,

moreover, was not "average." ""

In this case, the trial court denied appellant's motion to discharge

retained counsel, knowing the small fee Mr. Esqueda had receiJed as a

retainer, and knowing that appellant was attempting to make up for

counsel's evident shortcomings by hiring his own investigator and

attempting to manage his own investigation. By November 17, 1997, Mr.
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Esqueda was as much "reluctantly serving on a pro bono basis~' as Were the

attorneys in Ortiz and Stevens, and the court knew, or at least had good

reason to know it. (People v. Ortiz, supra, 51. Ca1.3d at pp. 984-987; RB

95.)

Far from. "patently meritless" (RB 95), some of appellant's

complaints aboutMr. Esqueda's failure to investigate were concededly

meritorious. In addition, both Mr.' Esqueda and the court acknowledged

that appellant's lawyer was overtaxed and had been engaged in back-to­

back trials, leaving little time to prepare appellant's multiple defendant and

multiple murder case. (50-1 RT 7490, 7506, 7522, 7525, 7543, 7552.)

E. The Denial Of Discovery Made It Impossible For
Appellant To Sustain the Burden, Improperly Imposed
Upon Him, To Prove Trial Counsel's Deficient
Performance.

Respondent argues that the identities of witnesses subject to the

court's nondisclosure order "were readily ascertainable prior to trial." (RB

95.) This is simply untrue. Respondent's speculation to the contrary is

.unsupported. Appellant knew the names of witnesses 14 and 15 prior to

trial. However, there is no evidence in the record establishing that appellant

knew the names of numerous other unidentified witnesses including

witnesses 1,2,3, 8, 11, 13, 16, and 17.

Appellant has adequately described the harm caused by the

withholding of witness identity information until the time of trial in

Argument IV ofthe AOB (AOB 109) and those arguments are incorporated

by reference herein and will not be reiterated at this point.
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that an investigator must have a particular "license" for this privilege to

. apply. Manifestly, any statements made by Guillen pertaining to

investigation he undertook on appellant's behalfand his conversations with"

appellant and trial counsel were protected by the attorney':'client privilege.

Respondent arguesthatthe court conducted ameaningful inquiry

into appellant's conflicts with retained counsel. (RB 97-98.) The transcript

ofthe court's in camera inquiry regarding the reasons for appellant's

dissatisfaction with trial counsel is 58 pages in length. (Sealed Marsden RT

7497-7554.)· Assuming a meaningful inquiry was undertaken, it merely

supports appellant's Argument II, A,. ante, that the trial court applied the

incorrect standard - that ofPeople v. Marsden, supra, 2 Cal.3d 118 ~

instead of the rule ofPeople v. Ortiz, supra, 1 Cal.3d 975.

More importantly, respondent ignores the fact that the purpose ofthe

in camera/hearing was to determine whether appellant was possibly being

denied the effective assistance ofcounsel, or whether there had been an

irremediable breakdown ofthe attorney-client relationship. Guillen had

furnished a declaration in support of appellant's motion to discharge

counsel, detailing his interactions with Mr. Esqueda. (Sealed CT 1604­

1607.) He was a material witness on these issues.

The trial court's inquiry did not satisfy the requirements offairness

and due process at all. It was completely one-sided. Mr. Esqueda was

permitted to make self-serving statements regarding his "zealous" advocacy

on appellant's behalf, to attribute unprofessional conduct to Guillen, and to

claim that further investigative steps were being pursued by Guillen at

appellant's or counsel's request. Appellant, on the other hand, was denied

any opportunity to present Guillen's testimony in rebuttal. (50-1 RT 7545­

7546.) The trial court's refusal to hear Guillen violated the settled rule that
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a defendant "is entitled to present evidence or argument on the atter of

substitute counsel, assuming he has clearly indicated that he wa I ts a
. . . I

substitute." (People v.. Nakahara (2003) 30 Ca1.4th 705, 718; see People v.
,. I

Mendoza (2000) 24 Ca1.4th 130, 157; People v. Lucky (1988) 45 Ca1.3d

259, 281, tn. 8.) This is because a 'judicial decision made withbut giving a

party an opportunity to present argument or evidence in support lof his.

contention 'is lacking in all the attributes of a judicial determinfon. '"

(People v. Marsden, supra, 2 Ca1.3d at p. 124, citing Spector v. Superior

Court (1961) 55 Ca1.2d 839,843.)

G. The Trial Court's Finding That There Had Been ~o
Irremediable Breakdown Of The Attorney-Client
Relationship Is Unsupported.

Respondent concludes based on trial counsel's promiset9 "do allthe

things that [appellant] requested," and to "work with Mr. GUille~ and do

whatever is necessary to prepare this case for trial," that the rec~rd does not

show an irremediable breakdown ofthe attorney-client r~lationship. (RE .

99.) . . I

The mere fact that the trial court held such a lengthy hearing focused

on trial counsel's conduct of the case and made MarSden-requir~ findings

supports appellant's Argument II, A, ante, that appellant is enti~led to

automatic reversal. (People v. Ortiz, supra, 51 Cal.3dat p. 988! People v.

Hernandez, supra, 139 Ca1.AppAth atp.109.) Even if, however, the quality

ofappellant's relationship to counsel is somehow relevant, the fcord

strongly suggests that Judge Horan never intended to appoint njw counsel

regardless ofwhat appellant said. When the trial court finally Held a belated

hearing on the motion to discharge, on the date previously set ftr trial,
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appellant's complaints were for the most part given short shrift. (AOB 73­

89.)

Appellant has adequately discussed the trial court's handling of each

ofappellant's specific complaints against counselin the AOB. (AOB 73­

89) Because this case so clearly falls within the parameters of the Ortiz

case rather than the Marsden case, it would not be fruitful to reiterate each

of those arguments here. Appellant had no burden to show that his attorney

was furnishing inadequate representation or that he and his attorney were .

embroiled in irreconcilable conflict. (People v. Ortiz, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p.

984.) To the extent appellant's, complaints raise the specter ,of ineffective

assistance ofcounsel, those· issues are more appropriately addressed in the

context of a petition for writ ofhabeas corpus, if and when habeas corpus

. counsel is appOinted. (People v. Pope (1979) 23 Ca1.3d 412,426.)

For purposes of appeal, it suffices to say that it would be difficult to

find a more compelling example of a complete breakdown in the attorney­

client relationship, particularly considering fact that appellant was on trial

for his life.

"[T]he attorney client relationship ... involves not just the
casual assistance of a member ofthe bar, but an intimate
process of consultation and planning which culminates in a
state of trust between the client and his attorney. This
particularly essential, of course, when the attorney is
defending the client's life or liberty."

(People v. Ortiz, supra, 51 Ca1.3d at p. 983; internal citation omitted.)

Mr. Esqueda seldom visited appellant, seldom stayed more than 15

minutes when he did, did not send any investigators or mental health

experts to visit appellant, and was often too busy with other cases to accept

his phone calls, or phone calls from appellant's family members. (50-1 RT
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7529, 7531, 7541; sealed CT 1600,1602, 1603.) Counsel dism'ssed

appellant's requests for more communication with counsel as u necessary

hand-holding. (50-1RT 7531 ["I have flat out told him myself, don't have

to go down to the jail and hold your hand once a week."].

ABA Guideline 10.5 recognizes that

Client contact must be ongoing. An occasional hurried
interview with the client will not reveal to counsel all th facts
needed to prepare for trial ....Similarly, a client will no~­
with good reason - trust a lawyer who visits only a few times
before trial, does not send or reply to correspondence in ~
timely manner, orrefuses to take telephone calls.

(ABA Guideline 10.5, Commentary,p. 70.)

As the time for trial drew near, counsel became engagedlfor months

in back-to-back trials, including another death penalty case, and a case

involving the shooting of a police officer. (50-1 RT 7490,.754l [10/16/97];
I •

8 SCT 1:1588-1591 [10/17/97]; 8 SCT 1:1592-1593 [10/20/97]]; 49 RT

7453 [11117/97]; 8 SeT 1:1594 A-D,1609; 49 RT 7466-7468.) !From

October 3 to November 7, 1997, counsel was engaged in anothfr death

penalty trial. (50-1 RT 7490.) On November 12, 1997, he was trying a case

involving the kidnap, rape, and attempted murder of a police otficer. (50-1

RT 7468.) On December 12, the date of Maciel's hearing, Esqteda was

still engaged in the attempted murder-kidnap-rape trial, and hOfing to be

free by December 18, 1997. (50-1 RT 7489.) Judge Horan agreed that

counsel was possibly overtaxed. (50-1 RT 7543; see, ABA GUi~eline 10.3,

p. 61 ["Counsel representing clients in death penalty cases sholld limit their

caselo.ads to the level needed to provide each client with high Jnality legal

representation in accordance with these Guidelines."].) I

Meanwhile, counsel had breached his promise to appell~nt to use
. .. . ' I
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part ofhis $35,000 fee to hire an investigator. When confronted by

appellant, counsel offered vague as~urances that he would complete any

necessary investigation in the 30 days prior to appellant's trial. (50-1 RT

7541.) Because Mr. Esqueda appeared disinterested in investigation, .

appellant felt it necessary to hire an investigator onhis own. (50-1 RT

7541.) Instead of hiring an experienced death penalty case investigator, he

hired Guillen, a law school graduate awaiting bar results who had done a

little investigation ina federal case for appellant's counsel. (49 RT 7449.)

Counsel abdicated any real responsibility for Guillen's investigation,

leaving appellant to direct him. Appellant sent Guillen to interview

witnesses and take photographs, and had him draft some motions. (50-1 RT

7546; sealed CT 1604-1607.) Appellant apparently felt it necessary to have

Guillen interview defense witnesses because Esqueda had been unable to

comply with court's order to provide discovery of defense witness

statements to prosecutors, having failed to have such interviews done. (8

RT 895-898; 47RT 7426; 49 RT 7474; 50-1 RT 7542; see, ABA Guideline·

10.7, Commentary, p. 78 [Counsel in a death penalty case has a "duty to

take seriously the possibility ofthe client's innocence, to scrutinize

carefully the quality ofthe state's case, and to investigate and re-investigate

all possible defense."].)

Counsel feigned cooperation with Guillen's investigation, even

asking for a court order to allow Mr. Guillen to visit appellant in jail. (50-1

RT 7544.) But when contacted by jail personnel to verify Mr. Guillen's

status, counsel denied any relationship and encouraged deputies to arrest

Guillen. (49RT 7479-7480; sealed CTI606.)

At the hearing on appellant's motion to discharge counsel, Mr.

Esqueda vilified Guillen, accusing him ofbeing "extremely difficult to

43



work with," as having "an axe to grind," and of misinforming a d

misleadingappellant about Mr. Esqueda's level ofpreparednes .1' (50-1 RT

.7544-7546.) Es ueda accused Guillen of causin roblems in is .

. relationship with appellant. (50-1 RT 7544-7546.) At the same time, when

confronted with appellant's specific complaints, counsel hypoc 'tically

asserted that· it was Guillen who was conducting any necessary 1 .

investigation. (50-I RT. 7503, 7544.) Mr. Esqueda even tried tt take credit

for the success of a mohon that Mr. GUIllen had drafted on hIS ~wn

initiative. (50.;.1 RT 7512, 7547; sealed CT 1605.) It was oventhelmingly .

obvious that counsel's statements were contradictory and unrelikble.

. To compel a defendant to go to trial with an attorney tha~ he .

mistrusts results is tantamount to forcing him to trial without cobpetent .

counsel. (Brown v. Craven (9th Cir. 1970) 424 F.2d 1166, 1170~ Hudson v.

Rushen (9th Cir. 1982) 686 F.2d 826,829.) When the relations~iPbetween
lawyer and client completely collapses, the refusal to SUbstitute±ew counsel

violates the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of c lunseL

(United States v. Moore (9th Cir. 1998) 159 F.2d 1154, 1158; Blown v.

Craven, supra, 424F.2dat 1170.) The record belies any possi~ility that
I

there existed "an intimate process of consultation and planning'f which had

"culminat[ed] in a state of trust" between appellant and Mr. Es~ueda..

(People v. Ortiz, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 983.) Contrary to the cdurt's

finding, Maciel's trust in counsel had been completely undermihed by
. . I

counsel's failure to hire an investigator, as promised, and his caJ~alier

inattention to appellant's legitimate concerns about the lack oft
comprehensive investigation appropriate to the gravity of capitfcharges.

(See, ABA Guidelines, supra, Guidelines 10.3 [Obligations of Counsel
I .

Respecting Workload], lOA [The Defense Team]; 10.5 [Relatidmship with
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the Client], 10.6 [AeJditional Obligations of Counsel Representing a Foreign

National], 10.7 [Investigation], 10.8 [Duty to Assert Legal Claims], 10.10.1

[Trial Preparation Overall], 10.10.2 [Voir Dire and Jury Selection], 10.11

[The Defense Case Concerning Penalty1.)

45



III

REPLY T.O RESPONDENT.'.S· ARGUMENT III: APPElL.ANT'S
CONSULAR RIGHTS CLAIM IS COGNIZABLE ON AP 'EAL AND

. THERE ARE EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES HAT
WARRANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.L

A. Appellant's Right To Assert His Consular Rights I as
Not Waived By Th.·e Failure Of Appellant To Raise T~e
Issue In The Trial Court. I .

Respondent argues that appellant's Vienna convention.+ Consular

R~lations [VCCR] claim is notcognizable on appeal because hcl failed to

voice an objection in the court below. (RB 110.) This argumeJt should be

~~~ . . l
After both the AOB and RB were filed in this case, the United States

Supreme Court decided Medellin v. Texas (2008) _ U.S. _1[128 S.Ct.
I

1346, 170 L.Ed.2d 190]. Importantly, Medellin affirms that the [Crs

decision in Case Concerning Avena'and Other Mexican Nationhls (Mexico
. I

v. U.S. 2004 I.C.J. 12 Iud . Of Mar. 31 hereafter Avena "constitutes an

international law obligation on the part of the United States." (Medellin v.

Texas, supra 128 S.Ct. at p.1356.) Medellin further assumes without
I

deciding that Article 36 oftheVCCR grants foreigu nationals 'j'an

individually enforceable right to request that their consular officers be

notified of their detention, and an accompanying right to be inf1rmed by

authorities ofthe availability of consular notification.'" (Id., at~. 1357, th.

. 4, quoting Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon (2006) 548 U.S. 331, 34t-343 [165

L.Ed.2d 557, 126 S.Ct. 2669].)

A detailed recitation of very complex procedural facts of Medellin is
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unnecessary to address respondent's assertion of waiver in this case.9 It

suffices to say that, in Medellin, the defendant "first raised his Vienna

Convention claim in his first application for state postconviction relief."

(Medellin v. Texas, supra, 128 S.Ct. at p.1354.) The Texas court held that
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the claim was procedurally defaulted according to Texas law because

Medellin h~d failed to raise his VCCR claim "at trial or on diredt review."

(Id., at p.1354.) The Supreme Court held that the ICJ's decisioJAvena did

not 4ave the force of federal law, and was not therefore sUfficieht to

overcome the state procedural· bar of Texas. The Court further ~eld that,

absent Congressional action, former President Bush's proclamation .

. directing states to give effect to the Avena decision did not inde1endently
I

require the states to provide review and reconsideration of the claims of the

51 Mexica~ Nationals named in Avena without regard to state plocedural

default rules.· I

. The Medellin decision furnishes no support for respondeht's waiver

argument. Unlike Medellin (see footnote 9), appellant raised hi~ VCCR

.claim in his first appeal of right under state law. Furthermore, ih California,

any arguable procedural bar is subject to a well-settled exceptiohs. (In re

Martinez (2009) 46 Ca1.4th 945 [hereafter, Martinez].) "For exlmple,
I

'where the factual basis for a claim was unknown to the [defendant] and he

had no reason to believe tbat the claim might be made, or wher1 the

[defendant] was unable to present his claim, the court will cons der the

merits of the claim if asserted as promptly as reasonably possib e.'" (In re

Martinez, supra, 46 Ca1.4th at p. 956, quoting In re Clark (199 ,) 5 Ca1.4th

750, 775.)

In this case, appellantpresented his VCCR claim "'as p omptlyas

reasonably possible.'" (Ibid.) Appellant has requested that this Court take

judicial notice.of all records in Avena, in which appellant was 0 e of the 51

named prevailing plaintiffs. The records of the IC] establish thlt (1) .

appellant was unaware ofhis right to the assistance of the Mex1an

Consulate, and (2) Mexico was unaware that appellant was inc stodyon
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capital charges until after the conviction and death verdicts in this case.

Under such circumstances, neither appellant nor the government of Mexico

can be deemed to have waived their rights under the VCCR by not raising

the issue at trial.

In Medellin, the ICJ's fact-finding underlying the Avena decision

was not challenged. In the absence of any indication that the ICJ'sfindings

offact were tainted by fraud or an· absence ofprocedural fairness, "the

judgment is primafacie evidence, at least, of the truth of the matter

adjudged." (Hilton v. Guyot (1985) 159 U.S. 113,206 [16 S.Ct. 139,40 .

L.Ed.95].) In other words, it has been adjudged that appellant had no

knowledge ofhis consular fights at the time of trial. "One can waive only

that of which he is aware and cannot waive that of which he is ignorant."

(People v. Connor (1969) 270 Cal.App.2d 630,634.) "(A] defendant

cannot waive, by failing to object, an unknown right ...." (UnitedStates v.

Mitchell (1st Cir. 1970) 432 F.2d 354,356; accord: Gladden v. Unsworth

(9th Cir. 1968) 396 F.2d 373,377.) A defendant "cannot waive what has

been concealed." (People v.Green (1995) 31 Cal.AppAth 1001,1017.)

hence, he cannot be deemed to have waived the issue.

Cases cited by respondentin support of finding a waiver do not

involve the waiver of rights conferred by the VCCR. People v. Williams

(1999) 20 Ca1.4th 119, 130 (RB 111) involves an attorney's failure to raise

specific grounds for suppressing evidence pursuant to section 1538.5.

People v. Michaels (2002) 28 Ca1.4th 486, 511 (RB 111) involves defense

counsel's. failure to challenge an alleged involuntary confession. People v.

Coffman and Marlow (2004) 34 Ca1.4th 1, 118 (RB 111), involves the

failure to object to prosecutorial comment on a defendant's post-arrest

silence. All of these instances involve a trial attorney's arguably strategic
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decision not to raise known legal or constitutional challenges to evidence or .

arguments during a trial.

Article 36 of the VCCR imposes three separate obligatiohs on

detaining auth~rities .to: "(1) inform the con.suMe ofa ~or~ign n~tional's

arrest or detentIOn wIthout delay, (2} forward cotnmUmcatIOns from a

detained national to the consulate without delay, and (3) inform1a detained

foreign national of 'hisrights' under Article 36 without delay." (Osagiede

. v. United States (7th Cir.2008) 543 F.3d399, 402; see also, Me 'ellin v.

. Texas, supra, 128 S.Ct. at p.1357, fn. 4.) A foreign national's attorney has

no authority to waive a foreign country's rights conferred by th] VCCR.

Even assuming a defendant could voluntarily relinquish known consular

. rights, a defendant's attorney should have no unilateral right to forfeit his
• I

client's important right to consular assistancewithout infOrntinf .the client

and obtaining his knowing consent. ·1

The consulate can do more than simply process passports,
transfer currency and help contact friends and family ba1k
home. The consulate can provide critical resources for lrgal
representation and case investigation. Indeed, the consulate
can conduct its own investigations, file amicus briefs an~
even intervene directly in a proceeding if it deems that 1

necessary. LEE, CONSlJLAR LAW AND PRACTICE, I 125­
88. Importantly, the consular officer may help a defendant in
"obtaining evidence or witnesses from the home countrylthat
the detainee's attorney may not know about or be able td

l
obtain." .

(Osagiede v. United States, supra, 543F.3d at p. 403.)

In a criminal case, it is for the accused to decide certain fundamental
. . I

matters, such as whether to plead guilty, whether to waive trialiY jury,

whether to waive counsel, and whether to waive the right to tejilY, or to be

free from self-incrimination. (In re Horton II (1991) 54 Ca1.3

1

82, 95.)
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. Rights guaranteed by the vceR should be treated accordingly.lO In this

case, the undisputedICJ record establishes appellant's lack of knowledge of

his consular rights until after the deathjudgment was imposed. Appellant

did not personally waive his right to consular assistance. Under

California's procedural default rules, he should not be deemed to have

waived the right merely because his attorney failed to object on this ground

in the trial court.

One recent decision of this Court undermines respondent's argument

that appellant has waived his right to assert the violation of VCCR rights by

the failure to assert the right in the trial court. In People v. Mendoza, supra,

·42 Cal.4th 686, the defendant did not raise the issue of denial of consular

assistance attrial, or even in a motion for new trial filed one day following .

.imposition of the death judgment. (Id., at pp. 710-711.) Afteftrial, the

. Mexican Coordinator General of Protection and Consular Matters wrote a

letter on behalf of the Mexican Consul, asking the trial court for

"clemency," based on the fact that the defendant had not been informed of

his right to consular assistance. (Ibid.) Addressing the merits of the VCCR

issue on direct appeal, this Court found that the record on appeal did not

reveal any prejudice as the result of the denial of consular assistance.

.Accordingly, the Court concluded that whether Mendoza could establish

prejudice based on facts outside the record was a matter for a habeas corpus

10 Ifcounsel's failure to objectto the denial of appellant's consular
rights is deemed a waiver of the right to raise the issue on appeal, then the
issue would be cognizable on habeas corpus as a claim ofineffective
assistance of counsel. (See, People v. Mendoza (2007) 42 Cal.4th 686, 711;
Osagiede v. United States, supra, 543 F3d at pp. 406-413; Breard v. Pruett
(4th Cir. 1998) 134 F.3d 615,619-620; Murphy v. Netherland (4th Cir. 1997)
116 FJd 97, 100-101.)
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petition. (Peoplev.Mendoza, supra, 42 Ca1.4th at p. 711.)"

Medellin urges states to interpretprocedural default rule: in a

manner which affords full effect and consideration to Article 36 VCCR

claims, whenever possible. (Medellin v. Texas, supra; 128 S.C!. at p. 1374.)

In California, appellate courts may exercise· discretion to disregArd··

procedural bars and address the merits to avoid a fundamental Jiscarriage

ofjustice. (In re Clark, supra,S Ca1.4th at p.759; see also, Peo lie v.

Michael (1984) 160 Cal.App.3d 1087, 1095.) Even if appellant failed to

assert the denial ofhis· right to consular assistance in the trial cOl' ,this

Court should abide by the Medellin decision and disregard any rtrguably

applicable state procedural bars in this case in order to give full effect to the .

nation's international treaty Obligations.

B. Even IfThe Claim Was Waived, This Court Should .
Address The VCCR Issue On The Merits For Policy l.nd
Diplomatic Reasons.. l
In Avena, the IC] held that domestic courts should not re y on

procedural default rules as a basis for declining to consider defdndants'

VCCR claims, and refusing to grant review and reconsideration of state

court judgments. President Bush proclaimed that the United States would

discharge its international obligations under the Avena jUdgmen~ by

'''having State courts give effect to the [ICl] decision in accordkce with

general principles of comity in cases filed by the 51 Mexican n Itionals

11 . Appellant asserts that, given his unique circumstancesr this Court
should provide an opportunity for investigation, discovery and an
evidentiary hearing to adjudicate prejudice on direct appeal, wi~out waiting
for the filing of a petition for writ ofhabeas corpus. (See, ArgJrnent III, C.)
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addressed in that decision.'" (Medellin v. Dretke (2005) 544 U.S. 660, 663

[125 S:Ct. 2088, 161 L.Ed.2d 982]; quoting from George W.Bush,

Memorandumfor the Attorney General (February 28, 2005),App. 2 to Brief

for United States as Amicus Curiae 9a. y2 Even if California cannot be

compelled to relinquish procedural waiver rules in order to comply with the

Avena ruling or the presidential proclamation, this does not mean that our

. domestic courts, in their wisdom, cannot choose to address the merits of

consular rights claims for public policy and diplomatic reasons.

After Medellin v. Texas, supra, 128 S.Ct. 1346, this Court clearly

retains authoritY to grant review and reconsideration pursuant to the Avena

decision. As Justice Stevens observed in his concurring opinion:

The cost to Texas of complying with Avena would be minimal
.... It is a cost that the State of Oklahoma unhesitatingly
assumed .... The Court's judgment does not foreclose
further appropriate action by the State of Texas.

(Medellin v. Texas, supra, 128 S.Ct. At p.1375, referring to Avena plaintiff

Osbaldo Torres; see, Torres v. Oklahoma (Oklahoma 2005) 120 P3d 1184,

11.87.)

Sound policy reasons favor affording review and reconsideration of

the judgment in this case. As Justice Stevens aptly stated:

[T]he costs of refusing to respect the ICI's judgment are
significant. The entire Court and the President agree that
breach will jeopardize the United States' "plainly compelling"
interests in "ensuring the reciprocal observance of the Vienna
Convention, protecting relations with foreign governments,
and demonstrating commitment to the role of international
law".... When the honor of the Nation is balanced against

12 The Amicus Curiae Brief and appendices for the U.S. in the
Medellin case are published online at 2004 U.S. Briefs 5928, 2005 U.S.
S.Ct. Briefs LEXIS 231 (February 28, 2005).

53



the modest cost of compliance, Texas would do well to ,I

recognize that there is more at stake than whether judgmfnts
ofthe,ICJ, arid the principled admonitions of the Preside t of
the United States, trump state procedural rules in the abs, nce
of implementing legislation.

(Medellin at p.1375.)

, Since the decision in Medellin, efforts to effect comPlianre with

Avena have continued at the highest levels of the state andfederl

government. During a recent hearing at the ICJ regardipg Mexij;o's

emergency request.for an interpret.ti.on.ofA~~na, the United Stttes assured

~he Court th~t" hav,m,g "fal~e~ s~ort" IIi Its I~ItIal efforts to ensurF

ImplementatIOn of the deCISIOn m the case, It was now "urgentl)/'

considering alternatives. ,,13

Moreover, On July 142008, legislation was introduced in the House

ofRepresentatives to implement the Avena decision by grantinJ the '

petitioners the 'right to judicial review and reconsideration of thtr

convictions and sentences in light of the VCCR violations. (set Avena

Case Implementation Act of2008, H.R. 6481 110th Congress(2h Sess.

2008); Http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-biniquery/z?cll 0:H.R.6481.) be bill was

referred to the House Committee on the Judiciary, but was neve~ voted upon

during the legisl.ativ.e session. Given the high national and intefat,ion,al

importance of the subject matter and a new presidential admini1tration, it is

probable that the bill will be reintroduced under a new number sometime in

the near future.

Most importantly, however, California is Mexico's next roor

13 See, ICJ, Request for Provisional Measures (Order of July 18,
2008),-r 36, available at <http://www.icj­
cji,org/docket/files/139/14639.pdt>.
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neighbor. Many California residents travel to Mexico for business,

.pleasure,. or to visit family members who are Mexican residents and .

citizens. California college students travel in droves across the border to .

relax, or take advantage ofMexico's more lax drinking rules and warm

weather, during spring and summer vacations. It is in California's best

interest for Mexico to afford reciprocal consular rights to Californians wh~

have the misfortuneto be arrested while traveling in Mexico. Accordingly,

even if the waiver doctrine were to apply, this Court would do well to avoid

. jeopardizing its own citizens and international relations by refusing to

address the merits of appellant's VCeR claim on procedural grounds.

C. This' Case Does Involve Exceptional Circumstances
That Warrant Remanding For An Evidentiary Hearing
On Appeal.

Appellant has requested a remand for an evidentiary hearing on

appeal. (AOB 95-108.) Respondent argues that this case does not involve

the kind of"extraordinary circumstances" that would justify remanding for

.an".evidentiary hearing on direct appeal. (RB 120.)

Appellant does not disagree with the general legal principles/stated

by respondent. The taking ofevidence by an appellate court pursuant to

Code of Civil Procedure section 909 and rule 8.252 of the Rules of Court

was not intended to ''transform reviewing courts into trial courts." (De

Angeles v. Roos Bros., Inc. (1966) 244 Ca1.App.2d 434,443.) Authority to

make findings of fact on appeal should be "used sparingly" or exercised

only in "exceptional circumstances." (Inre Zeth S. (2003) 31 Cal.4th 396,

405.) The courts will, however, take evidence and make factual

determinations on appeal when required by the "interests ofjustice," (In re
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Elise K. (1982) 33 Ca1.3d 138, 149), or when the interests of a arty

"clearly outweigh the competing interests served by the general ule

limiting appellate review to matters before the trial court." (Id..lat p. 150.)

Appellant respectfully submits that his interest in timely eview and

reconsideration of his VCCR claim is supported by exceptional I

circumstances. Appellant was indicted for the instant murders ih December

of 1995. His case did not go to trial until January of 1998. Cotelon

direct appeal was appointed on February 3, 2004, nearly six year after the.

May 8, 1998,.death j udgment. The IeJ filed its decision in the fvena case

shortly thereafter, on March 31, 2004. I

. Appellant is one of approximately 300 inmates on ealifobia's death·

row who still have no attorney appointed to handle their habeas corpus

proceedings in state court. (California Commission on the Fair

Administration ofJustice; Report and Recommendations on the

Administration ofthe DeathPenalty in California (June 30, 20 8), p. 23

[hereafter, Commission Report].) Once habeas cof]Ju.scounse11S appointed, .

it is very likely that it will be at least 36 months - 3 years - befre a petition

for habeas corpus is even filed. (Supreme Court Policies Rega ding Cases

Arising From Judgments ofDeath; Policy 3; 1-1.1 [as amended effective

November 30, 2005].) As ofJune 2008, there was an average e1ay of22

months between the filing of a habeas corpus petition andthis Gourt's
. I

decision on habeas corpus. (Commission Report, p. 24.) Even ifhabeas

counsel·were appointed tomorrow, there would very likely be n~
substantive review and reconsideration of appellant's VeCR cltm for

many years.

Justice delayed isjustice denied. In Thompson v. MCNeil (2009)

_.U.S. __ [173 L.Ed.2d 693, 129 S.Ct. 1299], the United States
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Supreme Court recently denied a petition for writ of certiorari seeking

review ofa death sentence after a 32-year delay in the execution of the

sentence. The defendant asserted that the Eighth Amendment's prohibition

against cruel and unusual punishments was violated by the delays, for which

the State was significantly responsible. While certiorari was denied in an

eight to one decision, Justice Stevens, in a concurring opinion, noted that

imposing the punishment of death after such a significant delay was so

totally without penological justification that it resulted in the gratuitous

infliction of suffering and unconstitutional cruelty. (Thompson v. McNeil,

supra, 129 S.Ct. at p. 1300.)

While the length ofpetitioner's confinement under sentence
of death is extraordinary, the concerns this case raises are not
unique. Clarence Allen Lackey had spent 17 years on death

. row when this Court reviewed his petition for certiorari.
Today, condemned inmates await execution for an average of
nearly 13 years. See Dept. OfJustice, Bureau of Justice
Statistics, Capital Punishment, 2007 (Table 11) (2008), online
at
http://www.ojp.usdoj.govlbjs/pub/htmllcp/2007/tables/cp07st
II.htm ... To my mind, this figure underscores the
fundamental inhumanity and unworkability of the death
penalty as it is administered in the United States..... Judicial
process takes time, but the error rate in capital cases illustrates
its necessity....

(Ibid., referring to the defendant in Lackey v. Texas (1995) 514 U.S. 1045

[115 S.Ct. 1421, 131 L.Ed.2d 304] (see, Stevens, J., respecting denial of

certiorari).} Ifthis Court denies appellant's request for a fact-finding

. hearing on direct appeal, appellant will have no opportunity to even raise,

much less adjudicate, the denial ofVCCR rights until more than fourteen

years have elapsed since the imposition of the death judgment.

Appellant's interests and the interests of the State of California as
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well as the United States are - as previously stated - are "'plainly

compelling.'" (Medellin v. Texas, supra, 128 S.Ct. at p.1375, c~ncur. op.,

Stevens, J.) The reciprocal observance of the Vienna ConventiJn is not

advanced by deferring compliance by the United States for mantmore

years. '(Ibid) Moreover, appellant should not have to wait fiv1 or more

years for an opportunity to show that he was prejudiced by the~enial of

consular rights under the VCCR. Yet that is clearly how long it will take

before the issue is addressed on habeas corpus.

D. Review And Reconsideration Should.Not Be Defe~red

Until The Filing Of A Petition For Writ Of Habeas
Corpus.

Respondent argues that review and reconsideration shou d be
Ideferred and conducted on habeas corpus. Respondent comparrs

appellant's case to In re Martinez, supra, 46 Ca1.4th 945. (RB 1122.) At the

time the RB was filed, the Martinez case was still pending befo~e this .

Court.

In Martinez, in briefing to address the possible effect of pnited

States Supreme Court's decision in Medellin v. Texas, supra, 1j8 S.Ct.

1346, the Attorney General asked that the defendant's second stte habeas

corpus petition raising the denial of consular rights (1) be proce1durally

barred, and/or (2) be denied on the merits due to the failure oflhe

defendant to state a prima facie basis for relief. (See, In re Omar Fuentes

Martinez, Snpreme Court Case No. S141480; July 16, 2008, le1er of '

Edmund G. Brown, Jr., California Attorney General, addressing the impact

ofMedellin v. Texas, supra, 128 S.Ct. 1346 on Martinez's VCdR claim.)

This Court held that, in light ofMedellin, supra, Martinez was recluded
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from renewing his Vienna Convention claim because he had previously

. . raised the issue and the Court had denied relief on the merits. (In re

Martinez, supra, 46 Ca1.4th at p. 950.) This Court also found that Martinez

had failed to demonstrate any change of circumstance or the applicability of

any exception to the procedural bar. bfsuccessiveness that would warrant

reconsideration ofhis claim. (Ibid.)

The Martinez decision does not lend any support to respondent's

argument that adjudication of appellant's VCCR claim should be deferred

for state habeas corpus proceedings. Appellant's plight is much different

from that ofMartinez. This Court's docket for the Martinez case shows

that counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Martinez on appeal and habeas

corpus on March 18, 1998. Martinez had his VCCR claim addressed on the

merits in a state habeas corpus petition filed in 2002. (In re Martinez,

supra, 46 Ca1.4th at p. 952.) In contrast, appellant still has no habeas

corpus counsel appointed despite the passage ofmore than 11 years since

his conviction and death judgment.

People v. Mendoza, supra, 42 Ca1.4th 686, was decided

approximately one month after the RB was filed in this case. Appellant

presumes that respondent might argue that Mendoza supports the assertion

that adjudication of appellant's VCCR claim should occur in habeas corpus

proceedings.. In Mendoza, the trial court gave the Mexican Consulate an

opportunity to address the court on the VCCR issue in support of a post­

trial motion for modification of the judgment. The Consulate requested

clemency, without identifying any·benefit the defendant would have

received had the consulate been properly notified. (Id., at p. 711.) This

Court rejected the defendant's VCCR claim on direct appeal, finding a lack

of any evidence ofprejudice. The Court indicated that whether "defendant
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benefit he would have otherwise received had the consulate been properly

notified," and that he "did not obtain that assistance from other sources."

(Id., at p. 711.) Because the standards for showing prejudice are different,.

there is no reason to await a habeas corpus proceeding to adjudicate

appellant's VCCR claim.

E. Appellant's VCCRClaim Should Not Be Rejected On
The Merits; Appellant Has Had No Opportunity To
Develop A FaCtual Basis To Support His Claim That The
Denial Of Consular Rights Caused Prejudice.

Respondent, addressing the merits of appellant's VCCR claim,

asserts that the claim of prejudice should be rejected on the merits. (RB

123.) First,respondent argues that appellant has no personal right to

enforce the ICI's order to provide review and reconsideration in state court.

The decisions of the United States Supreme Court in Medellin v. Texas,

supra, 128 S.Ct. 1346, and this Court's decision in In reMartinez, supra,

46 Ca1.4th 945, are contra. Medellin v. Texas, supra, 128 S.Ct. 1346, and In

reMartinez, supra, assume without deciding that Article 36 of the Vienna

Convention does confer individually enforceable rights. (Medellin at p.

1357, fn. 4; In re Martinez at p. 957.)

Furthermore, Medellin does not preclude this Court from granting

review and reconsideration to appellant and other Avena plaintiffs who are

on California's death row. Medellin only holds that the President, absent

congressional action, cannot not force a state to forego application of state

procedural default rules and grant review and reconsideration, particularly

where, as in Texas, the rules are codified by state statute. However, the

high court also suggests that Texas' decision not to grant review and

reconsideration on the merits is harmful and. risky to the bests interest of the
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United States. (Medellin at p. 1375, concurring opinion, Steven, J.) To

unreasonably delay meaningful consideration ofVCCR claims 's equally'

, harmful to the country's.di~loma~icand political interests. I..,
Respondent also lllvltes thIS Court to speculate that no p~eJudlce

could possibly be shown even if appellant were afforded an evi~entiary

hearing of his VCCR claim, after an opportunity for discovery, I

investigation and presentation of evidence. (RB 127.) Respond~nt argues,

inter alia, that it is "entirely speculative" whether consular assiJtance would

have resulted i~ discovery of significant exculpatory or rnitiga+g evidence.

(RB 127, fn. 127.) It is similarly asserted that, no matter what tre consulate

might have done, evidence of appellant's guilt was "compelling." (RB

127.) Respondent also suggests that, even if appellant had refuted to talk to

investigato,rs in reliance on the advice of the Mexican conSUlatd

I
', this was

buta small piece of an "evidentiary puzzle." (RB 127.)

Respondent misunderstands the burden ofproving "prej dice"
I

resulting from the violation ofVCCR rights. As previously stated, it is not

necessary to show that consular assistance would have produceh a different

outcome. (United States v. Rangel-Gonzales, supra, 617 F.2d Jt pp.532­

533; Torres v. Oklahoma, supra, 120 P.3d at pp.1186-1l87.) I foreign

national is prejudiced by the denial of consular assistance if (1) he or she

did not know ofhis right to contact consular officials: (2) he orshe would

have requested consular assistance had he known; and (3) such consultation

would have led to the appointment of counsel and!or assistanc in

developing a more favorable record to present to the court. (lbi~.; accord:

People v. Mendoza, supra, 42 Ca1.4th at p. 711.) , I,
I

Appellant has adequately addressed the important role tat the

consulate could have played in his casein his AOB. (AOB 96- 1 9.)
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Furthermore, contraryto respondent's assertion, appellant was not present

at the time of the killings and the admissible evidence of his knowing

complicity in the murders was far from compelling. (AOB 37-56.)

Appellant does not claim to have the evidence he needs to support his

VCCRprejudice claim at his fingertips. Rather, he asks this Court for the a

meaningful opportunity for review and reconsideration as conceived by the

ICl, which means h~ must be afforded the necessary tools to investigate and

present his showing ofprejudice to the fact finder.. He also urges this court

not to wait for the filing of a petition for writ ofhabeas corpus because it is

unlikely a habeas corpus petitionwill be filed on his behalf for years.

Extreme delays in the administration ofjustice violate due process. (United

States v. Antoine (9th Cir. 1990) 906 F.2d 1379, 1382.)

F. Respondent's Argument That Suppression Of
Appellant's Statements To Investigators Is Not Required
Under The VCCR Bespeaks A Misunderstanding Of
Appellant's Arguments On Appeal.

Respondent devotes nearly five pages to arguing that suppression of

appellant's statements to investigators is not required under the VCCR in

response to an argument appellant did notmake Appellant did not argue for

suppression of his statements asa remedy for violation of the VCCR.

(AOB 99, citing Sanchez.-Llamas v. Oregon, supra, 584 U.S. 331.) He

argued that many features ofappellant's case, including but not limited to

the fact that he waived his rights and spoke with' investigators, suggest that

the Mexican Consulate's involvement could have had a material effect on

the outcome ofhis proceedings. (AOB 97.) However, to show prejudice

resulting from the denial of consular assistance, one need not show a

material effect on the outcome of criminal proceedings - only that
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consultation with the Mexican consulate would have resulted i a more.

favorable record to present to the court. (United States v. Rang I-Gonzales, .

supra, 617 F.2d at pp. 529--533; Torres v. Oklahoma, supra, do P.3d at p.

1186; People v. Mendoza, 'Supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 711.) APpelldnt continues

to maintain, as he did in the AGB, that, if he were given an opp1rtunity for,

. discovery and investigation followed by an evidentiary hearing, he could

readily show that consultationwith the Mexican consulate rio to trial
.. . I

would have allowed him to present a much more effective and ~avorable

case to the jury, both at the guilt and penalty phases ofthe trial. I For this

reason, and reasons previously stated, the request for review and

reconsideration at a hearing pursuant to Code of Civil Procedur .section

909 and rule 8.252 should be granted.
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IV.

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT IV: THE TRIAL
COURT'S NONDISCLOSURE ORDERS VIOLATED

APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTSTOCOUNSEL,
CONFRONTATION, DUE PROCESS AND A RELIABLE DEATH

JUDGMENT.

A. Respondent's Statement Of Proceedings Below:

.Respondent asserts that "identities of those witnesses- many of

whom were fellow gang members referred to by their gang monikers in

police reports and grand jury transcripts - would have been readily apparent

to appellant and his counsel prior to trial, despite the nondisclosure orders."

(RB 129; underlined emphasis added; see also, RB 155-156.) This is

completely speculative and without support in the appellate record.

Furthermore, respondent overlooks one salient point. Even assuming

appellant's counsel was aware ofthe identities ofwitnesses, .appellant was

not.. Counsel was barred from disclosing any information to appellant that

could lead to appellant's discovery of the identity of any of the unidentified

witnesses. (1 RT 144-153, 149; 26 RT 3893-3896;1 CT 130.) The issue is

not just the overbroad withholding ofwitnesses, identities from counsel,·but

the permanent withholding of nearly all discovery from appellant over his

objection. (7 SCT 1:1379-1381; 2 CT 473-475; 3 RT 481, 495.)

Additionally, it is simply not true that the anonymous witnesses were

mostly "fellow gang members" whose identities would have been readily

apparent to appellant prior to trial. At least four witnesses, 1, 2, 3 and 9,

were so-called "stranger" witnesses to events surrounding the crimes.

Witness 16, the driver of the perpetrators' lookout vehicle, was a member of

the Sangra gang; he did not know appellant and appellant would have had

no means of knowing this witness's identifying information prior to trial.
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(57 RT 8888-8889,8928.) Witnesses 8, 11 and 13 were also cOjPlete

strangers to appellant. (55 RT861O-8616, 8625; 57 RT 8955.) J\ll gave

damaging testimonywhich helped to associate appellant with ruihless gang

members who were predisposed to kill. (55 RT 8610-8625; 57 ~T 8957'­

8966.) Appellant would have had no means ofdiscovering the ~ames,
addresses and other identifying information for these witnesses frior to

trial. Furthermore, addresses and all identifying information wete kept

from,thedefe,nS,e permanently, not just nntil trial. (I CT 185-18i; 2 RT

278-322; 3 RT 481.) I

As justification for the nondisclosure orders, respondent rovides a

long recitation ofevidence adduced at an in camera proceeding efore

Judge Dukes, pursuant to section 1054.7, at which neither appel ant or his

counsel were present or represented. The hearing took place on ovember

7, 1995, before appellant was ever indicted. (RB 130-134; Augmented .

Reporter's Transcript [ARll November 7, 1995: 54-91.) ReSpindent also·

recites evidence taken at another in camera hearing on March 1~, 1996, as

support for the permanent and sweeping nondisclosure orders inlthis ca,se.

(ART March 18, 1996: 186-277; RB 137-142.) By this time, apbellant had

been charged and was represented by counsel; however, both he land his

attorney were excluded. Consequently, tbere was no opportnni1 to respond

to, rebut or explain the allegations made by the officers who testffied at

those hearings. (Alvarado v. Superior Court (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1bl, 1149­

115Q.) Depriving appellant ofhis right to confront the witnesse~ against

him constituted a denial of the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of due
, I '

process. (Pointer v. Texas (1965) 380 U.S. 400, 405 [13 L.Ed.2, 923, 85

,S.Ct. 1065]; accord: Alvarado v. Superior Court, supra, 23 Cal. th at p.

1137.)
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Furthermore, in the AOB, appellant conceded for the sake of

argument that there was sufficient evidence adduced at these hearings to

justifythe taking of some measures to prevent harm to some of the material

witnesses in the case. (AOB 112.) But appellant vigorously challenges the

expansive scope and duration of the trial court's nondisclosure orders, not

the legitimacy of the court'sconcems about witness safety. (AOB 112.)

B. Appellant's Claim Of Error Regarding The'Operative
Nondisclosure Order Is Not Forfeited.

In a footnote; respondent suggests that appellant's right to challenge

the nondisclosure orderswas forfeited by counsel's failure to file a pretrial

petition for writ of mandamus to compel disclosure. (RE 150, fn. 75.) The

law is to the contrary. The filing ofa pretrial writ is not a prerequisite to

obtaining review on direct appeal of an order denying discovery. (People v.

Memro (1985) 38 Ca1.3d 658,675.)

Respondent argues that appellant forfeited the right to appeal this

issue because he failed to file a writtenjoinder ofthe codefendants'

discovery motions. (RB 149.) Defense counsel orally joined the motions

and objections advanced by codefendants at the March 29, 1996, hearing.

(2 RT 281.) It is true that Judge Stephen Czulegar told defense counsel that

a written joinder would be necessary. (2 RT 282.) A written joinder was

never filed, however.

Appellant can find no state or local rule or statute mandating that a

defendant ina criminal case file a written joinder of a discovery motion

and/or written objections to nondisclosure advanced by codefendants who
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are joined for tria:l. 14 A trial court may not impose rules for a pa icular

courtrooffi.or jurisdiction without complying with the procedure. prescribed

for the enactment of local court rules. (Code ofCiv. Proc., § 57 .1; Hall v.

Superior Court (2005) 133 Ca1.AppAth908, 915.) Furthermore, even
. . .. I

prOP~r1Y a~oPte~ l~cal court rules are only valid to the exte~t t~iY do ~ot

conflIct WIth eXlstmg law, the Rules of Court, and the constltutlG>nal nghts

of the defendant. (Hall v. Superior Court, supra, 133 Cal.APpJh at p.

917.) In this case, finding that appellant has forfeited the right to appeal the

nondisclosure orders because his attorney failed to obey the cou~t's

. directive to file a written joinder of the motion would elevate fotm over

substance, and contravene the funda~entalconstitutional rights Lthe right

to dne process, a fair trial, to confront and cross-examine witoetes, and to

the effective assistance of counsel- that are supposed to be advanced by

pretrial discovery. The failure to file a formal written joinder is therefore

not fatal to appellant's rightto review of the merits. (See, e.g., eople v.

Jackson (1996) 13 Ca1.4th 1164, 1220; see also, People v. cumTings

. (1993) 4 Ca1.4th 1233, 1285; People v. Vance (2006) 141 Ca1.AppAth

1104, 1112.) I

Respondent also argues that the right to challenge the no~disclosure
orders was forfeited by virtne ofdefense counsel's failure to pr+s for a

ruling on his own discovery motion, filed June 28, 1996 (2 CT 111-356), or

to seek modification of the operative scope of the March 29, 19?6,

nondisclosure order. (RB i49.) In essence, respondent argues tat the

order was tentative, not fmal, and subject to change, and counSjl never

requested any change. (RT 149-150.) Thefacts belie this noti0r; the

14 Los Angeles County criminal procedure rules require lotions to
continue to be in writing. (L.A. Super. Ct. Rules, rule 6.6(£1).)
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original nondisclosure order was not merely tentative, nor would any action

on defen~e counsel's part have convinced the trial court to·modify its initial

rulings.

On June 30, 1996, codefendant Logan's counsel filed a motion

objecting to and seeking reconsideration of Judge Czulegar'snondisclosure

orders, and other defense counsel joined in the motion. (8 SCT 1: 1379­

1381.) Judge Sarmiento, at a discovery hearing held on September 3, 1996,

deferred ruling on the motion, leaving it for determination by the judge who

had originally made the orders. (3 RT 481.)

Subsequently, appellant's case' was severed from the cases of the

other codefendants. The record on appeal does not reveal subsequent

discovery proceedings, if any, in codefendant Logan's case. IS In any event,

there is nothing in the record to suggest that Judge Czulegar's nondisclosure

orders were intended to be tentative, not final, as to appellant.

Furthermore, on March 6, 1997, the nondisclosure order as to

appellant was expanded by Judge Horan. At the district attorney's request,

the court ordered that appellant not be given any transcripts,policereports,

or anything generated in discovery, whether redacted or unredacted.

Additionally, the court ordered appellant to return transcripts in his

possession from which the names of witnesses had been redacted consistent

with earlier orders. (26 RT 3893-3895.) This put~ to rest any suggestion

.that the nondisclosure orders would have been modified to increase the

amount of identifying information that could be disclosed, had defense

counsel asked the court to reconsider.

Respondent, in arguing forfeiture, also disregards entirely the fact

15 During record correction, appellant's request for a copy of the
transcript of all of the codefendants' proceedings was denied.
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that appellant personally objected to the restrictions on disclosu e at a ..

hearing before Judge Horan, on November 17, 1997. On this d te,

appellant expressed dissatisfaction with his retained attorney ant demanded

to discharge him. (AOB, Argument II; Reply, Argument II, ante; 8 SCT 1:

1595-1608; 49 RT 7466;). One ofthe reasons appellant becamelldissatisfied

with counsel was the lack of ongoing consultation and commun cation

about his case. (8 SCT 1:1600.) Trial counsel explained to the ~ourt that he

stopped visiting appellant as frequently ashe did in the beginniJg because

of the court's nondisclosure order. (50-1 RT 7529;8 SCT 1:16JO.)

Appellant specifically objected to the nondisclosure orders and nsisted that

he would need to see transcripts and witness statements in orde to explain

to the court the shortcomings in trial counsel's preparation and

investigation. (49 RT 7477.) The court denied appellant's requ ,st to see

any of the requested material and indicated that defense counsel·- whom

appellant wanted to fire - could do this for appellant. (49 RT 7177,.7478.)

None of the cases cited in respondent's brief support a fi?ding that

appellant has forfeited his right to challenge the constitutionalit} of

nondisclosure order. People v. Prince (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1179~b34 (RB .

149), involves a defendant's complaint of denial access to infodnation in an

FBI database. This Court declined to consider the discovery is+e on

appeal, finding that the defendant's claim was dependent on evidence and

matters not reflected in the record on appeal.

....In contrast to the situati~n presented i~ the Prince case, tp~ellant's

claim IS not dependant on provmg that matenal or exculpatory eVIdence was

withheld. (Ibid.) As the United States Supreme Court eXPlain+in Smith v.

Illinois (1968) 390 U.S.129, 132 [19 L.Ed.2d 956, 88 S.Ct. 748f' a

defendant in appellant's position is not required to show that, had disclosure
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of witness information been permitted, cross-examination would have

brought out facts tending to discredit the witness' testimony in chief.

Rather, prejudice automatically ensues from the fact thatthe withholding of

witness information denies the defendant the opportunity to test the

credibility of witnesses by placingthem in their proper settings. (Accord:

Alfordv. United States (1931) 282 U.S. 687, 689 [75 L.Ed. 624, 51 S.Ct.

218]; Alvarado v. Superior Court, supra, 23 Cal.4th 112L)

People v. Holloway (2004) 33 Cal.4th 96, 133, and People v. Morris

(1991) 53 Cal.3d 152, 190, are cited by respondent for the general

proposition that a tentative pretrial evidentiary ruling on an in limine

motion, made before a court knows what the evidence will show, will not.

preserve the issue for appeal if the defendant could have, but did not, renew

. his objections in the context of the trial evidence itself. (RB 150.) The

issue at bench does not involve an evidentiary issue upon which the trial

judge made a preliminary pretrial ruling. Rather, appellant challenges a

multiplicity ofpretrial orders denying appellant and his attorney access to

identifYing information, including names and addresses, ofmaterial

witnesses, and denying appellant any opportunity to review redacted or

unredacted discovery documents furnished to counsel, such as police

reports and grand jury or trial transcripts. Some of the information,

including the prison assignment of witness 14, was withheld permanently

. from appellant and/or his counsel. (58 RT 9055.) For other witnesses,

names were ordered withheld until they testified at trial. (2 RT 289; 1 CT .

185-187.) Under the circumstances ofsuch a broad prohibition, it would

have been a meaningless exercise to ask the trial court to reconsider its

pretrial nondisclosure orders in the middle of trial.

In short, there was no forfeiture of the issue for purposes of this
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appeal.

c. The Nondisclosure Orders Violated Appellant'sSfxth
and Fourteenth Amendment rights. .

Respondent argues that Alvarado v. Superior Court, sUPla, 23 .

Cal.4th at pp.1128-1130, grants trial courts discretion to deny, rFstrict, or

defer disclosure of witness infonnation for good cause. (RB 151.)

Appellant does not dispute that courts have discretion in appro~riate cases

to restrict disclosure for good cause. Rather, appellant asserts tfat the

breadth and scope of the nondisclosure orders were not support~dby good

cause. He asserts- as he did in the AOB - that the orders violaJed .

appellant's Fourteenth Amendment due process rights, rights tl effective
. I

counsel and confrontation guaranteed by the Sixth AmendmentJ andthe

right to reliability. in the death judgment guaranteed by the Eigth

Amendment. (AOB 122-125.) .

Counsel was denied identifying infonnation regarding niaterial

prosecution witnesses until the witnesses actually testified at trill. The

credibility of many ofthe unidentified witnesses, inclnding wi4esses 8, 11,

13, 16, and 17, was crucial, not inconsequential, to the defense.j (See, e.g.,

Miller v. Superior Court (1979)99 Cal.App.3d 381,386; see, lOB 116-120

[discussing the significance of the testimony of witnesses at trill].) The
. I .

trial court's order in this case went farther than the trial court's lorder in

Alvarado, which sanctioned withholding infonnation regardinJ the names

and addresses of material witnesses until shortly before the witlesses were. . I'
called to testify at trial. (Alvarado v. Superior Court, supra, 231 Cal.4th at p.

1136, citing People v. Lopez (1963) 60 Cal.2d223, 246.) The ability of

defense counsel to investigate was hindered right up until man~ ofthe .
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witnesses testified, and announced their identities for the record. Counsel

was additionallyprevented from cross-examining witness 14 regarding his

present place of confinement, .information with obvious relevance and

probative value to prove that the witness had received a quid pro quo for

testifying - i.e., a transfer to a better prison. (58 RT9055; cf. Montez v.

Superior Court (1992) 5 Ca1.App.4th 763, 771 [nondisclosure of witnesses'

addresses was inconsequential.where the facts raised no issue of their

reputation in the corJ1ffiunity forveracity].)

Furthermore, it was not a sufficient remedy for the violation that,

once crucial witnesses appeared in court, appellant could theoretically

infonrt his attorney ofhis contacts with the witnesses and provide any other

information he might have. (Alvarado v. Superior Court, supra, 23 Ca1.4th

at pp. 1148-1149.) Without advance access to witnesses' names, a defense

attorney

"'will have difficulty obtaining complete information about
the witnesses' location and ability to observe and testify about
the crime[,]. .. [and] will be unable to [obtain] complete
impeaching information, such as the witnesses' reputation for
truthfulness or dishonesty, previous history and accuracy of.
providing information to law enforcement, and other motives
to fabricate, such as -revenge or reduction or dismissal of their
own charges.'"

(Alvarado v. Superior Court, supra, 23 Ca1.4th at p. 1149; internal citations

omitted;) As the United States observed in Smith v. Illinois, supra, 390

U.S. at p.131, to forbid out-of-court investigation of a material witness "is

.effectively to emasculate the right of cross-examination itselC'

Of equal or greater importance, appellant was deprived by virtue of

Judge Horan's order of any opportunity to have meaningful input into the

investigation and preparation ofhis own defense in a capital case. Initially,
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Mr. Esqueda was restricted from sharing infonnation with appellant thai

might result in appellant's discovery of the identities ofprosecution

witnesses. (2 RT 287.) sUbsequentl~,counsel was enjoined fr1m allowing

appellant to read any dIscovery matenals, eventhose documentl redacted to

conceal witnesses' identities~ (26 RT 3893-3895.) Appellant 10 t

confiden~e in counsel and tried to fire him due in part to counsJl' s

reluctance to communicate, which resulted from the stringent ntndisclosure
. I

order. (See, AOB, Argument II; Reply, Argument II, ante; 8 seT 1:1595-

1608; 49 RT 7466; 50-1 RT 7529.) As previously argued (see, kOB 122­

125), the orders not to communicate essentially stripped appelltt of the

crucial ability to assist in his own defense - much as ifhe were Irendered

incompetent. This effectively destroyed appellant's confidenc.e in his

attorney and functionally denied him the assistance of counsel t critical

stages of the proceedings. (AOB 122-124; United States v. Am ani (9th Cir.

1997) 111 F.3d 705, 711.)

In Alvarado, the prosecutioncould have employed other less

intrusive means of affording protection to witnesses about whom they had·

safety concerns, including the provision ofprotective surveill4ce and safe

housing, relocation if necessary, or transfer or protective cust01y of

witnesses in prison. (Alvarado v. Superior Court, supra, 23 C11.4th at pp.

1150-1151.) In Alvarado, this Court concluded that the Confrrntation and

Due Process Clauses were violated by orders permanently wit olding

witness infonnation from the defense. (Id., at pp. 1136-1149.) It should do

so in this case, too.
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D. Appellant's Right To Assert An Eighth Amendment
Violation Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited. /

Respondent asserts that appellant's right to· assert an Eighth

Amendment violation was forfeited by the failure to argue that specific

ground of error in the trial court. (RB 159.) This Court should rejectthis

argument and address the Eighth Amendment argument onthe merits.

Talismanic invocation of "magic words" is not necessary to preserve an

objection. (United States v. McCullah (10th Cir. 1996)87 F.3d 1136, 1139.) .

In a capital case,the "failure to say the 'magic words' should not result in

the affirmance of a death sentence which might otherwise not have been

imposed." (Ibid)

In People v. Partida (2005) 37 Ca1.4th 428, this Court addressed

whether an objection advanced under Evidence Code section 352 was

adequate to preserve error asserted on appeal as a due process violation.

This Court answered this question in the affirmative. (Id., at pp. 433-434.)

A specifically grounded objection in the trial court "serves to prevent

error." (Id., at p. 434.) "It allows the proponent of the evidence to lay

additional foundation, modify the offer ofproof, or take other steps

designed to minirnizethe prospect of reversal." (Ibid.) The requirement of

a specific objection "must be interpreted reasonably, not formalistically;"

nor should it "'exalt form over substance.'" (People v. Partida, supra, 37

Ca1.4th at p. 434; internal citation omitted.)

In this case, the defendants, including appellant, challenged the

nondisclosure order as violative of the Fourteenth Amendment's Due

Process Clause, and Sixth Amendment's guarantees of the right to effective

counsel and confrontation. (7 SCT 1:1375-1381; 2 RT 284-299.) The

purpose' ofthe Confrontation Clause is to "ensure reliability of evidence," ..
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· "by testing in the crucible of cross-examination." (Crawford v

Washington (2004) 541 U'.S. 36, 61 [124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.~d 177].)

The objections made were sufficient to alert the court ofthe esstntial nature

ofthe defendants' objection: that the adversarialprocess would pe rendered

unreliable by counsels' inability to investigate material witness1s prior to

trial. Defense counsel was forced by the court's order to litigate in the dark

as to crucial points for cross-examination. No useful purpose Jould be

served by declining to consider appellant's Eighth Amendment lhallenge,

which merely restates under alternative legal principles the idenrcal claim

that the judgment has been rendered unreliable. (People v. parlida, supra,

37 Cal.4th at p. 436.). I

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, and reasons pre1iously

articulated in the AOB, Argument IV, the nondisclosure orders reSUlted in

the violati~n of appellant's fe~era.l co.nstitutio.nal rights to due ~.lr~cess, to

confrontatIOn and to the effectIve aSSIstance of counsel, and de,nved the

death judgment of the heightened reliability that is demanded br the Eighth

Amendment.
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REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT V: THE TRIAL COURT
ERRED BYADMITTING THE REDACTED AUDIOTAPE OF

APPELLANT'S INTERVIEW WITH INVESTIGATORS.

Respondent contends that the audiotape of appellant's interview with

investigators (People's Exhibit 132) was properly received in evidence.

(RB 161.) Appellant disagrees.

A. Respondent's Summary Of The Proceedings Below:

The RB includes selective and potentially misleading quotations

from the transcription ofthe tape-recorded interviews of appellant, which

take certain statements out of context. Equally selective excerpts of the

proceedings are drawn from the motion to exclude or redact. This Court

should read both transcripts in their entirety, of course, since the transcripts

themselves furnish the most accurate record ofwhat was heard by the jury.

(See, Exhibit 132A; 8 SCT 1: 712-743; 59 RT 9265-9278; 60 RT 9311­

9313.)

B.The Audiotape Was Not Sufficiently Redacted To
Avoid Violation Of Appellant's Constitutional Rights.

Respondent discusses two cases that purportedly support the

argument that the accusatory statements of investigators during their

interview of appellant were properly in evidence before the jury. (RB 167­

169.) Each ofthese cases is distinguishable from the facts of appellant's

case.

In Dubria v. Smith (9th Cir. 2000) 224 F.3d 995, the defendant

admittedly knew the victim- a coworker at art Ohio hospital- and was with
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the victim when she died. The defendant told police that the victim had

collapsed in the bathroom and died shortly after he had c~nsellBll1sex with

her. Based on toxicological test results that showed the victim died of

. chloroform intoxication, the police theorized that the defendant ~cidentallY
killed the victim when he administered chloroform in order to r1pe her.

(Id, at p. 999.) When the defendant was confronted with the test results, he

stuck to his original story; he insisted he did not rape the victim and had

nothing to dowith her death. (Ibid) . . l
At the trial, an umedacted tape-recording ofthe defenda It'S

statements to police was introdnced to show that, when confronrd with the

toxicological test results, the defendant had failed to explain how a woman

he was continnonsly alone with for 24 honrs snddenly tnrned n~ dead from

chloro~orm intoxication. On appeal, the defendant argued that Ie .

recordmg should have been redacted to exclude comments and guestlOns by

officers expressing disbelief in the defendant's story, officers' 1PiniOns

regarding his guilt, and elaborations of the investigators' theorylofthe

crime. (Dubria v. Smith, supra, 224 F.3d at p. 1001.) The Nirttr Circuit

Court of Appeals agreed with the state appellate court that the irerview

was "'umemarkable,'" and that officers' questioning suggested Ino facts

beyond what the People intended to prove at trial. (Ibid) In fact, in

Dubria, the state did present evidence that the defendant work+ in a

hospital, where he had access to chloroform, and expert testiminy that the

victim had died from sudden inhalation of a small dose of chloloform. (Id,

at p. 999.)

In this case, in contrast, umedacted material included stitements

suggesting that unnamed persons had informed investigators 01appellant's

role in setting up the murders. (8 SCT 1:1682 ["Your name is IP there."]; 8
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SCT 1:1683 ["Well You're [sic] name is up there."]; 8 SCT 1:1685

["People aresaying that you set it up."]; 8 SCT 1: 1691 ["I'm not trying to

put anything on you that doesn't fit."].) Not a single witness at the trial

testified that appellant set up the murders. Furthermore, during the

interview, the investigators admonished appellant that his life was at risk

because other "people on the street" who knew what appellant had "been up

to" were "pissed off." (8 SCT 1:1694-1696.) In other words, appellant

might be killed by the Mafia because of his involvement in a crime that

resulted in the deaths of two children. (59 RT 9286.,9292.) Yet there was

no testimony by any witness that appellant was being threatened by

members of the Mexican Mafia or any other gangdue to his role in the·

murders.

The second case discussed by respondent is People v. Maury, supra,

30 Ca1.4th 342. (RB 169.) Maury does not even involve accusatory

statements by police during questioning. In Maury, the issue was whether

trial counsel was incompetent for failing to object to the introduction of

statements the defendant had made to various people, including a doctor

and the police. (Id., at p. 419.) This Court found that counsel could

reasonably have chosen not to object to the evidence because the

"statements were parts of interviews or conversations in which defendant

made admissions establishing consciousness of guilt or made false

statements as part of his attempt to evade detection and deceive police."

(Ibid.)· Appellant fails to see what this case's holding has to do with the

situation at bench, which presents entirely different circumstances.

Respondent argues that the trial court properly found that the entire

interview was relevant and admissible to prove appellant's membership in

the Mexican Mafia. (RB 169.) During the interview, appellant admitted
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, I'
that Raymond Shyrock [aka Huero Shy] was a good friend. (8 JCT 1:

1679.) He denied being an actual member of Erne, but acknowledged doing

occasional favors for the group, such as arranging for the paym ,nt of

lawyers. (8 SCT 1: 1675-1678.) However, the portions of the i terview that

contain arguable admissions pertaining to the Mafia do not incl de the

accusatory statements by investigators suggesting that the exist nce of other

witnesses to appellant's involvement in the murders. These acc satory

statements could easily have been redacted without impairing tlle probative

value of other portions of the interview. ' . '

In this case, the trial court also reasoned that the tape ani transcripts

were relevant and admissible because appellant had denied kn0ring "Scar,"

but there was evidence that "Scar" phone calls had been made from his

house to appellant's pager. (59 RT 9271-9272.) However, tho e portions

of the interview that were ostensibly relevapt to show appellant s denial of

any association with Sangra gang members could easily have b en redacted

to eliminate the harmful statements by investigators that others had told
, I

them appellant set up the murders. (See, 8 SCT 1:1682-1687 [A.ppellant

denied in-person acquaintance with "Scar," "Character," Jose 4rtiz, Danny

Logan, "Mateo," "Creeper," and "Primo."]; 8 SCT 1:1687-1681[Appellant

admitted knowing of "pn,·mo" and "Scar," and having spoken br' telephone,

with "Scar" once "a long time ago."].) ,

The trial court also found the interview relevant becauseb in the

court's opinion, appellant had come close to naming the real killers. (59 RT

9271.) Appellant did indicate that a "lot ofpeople" ... "in the ~treets"
knew who acted as middle man for the murders, but he refused Ito talk to the

investigators about why the victims had been killed, citing condem for the

safety of h~s children and his wife. (8 SCT I: 1698, 1700, 1702~)
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Respondent argues, without really explaining how, that the

accusatory statements of investigators were necessary to explain, or place

appellant's answers in context. (RE 170.) This makes no sense. Even

assuming for the sake. of argument that parts of the interview were relevant·

to show (1) that appellant was friendly with Raymond Shyrock and admitted

doing occasional errands for him (8 SCT 1: 1679); (2) that hetold police

that he was asked to be involved in the murders but refused to be involved

because he was friends with members ofthe Moreno family (RT 8 SCT 1:

1698, 1700, 1701); (3) that he knew but would not disclose the identity of

the person who acted as middle man to commit the murders (8 SCT 1: 1698,

1700, 1702); and (4) that he was deceptive about his acquaintanceship with

certain Sangra gang members (8 SCT 1:1685-1689), respondent has failed

to explain how officers' repeated accusations that unidentified persons had

told them appellant set up the murders were necessary to place appellant's

other statements in context. (RE 170.) Furthermore, respondent does not

articulate why it was necessary to expose the jury to the investigators'

warnings to appellant that he might not "come out of this thing alive"

because he has angered "people on the street" who "know what you've been

upto." (8 SCT 1:1695.) These accusatory statements had no purpose but to

suggest to the jury that appellant's life was in danger because he did set up

the murders.

Respondent also argues that the statements were admitted for

nonhearsay purpose, not for the truth ofthe matters asserted, and that the

jury was so instructed, ameliorating any possible harm. (RE 170-171.) The

court gave a curative admonition only once, when the evidence was first

admitted. (60 RT 9312.) It is unrealistic to expect a lay jury to ignore the

highly inflammatory· information that was imparted by investigators'
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accusations during questioning. (Hardnett v. Marshall (9th Cir. 1994) 25
. . I .

F.3d 875, 878-879; United States v. Gillespie (9th Cir. 1988) 852'F.2d475,

479.) Long ago~ in People v. Gibson (1976)56 Cal.App.3d 119[1. California

courts· acknowledged:

It is the essence of sophistry and lack of realism to think ~hat

an instruction or admonition to a jury to limit its conside~ation

of highly prejudicial evidence to its limited relevant pumose
can have any realistic effect. It is time that we face the
realism ofjury trials and recognize that jurors are mere
mortals.

(Id., at p. 130.) This is particularly true of gang-related evidence. Even

vague references to appell~fsviolent activities. on behalfor4 M~xican
Mafia was so extraordmarily mflammatory that It couldnot havb been

ignored by the jury. (People v. Albarran (2007) 149 Ca1.APP.4th 214, 227­

228,230.)

It is likewise the "essence of sophistry and lack of reali~m" to

presume (1) that appellant' s'jurors assessed the credibility of D~tectives

Davis and Laurie by the same yardstick they applied to other lat witnesses,

and (~) that detectives' asse.ssment ofthe eVid~nce - re~eal~d~~. accusatory

questIOns - would not be gIven undue weIght m assessmg mSIdIOus and

ambiguous evidence ofalleged gang activity in appellanfs tri~. (People v.
I

Gibson, supra, 56 Ca1.App.3rd at P.. 130;.se~ also, Groscup.& ~enrod,

Battle ofthe Standardsfor Experts zn Crlmznal Cases: Polzce v~.

PSYChOlOgistS. (2003) 33 Seton L. Rev.1l41, 1l48, fu. 32 (jur~ts rating

different witnesses from 50 trials ranked police as "most likeaJle,

understandable, believable and confident."]; see also, Linz & Plenrod, The

Use ofExperts in the Courtroom, Social Psychology (Prentice-Hall 1982).)

The harm was compounded in this case because the juJ was .

82

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
Ii

. furnished a copy of the transcription of the interview, containing

conspicuously redacted lines and pages in heavy black marker that would

have invited speculation regarding the nature of the information that was

redacted, regardless of the court's admonition not to speculate. (8 SCT 1:

1673-1704; seealso, 60RT 9308-9309, 9312.) It is well known that juries

may put undue emphasis on evidence when they are provided with

transcripts. (United States v. Hernandez (9th Cir. 1994) 27 F.3d 1403,

1408.) In addition, the tape-recorded interview was played again duringthe

penalty phase, without any limiting instruction. In fact, since a tape

recorder was sent into the jury room, it is impossible to know how many

times the recording of the interview was played without any guidance in the

form of a limiting instruction. (62 RT 9763.)

Respondent seeks to minimize the potential adverse impact·of

investigators' tape-recorded statements of opinion regarding appellant's

guilt of the murders and other crimes, pointing out that investigators

testified and did not render any opinions regarding appellant's guilt.

(RB 172; but see, 8 SeT 1: 1696 [opining that appellant would serve time in

prison for "all the shit" he had done]; 8 SCT 1: 1684-1685. [denying that

they were accusing appellant of doing anything he did not do]; 8 SCT 1:

1695 [intimating appellant would be killed by the Mafia for his role in the

killings].) An officer's statement of opinion regarding the guilt of an

accused is no less damaging because it is presented in written or recorded

form. (United States v. Harber (9th Cir. 1995) 53 F.3d 236 [copy of an

agent's report containing opinions was left in the jury room]; United States

v. Hernandez, supra, 27 F.3d at p.1408 [transcripts of an interview].)

Respondent further argues that no harm was done because the trial

prosecutor did notinfet the existence of extrajudicial evidence supporting
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appellant's guilt, nor did he rely on investigators' statements fori the truth of

the matter asserted at any point during the trial. (RB 171-172.) This

argument is utterly disingenuous. Far from de-emphasizin~ the ~etective's

accusatory questions, as respondent claims, the prosecutor, in clbsing

argument, replayed appellant's interview for the jury (62 RT 9713), and

underscored appellant's allegedly guilty pauses when he was cohfronted

with the accusatory statements ofDetective Laurie referring to '~peoPle on

the street" who knew what appellant was "up to." (62 RT 9756] 9760.)
I

c. Appellant Did Not Forfeit The Right To Assert A
Violation Of Otherwise Meritorious Federal
ConstitutionalRights. I

Respondent predictably argues that appellant forfeited t~e right to

press violations of his confrontation rights and the rights to duelprocess of

law and a reliable death judgment by failing to argue these particular

constitutional violations in the trial court. (RB173; referring to Iclaims of

error in violation of United States Constitution, Amendments "II, XIV and

VIII.) Instead, counsel argued for exclusion under Evidence Cbdesection
I

352, on the ground that the evidence was more prejudicial thanlprobative.

Objections advanced pursuant t~ Evidence Code ~ectionl352

generally suffice to preserve error predIcated on the demal of due process.

(People v. Partida, supra, 37 Cal.4th at pp. 433-434.) Furthelore, the'

purpose of the Confront~tionClause is to "ensure reliability of Ievidence," ..

. "by testing in the crucible of cross-examination." (Crawfordl'
Washington, supra, 541 U.S. at p. 61) and to "preclude a class if evidence

considered to be generally less reliable than in-person testimortr of events

observed by a testifying witness." (United States v. Hernande . (10th Cir.
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2003) 333 FedJd 1168, 1179~) In appellant's case, in violation ofthis

principle, unsworn, uncross':'examined testimony was presented as

substantive evidence. (Cf United States v. Carmichael (6th Cir. 2000) 232

F.3d 510, 521.) Hence, defense counsel's specific requests to redact

harmful accusatory statements that were clearly based on testimonial

hearsay collected from other persons allegedly interviewed by .

investigators 16 should be deemed adequate to have given the court and

prosecutor an opportunity to "prevent error" or to "take ... steps designed

to minimize the prospect of reversal." (Peoplev. Partida,. supra, 37 Ca1.4th

atp.434.) No useful purpose would be served were this Court to refuse to

consider appellant's Sixth and Eighth Amendment challenges. (People v.

Partida, supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p. 436.)

16 See, People v. Cage (2007) 40 Ca1.4th 965, 984 [defming
"testimonial" hearsay to include statements given or taken primarily for the
purpose ofestablishing facts for possible use in a criminal trial].
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VI

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT VI: THE rrRIAL
COURT ERRED BY OVERRULINGOBJECTION~TO

TESTIMONY BY THE PROSECUTION'S GANG ETERT.

A. Proceedings Below: .

Respondent apparently does· not dispute that appellant made

objections to the particular gang expert testimony discussed inlppellant's

ArgumentVI. (RE 177.) I

B. The Trial Court Erred By Overruling Appellant's
. . I
Objection When The Prosecutor Asked IfEven The Son
Of A Murder Victim Would Lie To Aid The Mexica I
Mafia.

The gang expert was allowed to testifY that even the son ofa murder

victimwould lie to aid the Mexican Mafia. The gist of appellamt's

objection was that commenting on the credibility of a witness jasnot a

proper subject for gang expert testimony.· (AOB 140.) The Objiction was

well taken. (United States v. Schriver (2"" eir. 2001) 255 F.3d.

c

f:t.5' 50;

People v. Smith (2003) 30 CaL4th 581, 627.) .

Respondent asserts that this claim of error is "moot" be rause no son

of a victim testified on appellant's behalf at the triaL· (RB 178.) Whether a

victim's son testified begsthe question. Appellant called numdrous

wi~esses, including relatives, to testify ~ his defense. Havin~lvaldemar
testIfy that even the son of a murder VIctIm would commIt peqtltry for the

benefit ofthe Mexican Mafia was the same, for all intents and ~urposes, as

having the expert testify that the testimony ofall defense witne~ses - even

relatives - should be viewed with distrust because ofappellan,'s alleged

Mexican Mafia connection. The testimony was no less prejudicial merely
. . . I
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because no son or daughter of a victim testified in appellant's defense at the

trial. Valdemar was allowed, under the guise of expert testimony, to brand

all defense witnesse~ as liars.

.When "expert" testimony amounts to improper opinion testimony on

witness credibility, federal courts have held that the trial process is

". constitutionally flawed. Mach v. Stewart (9th Cir. 1998) 137 F.3d 630, for

example, is a child abuse case in which a prospective juror relayed, based

on her "experience," that she had never known a child to lie about sexual

abuse. These "expert-like" statements, the Court held, violated the rights of

the defendant by "tainting the jury pool. It was equally error to admit

Valdemar's opinion testimony that almost anyone, even a victim's family

"member, would lie to protect the Mexican Mafia.

Respondent cites numerous cases, purportedly for the proposition

that experts may testifY regarding matters that affect a witness' credibility.

(RB 178-179.) InPeople v. Brown (2004) 33 Cal.4th 892, 906 (RB 178),

for example, expert testimony was admitted to explain why a victim of

domestic violence gave trial testimony inconsistent with statements she had

earlier given to police. Here, there was no recantation of testimony that

required explaining by the expert witness. Similarly, in People v. Gonzalez

(2005) 126 Cal.AppAth 1539, 1551 (RB 179), expert gang testimony was

" received to help explain why certain witnesses had repudiated their original

statements. Valdemar was not needed to help the jury decide whether or

not to credit a witness' trial testimony, or conversely, a prior inconsistent

statement. In United States v. "Mejia (2nd Cir. 2008) 545 F3d 179, the

Circuit Court appropriately observed that, although gang expert testimony is

useful, "its use must be limited to those issues where sociological

knowledge is appropriate." (ld., at p. 190.)
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.Respondent also refers to.cases which stand for the proporition that

evidence ofthreatsor fear is relevant to the assessment of a wit1ess'

credibility.. (RB. 1.78-179, referring to peo.'PIe v. Sapp (2003) 31 Ea1.4.th.

240,301; People v. Olguin (1994) 31 Ca1.4th 1355,1368-1369; r.eople v.

Guerr.a (2006) 37 CaL4th 1067, 1141.) Valdemar did not testif)j that threats

or fear had caused any particular witness to commit perjury on abpellant's
I

behalf, however, Whether or not appellant's family members oj other

defense witnesses would petjure themselves to protect appellantr or the

Mexican Mafia was something the average juror was well equipred to

assess; hence, expert testimony was improper and unnecessary,/(Snowden

v. Singletary (lIth Cir. 1998) 135 F.3d 732, 738 [error to admit expert to
. I .

opine that all child sex abuse victims tell the truth],) I

C.The Trial Court Erred By Overruling Appellant's
Objection To The Prosecutor's Question Regarding
Whether Newly-Indicted Mexican Mafia Members JOUld
Honor The Wishes Of A Sponsor.

Over objection, the court allowed Sgt. Valdemar to ans fr the

question, "What effect would that have on the way the new metber would

view, in your opinion, would view the wishes of his mentor an1 his sponsor

into Erne?" Valdemar answered that the new member would "pry great

attention" to the sponsor. (55 RT 8526-8527.) In ·other words, :appellant,

the new member, would do whatever Shyrock asked - even cOl~mit murder.

. Citing People v. Gonzalez (2006) 38 Ca1.4th 932, 945, rlspondent

asserts that this is just the type ofopinion that a court has discrJtion to

admit. Appellant begs to disagree. In Gonzalez, there were eyJwitnesses

who changed their testimony. The expert's testimony was dee~ed
.admissible to explain how gang intimidation was likely to havel caused the
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witnesses to recant.

Respondent's argument conveniently ignores crucial principles

which both California and federal courts recognize in evaluating expert

testimony. Gang experts are not allowed to usurp the role of the jury by, in

effect, telling jurors how to decide a case, particularly where liability rests

on proof of the intent of the alleged perpetrator. (People v. Killebrew

(2002) 103 Cal.AppAth 644; Mitchell v. Prunty (9th Cir. 1997) 107 F.3d.

1337.)

An increasingly thinning line separates the legitimate use of
an officer expert to translate esoteric terminology or to
explicate an organization's hierarchical structure from the
illegitimate and impermissible substitution of expert opinion
for factual evidence. If the officer expert strays beyond the
bounds ofappropriately "expert" matters, that officer
becomes, rather than a sociologist describing the inner

.workings of a closed' community, a chronicler of the recent
pastwhose pronouncements on elements of the charged
offense serve as shortcuts to proving guilt.

(United States v. Mejia, supra, 545 F.3d at p. 191.)

Valdemar's "opinion" testimony regarding appellant's alleged

behavior following induction by a sponsor improperly invited jurors to fmd

appellant guilty of a capital crime on the basis of his relationship to Shyrock.

In effect, Valdemar informed the jury that appellant must have beenth~

person who set up the murders of Moreno and/or Aguirre because had been

inducted into the Mexican Mafia by Shyrock, who wanted Moreno and

Aguirre killed. When experts come to court to simply "disgorge their factual

knowledge to the jury, the experts are no longer aiding the jury in its·

factfinding; they are instructing the jury on the existence of the facts needed

to satisfy the elements ofthe charged offense." (See, United States v. Mejia,

supra, 545 F.3d at p.191; accord: People v. Killebrew, supra, 103
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Ca1.AppAth atp. 658 [conviction reversed where gang expert effectively

testified, through the use ofhypothetical questions, that defend nts had

knowledge of the presence of guns found in gang members' car ].) This

type of gang expert opinion testimony is particularly prejudicial in light of

the enhanced credibility of law enforcement witnesses before j ors.

(Groscup & Penrod, supra, Battle ofthe Standards for Experts 1n Criminal

Cases;' Police vs. Psychologists, (2003)33 SetonL. Rev. atp.1148, fn. 32

[of different types of witnesses, jurors rated police as "most liklable, .

understandable, believable and confident."].) . 1
. Moreover, the appellate record contains no clue as to thel basis for

Valdemar's sweeping opinion regarding the conduct of Mexical Mafia

inductees and/or the proclivity of defense witnesses to lie on thJ Mafia's

behalf. Expert opinion based on hearsay and speculation is not lendered

admissible merely because it is delivered by a member of law eiforcement.
... I

(In re Jose T. (1991) 230 Ca1.App.3d 1455, 1462; In re Leland D. (1990)

223 Ca1.App.3d 251,259.) For example, in United States v. Lokbordozzi

(2"" Cir. 2007) 491 F.3d 61, a defendant was charged with loanlsharking,and

the government called an investigator to testify that the defendJnt was '"a

soldier in the Gambino crime family.'" (Id., at p. 72.) The inveltigator

testified that his knowledge of the defendant's status within the Gambino

family was based on conversations with cooperating witnesses and
. I

confidential informants. (Ibid.) The federal circuit court held tJhat the

testimony was erroneously admitted. (Id., at p. 74.) I

. Similarly, Valdemar's testimony that Mexican Mafia in1uctees would

execute the wishes of their "sponsors" was inadmissible becaur it was

based on speculation and inadmissible hearsay. Allowing an officer expert

to repeat information derived from hearsay without applying aJy expertise
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whatsoever simply allows the government to circumvent the constitutional

prohibitions and rules against testimonial hearsay. (United States v. Mejia,

supra, 545 F.3d at p. 197.)

D. Appellant's Constitutionally-Based Assignments Of
Error Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited By The Failure To
Object; Additionally, The Error Was Not Harmless.

Respondent asserts forfeiture of the right to challenge the improper

admission of the expert testimony on federal constitutional grounds. (RB

182.) There is no possibility that the trial judge would have ruled

differently had Mr. Esqueda articulated a string of constitutional objections

along with his objections to improper and speculative opinion testimony by

a gang expert. (People v. Partida, supra,. 37 Ca1.4th at p. 436.)

Furthermore, defense counsel's enumeration of numerous grounds for each

objection would have been futile and counterproductive to his client. .

(People v. Hill, supra, 17 Ca1.4th at p.821.) It would elevate form over

substance to refuse to address constitutional arguments on the merits due to

the failure to object. (People v. Partida, supra, at p. 434.)

Respondent also asserts that any error in admitting improper expert

testimony was harmless. (RB 182.) To the contrary, Valdemar's

completely improper "opinion" testimony - to the effect that appellant must .

have arranged the murders because he was Shyrock's recruit and that any

witness testifying to the contrary was probably lying to protect the Mexican

Mafia - went to the heart of the prosecution's theory of the case. In such

circumstances, "it is a little too convenient that the Government has found

an individual who is expert on precisely those facts that the Government

must prove to secure a guilty verdict ...." (United States v. Mejia, supra,
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545 F.3d atp. 191.) Valdemar did not just aid the jury's factfin1ing; he

instructed the jury on the existence offacts needed to satisfy the Ielements of

the chargedoffenses and special circumstance allegations. (Ibi1-) For

reasons previously articulated, this was error of constitutional dirension.

(AOB 142.) . I

. Furthermore, cumulative error requires reversal of the jufgment.

Individual errors that may not be so prejudicial as to deprive thel defendant

of a fair trial when considered alone may cumulatively produce a trial that is

fundamentally unfair.. (Mak v. Blodgett (9fu Cir. 1992)970 F.~+14622;

People v. Hzll, supra, 17 Ca1.4th at pp. 844-845.) When consld(tred III ltght

of all the other evidentiary errors in appellant' s trial, admission bf

Valdemar's opinions constituted prejudicial error.
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VII

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT VII: THE
PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT BY INTRODUCING

. STATEMENTS MADE BY RAYMOND SHYROCK DURING A
VIDEOTAPED MEXICAN MAFIA MEETING REGARDING

APPELLANT'S CRIMINAL ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE
GANG.

A. Proceedings Below:

Respondent's recitation of the proceedings appears geared toward

persuading this Court to deny consideration of the issue on the merits

because trial counsel did not "pursue a final ruling on the admissibility of

. the challenged statements." (RB 188-189.) The issue is adequately

preserved for appea1. 17 (See, Argument VII, C, post.)

B. Respondent's Statement·Of Legal Principles
Governing Prosecutorial Misconduct:

Appellant agrees with respondent that a prosecutor commits

.misconduct by using deceptive or reprehensible methods to attempt to

, . persuade the court or the jury. (RB 191.) Respondent's summary of the

law governing misconduct does not go far enough, however.

A prosecutor plays a dual role, "as the defendant's adversary and as a

guardian of the defendant's constitutional rights." (People v. Trevino

17 If it is not, then given the highly inflammatory character of the
information imparted - that appellant committed other prior violent crimes
for the Mexican Mafia - an ineffective assistance of counsel claim pursuant
to Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466 U.S. 668 [80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104
S.Ct. 2052], will certainly be cognizable on habeas corpus. Unfortunately,
resolution of counsel's ineffectiveness will have to await the appointment
ofhabeas corpus counsel and the filing ofa petition for a writ of habeas
corpus.
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(1985) 39 Ca1.3d 667,681; overruled on unrelated grounds in People v.

Willis (1989) 47 Ca1.3d 1194, 1219.) "Thus, the prosecution fs lbligated to

respect the. defendant's rightto a.fair and impartial trial in.com~liance wit.h

due process oflaw." (Ibid.; Berger v. United States (1935) 295Iu.s. 78, 88

[79L.Ed. 1314,1321,55 S.Ct. 629].) Consistently, it is miscontuct for a

prosecutor to violate a court ruling by eliciting or attem?ting toleliCit·

inadmissible evidence.in violation of a court order. (People v. <Crew (2003)

31 Ca1.4th 822,839; People v. Silva (2001) 25 Ca1.4th 345, 3731

; United

States v. Auch (1stCir. 1999) 187 F.3d 125, 129.)

In this case, the prosecutor introduced extremely inflammatory

statements suggesting that appellant had committed numerous 1iolent acts

on behalf of the Mexican Mafia in violation of a court ruling that the

evidence was inadmissible hearsay. It was both "deceptive" ank

"reprehensible" for the prosecutor to do so as well as a ViOlati1 of a court

ruling excluding the evidence as hearsay. . I

C. Appellant's Claim Of Prosecutorial Misconduct
Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited.

Respondent argues that, because Judge Sarmiento's rulilg was

tentative, not final, appellant waived the admissibility of the statements

about appellant's prior criminal activities for the gang by fai1in~ to object
I

again when the videotape was played for the jury. (RB 192.) '['he ruling

was not tentative.

The prosecutor did not have evidence available at the tithe of the in

limine hearing to prove to the court's ~atisfaction that Rayman! Shyrock

was unavailable as a witness. Proof of unavailability is a prereruisite to the

admissibility of statement as a declaration against penal interesf" (Evid.
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.Code, §·1230.) The first time thejudge inquired whether Shyrock was

unavailable,.the district attorney responded:

For the purpose ofhis proceeding I'd like the court to assume
he's unavailable. What I will do if necessary - heis a .
defendant in a RICO case supposed to start trial in this
District in October. He's in custody in the Metropolitan
Detention Center. ~ Clearly, he has a right not to testify. In
this case hehas a Fifth Amendment privilege. I have not
contactedhis attorney. But what I will do, because clearly I
have to show unavailability, is I will have his attorney fill out
a document indicating that ifhe was called to testify he would
take the Fifth. ~ In addition, the U.S. Attorney's office has
told me, although I'm just simply advising the court ofthis,
that they would oppose any motion to bring him over here
either as a witness or a defendant. ...

(3 RT 508-509, 513.)

At the September 3, 1996 hearing, defense counsel disputed

Shyrock's unavailability. Counsel indicated to the court that he would

subpoena and call Raymond Shyrock to the stand "if it gets to that issue."

(3 RT 514.) The court decided to proceed with the hearing and rule on all

issues except unavailability, as evidenced by this statement:

Hold on. What we can do is this: I will let you be heard on
the other arguments..As far as the unavailability issue, I can
make a ruling subject to whether or not he's available or not
so at least you can have a ruling so all sides will know how to
proceed on this issue.

(3RT 515,517.)

The judge ruled, but assumed for purposes of ruling that the district

attorney could make good on his promise to prove Shyrock'sunavailability.

(3 RT 517.) Defense objections to Shyrock's statements referring to "Dido"

as a Mexican Mafia dropout were overruled. (3 RT 517.) Counsel's

objections to the videotaped statements describing appellant's prior actions
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on behalfof the Mafia ~ such as "do'Yll[ing] a whole bunch of!f0ther

. fuckers" and taking "care of' the people responsible for killing kbaby -

were sustained. (RB 190,) . 1
. During the hearing, the district attorney even acknowled ' ed the

reasonableness of the court's concern about admitting Shyrock,l statements

implicating appellant in prior criminal conduct on the Mafia's +half. (3

RT 530.) He represented to the court that it would be his "inte~t to playa

portion of the videotape where Mr. Maciel is brought in, introdfced around,

and then later on comes in and embraces the people present ...,[, if

limitations on Shyrock's statements about appellant's doing business for the

Mafia were imposed.· (3 RT 531.)

The judge aI1.11ounced, the "hearsay objection is sustained." (3 RT

532-533.) The prosecutor asked whether the court was making a ruling as

to w~ether portiO~S of the Videot.ap~ ~~uld be Pla~ed. The cou1 respo~ded

that It was ~ot rulmg on the admIssIbIhty ofthe VIdeotape, but ras ruhng on

the proffered hearsay statements: "I don't think it meets the reqfirement of

being against the interest of the declarant, Mr. Shyrock." (3 R~ 533.)

Counsel would reasonably have understood from what transPir1d that the

court was excluding portions of the videotape depicting Shyrocf's

statements about appellan.t' splirported a.ctivities on behalfof tie Mexican

Mafia. .
. .

Respondent also argues that the issue was forfeited because the

videotape - including the material ruled inadmissible - was plated for the
I

jury twice without a contemporaneous a objection. Perhaps before the

videotape was played for the first time, counsel was unaware +t the

promised redactions had not been made. Even if, however, trial·counsel's
. I

failure to contemporaneously object was the result ofinattentiohor .
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inexcusable professional neglect,18 once the "cat was out of the bag," no

admonition would have cured the harm, The jury would already have heard

. Shyrock bragging, on videotape, about appellant's demonstrated

commitment to the Mexican Mafia through the commission of numerous

violent crimes, including, inferentially, murder. (People v. Albarran, supra,

149 Ca1.AppAth at p. 230 [despite limiting jury admonition, it was

prejudicial error to introduce expert testimony regarding Mexican Mafia

and other crimes committed by various gang members]; see also,. People v.

Hill, supra, 17 Ca1.4th at pp. 820, 843, fn. 8.) There was nothing the trial

court could have done to "unring the bell" sounded by the prosecutor's use

of inflammatory evidence excluded by priorjudicial order. (People v.

Alvarado (2006) 141 Ca1.AppAth 1577, 1586; see also, People v. Hogan

(1982) 31 Ca1.3d 815, 845-848; disapproved on another point in People v.

Cooper (1991)53 Ca1.3d 771, 836.)

. D. The Statements Were Not Admissible As Declarations·
Against Interest.

. Respondent argues that the statements by Shyrock implicating.

appellant in criminal conduct qualified as declarations against penal

interest. People v. Samuels (2005) 36 Ca1.4th 96, is cited in support of this

proposition. This case is clearly distinguishable because, in Samuels, the

statements·made by the hearsay declarant were not collateral to the charged

crime; they admitted complicity in the same murder for which the defendant

18 Whether trial counsel's conduct of the case fell below professional
norms, andresulted in prejudiceto appellant are more appropriately
considered in the context of a petition for writ ofhabeas corpus, where
relevant facts and circumstances not reflected in the record on appeal can be
brought to light. (People v. Rundle (2008) 43 Ca1.4th 76, 174.)
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was being tried. In addhion, the context inthe which statement were made

bore much greater indicia of reliability.

. In People v. Samuels, the defendant was convicted ofthejfirst degree

murders of her ex..;,husband, Robert Samuels, and James Bernstein. She was

also convicted of solicitation ofand conspiracy to commit the +ders of

both men. (Id., at p. 101.) The evidence generally establishedlhat the

defendant solicited James Bernstein to murder Samuels followi g the.. I
couple's divorce. Bernsteinagreed to do it, ~d solicited the hetp of

another man, Mike Silva. Thereafter, Silva and Bernstein murddred

Samuels. Bernstein became remorseful and decided to go to thJ police and

admit his role in the murder, Defendant solicited another man, fau) Gaul,

to kill Bernstein in order to stop him from going to the police, Thereafter;

Gaul and another man~ Darryl Edwards, killed Bernstein. I

On appeal, the defendant argued that the trial court imprfperlY

admitted hearsay statements made by the deceased James Bernsrein to a

prosecution witness with whom he had discussed his role in thelmurders.

Bernstein told witness David Navarro that he had committed th6 murder
. I

with Silva's help and that defendant had paid him. (People v. s'ramuels,

supra, 36 Ca1.4th at p. 120.) This Court held that the statement was

properly admitted as a declaration against penal interest. (Ibid.) The Court

distinguished the situation from circumstances presented in Perle v,

Lawley, supra, 27 Ca1.4th at pp.151-154, on the basis that Bernstein's

"facially incriminating comments were in no way exculpatory, kelf-serving,

or collateral:' (Ib iii) The court disagreed that Bernstein's statrent that

the defendant had paid him was collateral to the statement agaipst penal

interest, or an attempt to shift blame. (Ibid.)
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Shyrock's videotaped statements are more similar to the statements

excluded in the Lawley case than they are to the hearsay admitted in

Samuels..·In People v. Lawley, supra, 27 CaL4th 102, the defendant was

also convicted of murder, conspiracy to commit murder and solicitation of

murder. In defense, the defendant sought to prove that the murder was

committed by another man, Brian Seabourn,pursuallt to a contract issued by

the Aryan Brotherhood prison gang. The defendant' sfirst witness,. Monty

Ray Mullins, took the stand and testified that he had met Seaboum in prison

and had a conversation with him about "a homicide." When the prosecutor

objected on hearsay grounds, the court excused the jury and the defendant

made an offer ofproof thatSeaboum had told Mullins that he killed

someone in Modesto; that an innocent person was incarcerated for it, and

that the Aryan Brotherhood had directed him to coinmit the crime. (Id., at

pp. 151-152.) Mullins took "the Fifth" when asked by the court whether

Seaboum had identified the defendant as the innocent party by name. (Id.,

at p. 152.) Mullins told the courtthatSeaboum had not said he was

expecting money, or that he had received money for the killing from the

Aryan Brotherhood. Mullins believed there were drugs or money involved

in the transaction, but Seaboum did not identify who was paying him.

(Ibid~) The defendant in Lawley also made a proffer that David Hager

would testify that Seaboum had admitted killing the victim at the direction

ofthe Aryan Brotherhood.

The trial court ruled that Seaboum's statements to Mullins and Hager

that he had killed a man in Modesto were admissible as declarations against

interest, assuming the statements related to the killing of the victim in the

case (Stewart) and not some other killing. Seabourn's statements that he

was hired to kill the victim, and that he received $6,000 for the murder,

99



were also admissible as declarations against iriterest. .On the ot~er hand,

Seabourn's statement that the Aryan Brotherhood directed him tbkill the

victim was not admissible as against his penal interest. (People f. Lawley,

supra, 27 Ca1.4th at p. 152.)· I

On appeal, the defendant in Lawley argued that the trial Jourt abused

its discretion by excluding evidence that Seabourn had admitted killing the

victim at the direction ofthe Aryan Brotherhood, and that an i ocent

person had been charged with a crime. This Court described th declaration

against penal interest exception in the following terms: I

With respect to the penal interest exception, the propone1t of
evidence "must show that the declarant is unavailable, that the
declaration was against the declarant's penal interest wh~n
made and that the declaration was sufficiently reliable tol
warrant admission despite its hearsay character." .... A ~ourt

may not, applying this hearsay exception, find a declara~t's .
statement sufficiently reliable for admission "'solely because
it incorpora.tes an admission of criminal culpability. '" 0 Oil ° As
the high court reasoned in interpreting the analogous
exception to the federal hearsay rule "[t]he fact that a person
is making a broadly self-inculpatory confession does not/make
more credible the confession's non-self-inculpatory nature.
One of the most effective ways to lie is to mix falsehood with·
truth especially truth that seems particularly persuasive
because of its self-inculpatory nature." .... Whether a
statement is self-inculpatory or not can only bedeterminFd by
viewing the statement in context. ... ~ In view of these I

concerns, this court "long ago determined that 'the hear~ay

. exception should not apply to collateral assertions WithiJ'
declarations against penal interest.' [Citation.] ..."

(People v. Lawley, supra, 27 Cal.4th atp.153; citations omitte I')
The district attorney was the proponent of the hearsay in this case,

. I

and it was his burden to demonstrate that Shyrock's siatementslimPlicating .

appellant were against Shyrock's penal interest and sUfficientll reliable to
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warranttheir admission despite their hearsay character. Shyrock's

statements may arguably incorporate vague admissions of criminal

culpability (ibid.) in the sense that Shyrock was a Mexican Mafia member

at the tillie, and he clearly implied that his organization was condllcting

"business" of a criminal nature that included having people killed. The

statements were completely collateralto the Maxson Street murders,

however. Appellant was not being prosecuted for committing, or

conspiring to commit any ofthe criminal acts inferentially mentioned by

Shyrock at the April 2,1995, videotaped meeting.

More importantly, the statements about appellant were not so clearly

against Shyrock's penal interests as to render them reliable evidence in the

context of appellant's trial on completely unrelated capital charges. To the

contrary, as this Court observed in Lawley, Shyrock may well have been

mixing falsehood and exaggeration with truth, in order to persuade other

Mafia members of appellant's proven worthiness to join the gang.

In arguing that the statements qualify for admission as statements

against penal interest, respondent completely ignores a second problem.

The trial court in this case, after listening to the prosecutor's justifications

for admitting Shyrock's statements about Maciel, still questioned the

relevance of the evidence.

All right. Mr. Monaghan, I want you to give me your theory
ofrelevancy as to this. That's the biggestproblem I have. I
read your statement a number of times. I read your statement
of facts and tried to put myself in your position figure, how
you would use this at trial, and I'm having a great deal of
difficulty seeing how this is going to relevant.

(3 RT 526.) In People v. Samuels, supra, 36 Ca1.4th 96, in contrast, the

extrajudicial declarations of the deceased hit man were clearly relevant to
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prove the defendant's guilt of the two charged murders; In thil case, the

evidence was highly prejudicial, yet of little probative value to establish

appellant's role in the Maxson Street murders. (Evid. Code, § 52.)

E. Appellant's Failure To Request A Limiting Instr
.Should Not Be Deemed To Forfeit The Issue.

Because no limiting instruction was requested by defen e counsel,

respondent requests that this Court decline to rule on the meri, of

appellant's argument that the court erred by failing to give a limiting

instruction. (RB 196.) Appellant urges this Court to apply the Iexception to

the "no duty" rule, which applies when prior crimes eVidenceJecomes a

dominant part of the prosecutor's case, is highly prejudicial, aJd minimally

relevant for any legitimate purpose. (People v. Collie (1981) 3~ Ca1.3d 43,

63-64.) (See, AOB 150.)

F. This Court Should Address On The Merits The
Argument That The Court Erred And Compounded The
Prejudice By Failing To Instruct The Jury That Shy ock
Was An Accomplice Whose Statements Were Subje~tTo
The Rule Requiring Corroboration.

Respondent argues that appellant has forfeited review or the merits

of the claim that the jury that should have been instructed that Raymond

Shyrockwas an accomplice as a matter oflaw. (RBI98.) Altekatively,

respondent argues that appellant could not have been prejUdiC1d by the

absence of the instruction. (RB 20 L) J
. Respondent does not dispute that Raymond Shyrock war an

accomplice as a matter oflaw. The People's theory was that Shyrock
. I

recruited appellant to arrange for the murder of ~'Dido" Moren I • Five
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people were killed during the carrying out ofthe murder. (People v.

Sanders, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 534 ["'An accomplice is one who is subject

to prosecution for the identical offense charged against the defendant on

trial ...."'].) Nor does respondent dispute the general rule, which is that

courts have a sua sponte obligation to give accomplice instructions

whenever it is undisputed that the source of the evidence is an accomplice

as a matter oflaw. (People v. Najera (2008) 43 Ca1.4th 1132, 1136-1137.)

Respondent even agrees that appellant would have been entitled to a so­

called "pinpoint" instruction identifying Shyrock as an accomplice for

purposes of the accomplice rule, had such an instruction been requested.

(RB 198-199.)

Regarding the argument that the issue was forfeited by the failure to

request a "pinpoint" instruction identifying Shyrock as an accomplice for

purposes of the accomplice rule, it suffices to say that, when cumulated

with other errors, the absence of the instruction· affected appellant's

"substantial rights" and therefore should be addressed. (People v. Croy

(1985) 41Ca1.3d 1, 12, fn. 6.) .

The evidence establishing appellant's involvement as the instigator

was closely contested. Much of the evidence came from criminals of

dubious reputation and credibility, and appellant presented a creditable

affirmative defense. During the guilt phase, there was no evidence except

for Shyrock's hearsay declarations suggesting that appellant had committed

or arranged homicides for the Mafia prior to the Maxson Street murders.

Admission of the evidence was not harmless, and neither was admitting the

evidence without limiting instructions, and without even cautionary

instructions advising the jury that Shyrock was an accomplice whose

extrajudicial statements must be subjected to the corroboration requirement.
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G. Appellant's Meritorious Claims Of Federal
Constitutional Errors Should NotBe Deemed Forfeited.

I .

Respondent argues that appellant has forfeited the right '0 assert

errors under the state and federal constitution,s, except for the d~nial of due·

process, because he did not raise these claims below. (RE 201.1 The fact

raised in the trial court does not mean that this Court is obliged as a matter

of federal law from reaching constitutional questions. (Dun & 'Bradstreet v.

Greenmoss Builders (1984) 472 U.S. 749 [86 L.Ed.2d 593, IOd S.Ct. 2939;

Orr v. Orr (1979) 440 U.S. 268, 275, fu. 4 [59 L.Ed.2d 306, 99 S.Ct. 1102.)

In any event, this Court should reject this argument and rddress

appellant's other constitutionally-based arguments - impingemrnt upon

First, Sixth, and Eighth Amendment rights - on the merits. In 1eople v.

Partida, supra, 37 Ca1.4th 428, this Court held that an Objectiof advanced

under Evidence Code section 352 was adequate to preserve error asserted

on appeal as a due process violation. (ld., at p. 433-434.) AP+llant's

counsel argued for exclusion for prejudice under Evidence c01e section

352. (3 RT532.) The purpose of the Confrontation Clause is to "ensure

reliability of evidence," ... "by testing in the crucible of cross

examination." (Crawford v, Washington, supra, 541 U.S. at p. 61.) The

Eighth Amendment guarantees reliability of sentencing in death penalty

cases. (Satterwhite v. Texas (1988) 486 U.S. 249,262-263 p+ L.Ed.2d

387, 114 S.Ct. 455].) It would elevate form oyer substance to refuse to

. consider whether appellant was denied constitutional rights ofronfi'ontation

.. and reliab.ility in death sentencing when an objection predicater on the·Due

Process Clause was advanced. .
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More importantly~ defense counsel had no need to articulate other.

constitutional grounds for the exclusion of the evidence. The trial court

ruled inappeUant's favor that Shyrock's statements about appellant were

inadmissible. The prosecutor simply ignored a court ruling. to exclude the

.evidence. There is no reason to believe the prosecutor would have

presented an appropriately redacted videotape of the statements of

Raymond Shyrock, excluding the material ruled inadmissible, had other

constitutional bases for excluding the evidence been articulated by defense

counsel. Accordingly, no useful purpose would be served by declining to

consider appellant's First, Sixth and Eighth Amendment challenges, which

merely restate under alternative legal principles the appellant's claim that he

was denied a fair trial. (People v. Partida, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 436.)

In addition, the question of whether appellant's First Amendment

associational rights were violated (AOB 157-158) is a pure question of law

that can be addressed forthe first time on appeal on the undisputed facts.

(People v. Hines (1997) 15 Cal.4th 997, 1061; People v. Gutierrez (2003)

112 Cal.AppAth 1463, 1471.)

Respondent's assertion that there was no prejudice as a result of the

claimed constitutional errors (RB 201-202) should likewise be rejected.

Respondent asserts that the videotapes constituted but a relatively small

portion of the prosecution's case. (RB 202.) To the contrary, the videotape

evidence played a central role in proving the prosecutor's theory of the

case; appellant was a Mexican Mafia "hit man," and therefore,it must be

true that he arranged for the murder of "Dido" Moreno, a Mexican Mafia

dropout. The April 2, 1995, videotape was given heavy emphasis; it was

played twice by the prosecutor - once during the trial and again during guilt

phase closing argument to the jury. (62 RT 9651.) After the second guilt
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phase viewing, the prosecutor remarked, "It's chilling, isn't it]" (62 RT

. 9651.) During the penalty phase closing argument, the prosec. tor once

again referred to the videotape as proof that appellant had "ern! raced the

gang culture and gang lifestyle" (65 RT 10131); he argued that "the best

predictor of future violence is past violence." (65 RT 10130.) The record'

contains actual proof that jurors were filled with fear and trepidation as a

result of the implication that appellant was a Mafia "hit man." (63 RT 9813

[juror expressing fear of gang retribution]; 65 RT 10235 [jurorf requesting

escorts to their cars].) Under the circumstances, there is no cOlceivable

way that the error did not infect the guilt and penalty phase judrments. .

(See, AOB 154-158; Chapmanv. California (1967) 386 U.S. J18 [17

L.Ed.2d 705, 87 S.Ct. 824].) .

. Moreover, even if this particular error was not so preju icial as to

deprive appellant of a fair trial, when it is considered in cumniftion with

other errors, the result was to produce a trial that was fundamentally unfair.

(Mak v. Blodgett, supra, 970 F.2d at p. 622; People v. Hill, su~ a, 17

CaL4th at pp.844-845.)
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VIII

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT VIII: THE TRIAL
COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING STATEMENTS MADE BY
RAYMONDSHYROCK DURING A VIDEOTAPED MAFIA

MEETING REGARDING HIS PLAN TO KILL "DIDO."

A. Proceedings Below:

As previously set forth in the AOB, subject to the prosecutor's

ability to prove Raymond Shyrock's unavailability at the time of trial, Judge

Sarmiento ruled thatthe People could playa videotape of a surreptitiously

recorded meeting of the Mexican Mafia on January 4, 1995, at which

Shyrock talked about a Mexican Mafia dropout referred to as "Dido,"

whom he wanted to have killed. (8 SCT 1:1442-1443; People's Exhibits

118 and 119A; AOB 159; RB 203-206.) Shyrock's statements were

received as declarations against penal interest, and defense counsel's

objection that the evidence was more prejudicial than probative was

overruled. (3 RT 512-517.)

B. Shyrock'sStatements Were Not Admissible As
Declarations Against Interest And/Or As Coconspirator
Statements.

Respondent argues that Shyrock's statements were properly received

as declarations against penal interest. (Evid. Code, § 1230.) It is argued that

People v. Samuels, supra, 36 Ca1.4th at p. 96, is dispositive of the issue.

(RB 207.) The Samuels case - the same case discussed in Argument VII,

above l9
- is distinguishable from this case in several important respects.

19 As is previously discussed, in People v. Samuels, the defendant
• I .

was conVIcted of the first degree murders ofher ex-husband, Robert
Samuels, and James Bernstein, the contract killer who killed defendant's
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In Samuels, the hearsay declarant was the contract killer rired by the

defendant tokill het: husband. His conf~sidn td murdet: for hir9- a capital

cnme m CalIfornIa - was clearly dIsservmg to hIS own penal mterests smce

he had already committed the crime. (Id., atp. 121.) In additioh, the

statement thatthe defendant had paid him was hardly collateral to the issues

at the defendant's murder trial. (Ibid.)

In this case, the hearsay declarant was a third party who was not

prosecuted along with appellant and the eodefendants for Maxsrn Street

murders. Moreover, the January 4, 1995, meeting at which Shlock's

statements were made occurred a full three months before appellant was

even recruited as a member of the Mafia.

The statements do not qualify as declarations against interest .

because, when made, they would not have subjected Shyrock t1 criminal

liability. (Lilly v. Virginia, supra, 527 U.S. at pp. 130-139.) Ar this point,
I

no crime had yet been attempted or committed for which Shyrobk could

have been prosecuted.

"An attempt to commit a crime consists of two elementsI: a
specific intent to commit the crime, and a direct but
ineffectual act done toward its commission~" .

(People v. Wallace (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1032, 1077; citation omiled.) No act

had been perpetrated toward murdering Anthony Moreno - eVjn assuming

he was the same "Dido" referred to by Shyrock - when the statements were

made.

husband. (Id., at p: 101.) The deceased Bernsteinadmitted to ~ prosecution
witness that the defendant had paid him to murder the defendamt's husband.
(People v. Samuels, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 120.)
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Respondent is confusing the concepts of relevance and admissibility.

Even ifShyrock's statements at the January 4,1995, meeting were arguably

relevant to show Shyrock had a motive to kill someone named "Dido," and

even assuming Shyrock was referring to the same "Dido" who was killed on

April 22, 1995 (see AOB 160-161), this is not enoughto establish

admissibility. Lots of relevant evidence is by law inadmissible. Shyrock's

hearsay statements about "Dido," to be admissible, would still have to be

(1) against the hearsay declarant's penal interest at the.time.the statements

were made; and (2) sufficiently reliable to withstand scrutiny under the

federal Confrontation Clause. (Lilly v. Virginia, supra, 527 U.S. at pp.

130-139.) Shyrock's videotaped statements - that "Dido" was a dropout,

and that he had been living downstairs from Shyrock with a house full of

"youngsters" - were, at the time they were made, neither particularly

relia~le nor against his penal interest. It is not even clear that the statements

were based on first hand knowledge rather than reporting the statements of

others.

Respondent also argues that the statements were admissible as

coconspirator statements made in furtherance of the conspiracy. (RB 210.)

A conspiracy charge, it is said, is the "darling ofthe modem prosecutor's

nursery." (Harrison v. United States (2nd eir. 1925) 7 F.2d 259,263.) It is

easy to see why from this case. Respondent repeatedly argues that

inadmissible hearsay qualifies for admission under this exception no matter

how long before or after the Maxson Street murders the declarant made the

extrajudicial statement in question. (See, RB 210-211, 235-236, 249-252.)

Respondent suggests that appellant has forfeited the right to object

that the statements are inadmissible as coconspirator statements because he

failed to make that argument in the trial court and the trial court did not rely
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on the coconspirator exception. (RB 210.) RespondentignOre1 this

essential point. The evidence was hearsay. It was the proponent district

attorney's burden -,-not appellant's -,- to establish that a hearsay [exception

applied.

The proponent ofproffered testimony has the burden of I

establishing its relevance, and if the testimony is compri~ed of
hearsay, the foundational requirements for its admissibil'ty
under an exception to the hearsay rule~ ..

(People v. Morrison (2004) 34 Ca1.4th 698, 724.)

At the in limine hearing, the district attorney was direct!. asked by

the judge whenthe conspiracy began for purposes of admitting statements

of coconspirators under the hearsay rule, and he responded:

I think that objectively one could certainly argue that th .
conspiracy began when Mr. Maciel went to went to the
victim's residence on the day of the murders.

(3 RT 535.) The murders occurred on April 22, 1995, three mdnths after

Shyrock's statements about "Dido" were made.20 Respondent~s estopped
. I

. from arguing for the first time on appeal that the conspiracy to kill Moreno

. began at an earlier time. (People v. Moses (1990) 217 CaI.APJ3d 1245,

1252 ["It is elementary that a new theory cannot be raised on arpeal where,

20 In a footnote, respondent now asserts that for purposel ofthe
coconspirator exception tathe hearsay rule, the conspiracy to ~ill began on
January 4, 1995, when Shyrock discussed his plan to kill Moreho. It is
suggested that the prosecuting attorney was only representing tp the court
that appellant's participation in the conspiracy did not begin until April 22,
1995. (RB 211, fn. 211.) The court's question and the district httorney's
answer speak for themselves. Furthermore, this Court should disregard the
argument, made "perfunctorily in a footnote without developrJent," and
without any references to the record. (Oversea Construction vJ California
Occupational Safety & Health Appeals Bd. (2007) 147 Cal.Ap Ath 235,
249.)
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as here, the theory contemplates factual· situations the consequences of·

which are open to controversy and were not put in issue in the lower

court."].) Furthennore, because neither the prosecutor nor the court relied

on the coconspirator exception, appellant had no reason to argue this

exception did not apply.

Respondent cites People v. Williams, supra, 16 Ca1.4th 635, as .

authority for the proposition that Shyrock's statement qualified for

admission as a coconspirator's statement.(RE 211.) In Williams, however,

the hearsay statements were made by a jointly charged, separately tried

codefendant on the same day thatthe murders were committed. Moreover,

in that case, the defendants were in the process of carrying out the

objectives of their unlawful agreement at the time the statements were

made.

Respondent also cites Evidence Code section 1223 and People v.

Hinton (2006) 37 Ca1.4th839, for the proposition that Shyrock's statements

about "Dido" are admissible as coconspirator statements even though they

occurred long prior to appellant's involvement in the alleged conspiracy.

Respondent misunderstands the application of the rule to the facts of this

case. A statement offered against a lli!!!Yis not inadmissible by the hearsay

rule if made bya declarant while participating in a conspiracy to commit a

crime and in furtherance of the objective of that conspiracy. (Evid. Code, §

1223; People v. Hinton, supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p. 895.) Appellant is the

llilltr. Shyrockis the declarant. Respondent conceded that the conspiracy

began on April 22, 1995, more than three months after the statements about

"Dido" were made by Shyrock. It follows, ijJso facto, that Shyrock was not

yet participating in a conspiracy to commit murder at the time the

statements about "Dido" were made.

III



c. Shyrock's Statements Were More Prejudicial Th n
Probative. '. j
Respondent argues that the trial court correctly ruled tha the

videotaped statements about "Dido" were more probative than prejudicial.
. I

Appellant disagrees.. Given the highly inflammatory nature oftJre

statements, coupled with their dubious reliability, it should havi been

obvious to the trial court that their admission would risk infecting the
I

integrity of the trial proceedings with error. Shyrock's statements were

chilling. They bespoke a willingness on his part to murder soJeone named

"Dido" in cold blood ~erelY because he had dropped out ofth1 gang in

1983, twelve years earher.· I

. . To the extent the statements were relevant to prove Shy~ock;s and/or

the Mexican Mafia's motive to kill Anthony Moreno, the eVidehce was

cumulative of other evidence and completely unnecessary. AP~el1ant's
acquaintance and association with the Mexican Mafia were no~ in serious

dispute. (3 RT 532.) As respondent concedes (RB 209), Morerto'sstatus as

a Mexican Mafia dropout was established b~ numeroUS other +tnesses.

(55 RT 8528 [Valdemar]; 56 RT 8716 [DavIs]; 56 RT 8797 [witness 15].

Erne's motive to kill both Aguirre and Moreno was likewise eSFblished

through other evidence. The gang expert testified at length about the

Mafia's practice of killing dropouts like Moreno, and persons re Gustavo

Aguirre who robbed Mafia drug dealers and did not pay "taxesi' to the gang.

(55 RT 8512-8616.) Witness 15 also testified that Moreno and Aguirre

were likely Mafia targets. (56 RT 8741-8742, 8825, 8760, 8719-8800.)

Hence, the videotape's marginal probative value was far outwligh~dby its

obvious potential to inflame the jury.
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D. The Contention That The Trial Court Erred By
Failing To Instruct The Jury That Shyrock Was An
Accomplice As A Matter Of Law Was Not Forfeited And
Has·Merit.

Arguments VII and VIII ofthe AOE both allege the inadmissibility .

ofvideotaped statements ofRaymond Shyrock. Both arguments include

sub-arguments asserting error in the lack of an instruction advising thejury

that Shyrock was an accomplice as a matter of law. Respondent, in

. Argument VII, F, of the Respondent's Brief, addresses this issue. (RE 198.)

The response is reiterated again in Argument VIII, D. (RB 213.) Since

appellant has adequately replied to the argument in Argument VII, D, ofthe .

Reply, that same argument is merely incorporated by reference at this point.

E. Appellant's Should Not Be Deemed To Have Forfeited
Meritorious Claims That His Federal Constitutional
Rights Were Violated.

In Argument VIII, E, of the Respondent's Brief, the Attorney

General argues that appellant has forfeited constitutional claims rooted in

the state and federal Confrontation Clauses, and prohibitions against cruel

and unusual punishment that guarantee reliability ofdeath judgments. (RB

215.) This argument is essentially the same as the argument advanced in

Argument VII, G, of the Reply, regarding forfeiture ofthe right to challenge

the admission ofRaymond Shyrock's statements about appellant. (RB

201.) Since appellant has adequatelyreplied to this argument in Argument

VII, G, of the Reply, the argument is merely incorporated by reference as

though set forth in full herein.

Respondent also argues that the error, if any, was harmless. (RB

215.) This argument, too, should be rejected. Respondent asserts that the
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videotapes constituted but "one piece of a compelling evidentiarpuzzle."

(RE 216) To the contrary, the videotape evidence ~ including feoPle's

Exhibit 118 and ·119 - played a central role in proving theproS1cutor,s

theory ofthe case -that appellant was recruited ;;'to the,gang tree months

after the January 4, 1995, meeting for the express purpose of c rrying out

. the murder of "Dido" Moreno. The videotapes were played m~lre than once

~nd the jury had the opportunity to play the video recordings a ain in the

JUry room. (55 RT 8555; 62 RT 9651, 9763, 9651.) The pros ,cutor

exploited the gang "hit man" theme in his guilt and penalty Ph$e closing

arguments:. . I .

. You have seen and heard almost first hand the p Iwer
of the Mafia in state prison to cause the death of other
inmates; ....

You have seen the power of the Mafia in our
community to cause those brutal killings that took place, five
people in one room at one time that was brought about By the

.Mexican Mafia. . I

I'm going to play for you both videotapes, the Jar·uary
4th tape which is about two minutes long, and the April .. 2nd

meeting which is about 25 minutes to a half hour long.
The January 4th establishes the motive.....

(62 RT 9650-9651.)

I submit to you that when Luis Maciel embraced the
gang culture and gang lifestyle the way we all saw him I

embrace the Erne on the video, he, himself, when he did that,
he, himself chose the death sentence.

(62 RT 10131; emphasis added.)

The record contains actual proof that jurors were terrified as a result
• I

of the videotape recordings, relied upon to suggest appellant ,as a "hit

man," acting to advance the interests ofthe Mexican Mafia. (13 RT 9813

[juror expressing fear of gang retribution]; 65 RT 10235 [juroJr11s requesting
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escorts to their cars].) Regardless of the standard of review applied, there is

no conceivable way that the error did not infect the integrity of the guilt and

penalty phase judgments. (AOB 154-158; People v. Watson (1956) 46

Cal.2d 818; Chapman v. California, supra, 386 U.S. 18.)

In addition, the right of confrontation and cross-examination is an

essential and fundamental requirement for a fair trial. (Pointer v. Texas,

supra, 380 U.S. at p. 405.) The Confrontation Clause reflects a preference

for face-to-face confrontation at trial- a right secured by the opportunity to

cross-examine. (Douglas v. Alabama (1965) 380 U.S. 415 [13 LEd.2d 934,

85 S.Ct. 1074]; Mattox v. United States (1895) 156 U.S. 237,242-243 [39

LEd. 409, 15 S.Ct. 337].) Appellanthad no opportunity to cross-examine

Shyrock at his trial. '"Without this important means of testing the accuracy of

Shyrock's statements, the ultimate integrity ofthe factfinding process was

undermined. (Chambers v. Mississippi (1973) 410 U.S. 314, 315 [35

LEd.2d 297,93 S.Ct. 1038].)

Furthermore,even if this single error was not so prejudicial as to

deprive appellant of a fair trial, when the error is considered in cumulation

with other errors, the result was to produce a trial that was fundamentally

unfair. (Mak v. Blodgett, supra, 970 F.2d at p. 622; People v. Hill, supra, 17

Cal.4th atpp" 844-845.)
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IX

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT IX: THE TRIAL
COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING STATEMENTS BY USTAVO

AGUIRRE THAT THE MAFIA WAS GOING TO CO E AND
. THERE WAS GOING TO BE TROUBLE.

A. Proceedings Below:

From respondent's summary ofproceedings, itappears that

respondent does not quarrel with the trial court's ruling that the testimony

ofwitnesses 8 and 11 (inwhich they recounted Aguirre's pre-offense

statements to them about his fear that the Mafia was coming tojdo him

harm) was hearsay, and inadmissible for the truth of the facts sated. (RB

217-222.) Respondent accurately observes that the court admo ished the

jury not to consider these hearsay statements by a victim for th truth of the

. matters asserted. However, for reasons more fully addressed i argument

IX, C, of the AOB and below, the instruction was inadequate t cure the

prejudice.

B. Aguirre's Hearsay Statements Were Not Admissi Ie As
Contemporaneous Statements To Explain Aguirre's tate
Of Mind.

Respondent argues that Aguirre's hearsay statements, i which he

predicted a visit by the Mafia and harm to himself, were admisfible as

contemporaneous statements to explain Aguirre's state of mind. (RB 222­

228.) Respondent discusses a number of cases, but none supp~rt receipt of

the evidence in appellant's case.

People v. Guerra, supra; 37 Ca1.4th 1067, is cited for t1e general

rule that evidence is not hearsay unlessit is offered to prove thf truth of the

matter asserted. (Id., at p. 223; RB 223.) Respondent argnes jat there was
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no errorbecause the evidence was not offered for the truth of the matter

asserted. (RB 223.) A hearsay objection to an out-of-court statement may

not be overruled simply by identifying a nonhearsay purpose for the

statement; the trial court must also frnd that the no.nhearsay purpose is

relevant to some issue in dispute. (People v. Jablonski (2006) 37 Ca1.4th

774,820-821.) In this case, Aguirre's state of mind was not in dispute.

. Hence, his expressions of fear of the Mafia's impending visit were

irrelevant.

As far as the merits gO,People v. Guerra, supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p.

1114, stands for the proposition that evidence ofa victim's state of mind,

when offered to prove or explain'the declarant's conduct, is only relevant if

the victim's mental state or conduct is placed at issue. In Guerra, the

victim's statements were relevant to negate the possibility she consented to

sexual intercourse with the defendant. (Ibid.)

People v. Rowland (1992) 4 Ca1.4th 238, is cited for the "abuse of

discretion" standard of review for evidentiary rulings. (RB 223.) The

substantive holding ofRowland, however, is the same asthat in the Guerra

case. Evidence of a victim's state of mind is only admissible if relevant to a

contested issue. In Rowland, the victim's statement was found admissible

under the state of mind exception to the hearsayrule (Evid. Code, § 1252)

because the defendant was charged with rape, and the victim's statements

were' found relevant to prove lack of consent. The admitted hearsay was the

statement of the victim of a rape-murder telling the witness '" she better get

herself home because she had a headache and she had to go to workin the

morning.'" (Id., at p. 262.) In this case, Aguirre's state of mind was not an

Issue.
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. People v. Rodriguez (1999) 20 Ca1.4th 1,9-10, is cited tifr the rather .

benign proposition that reversal of a judgment is not required u less the

trial court exercises its discretion to admit or exclnde evidence 16 an

arbitrary, capricious or patently absurd manner that r.esults in a ruscarriage

ofjustice. (RB 223.) Rodriguez does not involve the allegedly lerroneous

admission of hearsay proving a victim's state ofmind.

People v. Waidla (2000) 22 Ca1.4th 690, 723, is cited by respondent

for the proposition that "[e]vidence of the murder victim's fear pfthe

defendant is admissible when the victim's sta.te of mind is rele~ant to an

element of the offense.'" (RB 224.) This is the evidentiary rul1 that

appellant relies upon to exclude the evidence ofAguirre's statements. In

Waidla, unlike. this case, the defendant' was charged with felonJ-murder­

robbery and felony-murder-burglary of a woman who had prevIously taken

him into her home. Evidence of the victim's extrajudicial statetnents

expressing fear of the defendant was ruled admissible to prove ~ack of

consent to the burglary and robbery related to her murder. (Id., lat 722-723.)

Respondent cites People v. Jablonski, supra, 37 ca1.4thlat p.819, for

the rule that "[e]vidence ofa murder victim's fear is also relev nt 'when the

victim's conduct inconformity with that fear is in dispute.'" Atpellant does

not quarrel with the rule. However, in appellant's case, Aguirrb's conduct

was consistent - not inconsistent - with his fear ofthe Mexica~Mafia. He
. I .

expressed fear that the Mafia was going to come and cause tromble, and

tried to flee when the gang members who killed the victitm 4vedo During

the trial, it was never asserted that Aguirre's conduct was inconsistent with

his fear of the Mexican Mafia. Indeed, the slaughter of five p~oPle was

undisputedly murder regardless of Aguirre's state of mind. Th~ only

contested issue. was whether appellant played any role in the 1imeso In
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Jablonski, the victim's statements were inadmissible under the state of mind

exception because the victim's sta~e of mind was not an issue. (Id., at p..

820.)

People v. Crew, supra, 31 Ca1.4th 822, discussed by respondent (RB

225), is clearly distinguishable from this case on its facts. Crew involved

murder for financial gain and grand theft. The defendant married the victim

for her money, but the marriage was not working out and the victim

separated from the defendant and contemplated annulment. Subsequently,

the viCtim decided to try to make the marriage work. On the eve of planned

two-week honeymoon road trip with the defendant, the victim confided to a

witness, "Ifyou don't hear from me in two weeks, send the police." (Id., at

p.829.) The statement was found admissible pursuant to Evidence Code

section 1250 because the victim's statement was relevant to disprove the

defense - that the victim disappeared of her own accord because she was

depressed. (Ibid.; cf. People v. Noguera (1992) 4 Ca1.4th 599, 620-623

[victim's hearsay statements expressing fear of the defendant found

inadmissible when the defense raised no issue concerning the state of mind

of the victim].) In this case, the defense raised no issue concerning the state

ofmind of Gustavo Aguirre.

Lastly, respondent discusses People v. Cox (2003) 30 Ca1.4th 916, in

which the defendant was sentenced to death for multiple murder. (RB 226.)

In that case, as in the other cases cited by respondent, the victim's attitude

toward the defendant was placed in issue. The defense presented evidence

that the victim "'would get into a car with a stranger.'" (Id., at p. 957.)

Whether the victim would enter the car voluntarily or whether the defendant

. overcame her resistence by force were in issue. (Ibid.) Hence, this Court

held that evidence of three instances in which the victim hid from the
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defendant were admissible to support the inference thatthedefJndant must·

have used a weapon to get the victim into his car. (Ibid.) In co~trast, in '.

appellant's case, victim's expressions offear ofthe Mexican M~fia, and his

belief that the Mafia was coming to'get him, were irrelevant and

inadmissible to explain the victim's attempt to flee when the peketrators of

the murders arrived. (See AOB 171-178.)

C.Appellant Should Not Be Deemed To Have Forfei~ed

His Otherwise Meritorious State And Federal I

Constitutional Challenges To The Receipt Of This
Evidence. I

Respondent argUes appellant forfeited the right to assert IViolations of

his state and federal constitutional rights to confrontation and t<h a reliable

death jndgment by failing argue those theories for exclnsion in re trial

court. (RB 228.) The fact that a state appellate court may refuse to hear

constitutional challenges not raised in the trial court does not Jean that this
. I

Court is obliged as a matter of federal law from reaching constitutional .
. I

. I

questions. (Dun & Bradstreet v. Greenmoss Builders, supra, 4r2 U.S. 749.)

Defense counsel made a hearsay objection. The purpose ofthe

hearsay rule is to "preclude a class of evidence considered to bi generally

less reliable-than in-person testimony of events observed by a tbstj:fying .

witness." (United States v. Hernandez, supra, 333 Fed.3d at p 1179.)

Otherwise stated, the purpose ofthe hearsay rule is to prohibit the use of

unsworn, uncross-examined testimony as substantive evidence in a criminal

case. (United States v. Carmichael, supra, 232 F.3d at p. 521.1 Similarly,

the purpose of the Confrontation Clause is to "ensure reliability of

evidence," ... "by testing in the crucible of cross-examinationl" (Crawford

v. Washington, supra, 541 U.S. at p. 61.). The Eighth Amend~ent and
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article I, section 17 ofthe.Califomia Constitution likewise insure the

reliability ofjudgments in death penalty cases. (Satterwhite v. Texas,. supra,

486 U.S. at pp. 262-263.)

Defense counsel's specific hearsay objections should be deemed

adequate to have given the court and prosecutor an opportunity to "prevent

error" or to "take ... steps designed to minimize the prospect of reversal"

based on Aguirre's hearsay expressions of fear to witnesses 8 and 1 L

(People v. Partida, supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p.434; cf. People v. Lewis and

Oliver (2006) 39 Ca1.4th 970, 1029 [Confrontation Clause error waived

with respect to the denial ofmistrial motions brought on grounds other than

introduction of hearsay].) Accordingly, no useful purpose would be served

were this Court to refuse to consider appellant's Sixth and Eighth

Amendment challenges. (People v. Partida, supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p. 436.)

Without elaboration, respondent also argues that the error, if any, .

was harmless because the trial court gave a limiting instruction. (RB 228­

229.) Appellant devoted a significant portion ofhis argument in the AOB

to demonstrating why the error was not harmless, despite the limiting

instruction. (AOB 178.;,180.) Inthe interests ofjudiciaI economy, those

arguments are not reiterated here.

It suffices to remind respondent and this Court that the jury asked to

have the testimony ofwitness 8 and witness 11 re-read; hence, the

testimony was definitely the focus of the jury's deliberations. (62 RT

9776.) The re-reading of the testimony, which included Aguirre's hearsay

statements, was done without the benefit of another limiting instruction.

Furthermore, from this particular inadmissible hearsay, the jury could have

inferred that (1) appellant went to the victims' residence prior to the

killings; and (2) that he was recognized as a Mafia member by Aguirre.
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Otherwise, there was no evidenceto corroborate witness IS's less than

credible testimony that appellant visited the victims to set them up just prior
,

to the murders. (See, AOB 20-22, 40-41 [discussing witness 15 s credibility

problemsJ.) The limiting instruction was inadequate to "unring the bell,"

. considering this testimony was heard twice by thejury. (People v. Alvarado,

supra, 141 Cal.AppAth at p.1586.)

Last but not least, even if this one error were not so prej I dicial as to

deprive appellant of a fair trial, when it is .considered in cnmnla~on with .

other errors, the result was to produce a tnal that was fundamerttally unfaIr.

(Mak v. Blodgett, supra, 970 F.2d at p. 622; People v. Hill, sup a, 17

Ca1.4th at pp. 844-845.)
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X

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT X: APPELLANT WAS
PREJUDICED BY THE RECEIPT OF STATEMENTS MADE BY

ANTHONY TORRES TO WITNESS 13 REGARDING HIS
INVOLVEMENT IN THE MURDERS.

A. Statement Of Proceedings Below:

Rather than repeat a description ofthe proceedings relevant to this

argument,appellant refers to and incorporates by reference the "Testimony

and Objections" section ofArgument X ofthe AOB. (AOB 181-185.)

B. Appellant's Claim Regarding The Erroneous
Admission Of Torres' Stittements As Described In
Witness #13's Audiotaped Testimony Is Meritorious, And
Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited.

Respondent argues that appellant forfeited his right to challenge the.

admissibility of Torres' hearsay statements to his sister by failing to object

again on hearsay grounds when the prosecutor had to resort to playing an

audiotape of the witness' prior inconsistent description ofTorres'

statements from a prior tria1.(RB 234.) As authority for this proposition,

respondent cites People v. Morris, supra, 53 Ca1.3d at p.190, and People v.

Holloway, supra, 33 Ca1.4th at p.133. Both Morris andHollowaystand for

the proposition that a tentative pretrial motion in limine to exclude evidence

may not satisfy the requirements ofEvidence Code section 353, if the

defendant could have, but did not, renew the objection or offer ofproof in

the contextofthe trial itself. These cases reason that sometimes actual

testimony is different than pretrial predictions ofwhat a witness will say on

the stand; hence, until the evidence is actually offered, the trial court cannot

intelligently assess relevance, probative value, and potential for prejudice.
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(People v. Morris, supra, at pp. 189-190; People v. Holloway, s 'l!ra, atp..

133.)

. Defense counsel's objection to witness 13's testimony wts notmade

at an in limine pretrial hearing. A hearsay objection was made during trial, .

when the prosecutorasked, "And what did you say to Anthony rd what did

he say to you?" (57 RT 8957.) The objection was overruled Wfthout even

requiring the prosecutor to offer an exception to justify the receipt of
I

evidence that was plainly hearsay. (57 RT231.) The rulings add reasoning

ofthe Morris and Holloway decisions have n~ application to a1enant's

circumstances. The trial court was fully capable of assessing t~e

admissibility ofthe evidence - and did so without any exp~anat~on - in the

context of the trial.

. Respondent also asserts that the statements of Torres were properly

received as statements of a coconspirator. Because the statemefts in

question were undisputedly made to Torres' mother and sister Jfter the

objectives ofthe conspiracy had been achieved, they cannot hate aided or

assisted in the consummation of the object of the conspiracy. (tOB 185.)

Respondent nonetheless resorts to arguing that the conspiracy srOuld be

deemed to have extended beyond the substantive crimes "'to aitivities

contemplated and undertaken by the conspirators in pursuance of the

objectives of the conspiracy.'" (RB 236, quoting People v. Leabh, supra, 15

Cal.3d at p. 431, and People v. Saling, supra, 7 Cal.3d at P.844l)

. People v. Saling and People v. Leach demand a contraryllresult in this

case. In Saling, the conspiracy was an agreement to commit m rderfor .

hire. A husband wanted to have his wife killed in order to colI· ct on a life

insurance policy. (Id, at p. 850.) Statements made by a coconlpirator three·

days after the murder were properly admitted under the cocons~irator
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hearsay exception because the statements were made several weeks before

the killers were paid. This Court reasoned that one of the objectives of the

conspiracy, as far as the killers were concerned, was to collect the money

. from the husband, who could not pay them until he collected the insurance.

(Id., at p. 852.) Recorded hearsay statements of a coconspirator made three

and a halfweeks after the murders, after payment had been made, were

ruled inadmissible underthe coconspirator exception. (Id., at p. 853.)

In People v. Leach, supra, 15 Cat3d at pp. 429-438, this Court

discussed and explained its holdings in Saling, and ruled inadmissible under

the coconspirator exceptionto the hearsay rule statements made by alleged

coconspirators after a killing-for-hire was accomplished. In Leach,

although the spouse was the beneficiary ofthe decedent's life insurance

policy - the proceeds ofwhich had not been collected at the time the

hearsay statements were made - there was no evidence presented that the

collection of insurance was one of the objectives of the conspiracy.

Respondent alsorelies on People.v. Hardy, supra,2 Ca1.4th 86, in support

ofadmissibility pursuant to Evidence Code section 1223. (RB 236.) Hardy,

the antithesis ofLeach, involved a contract killing for the express purpose

ofcollecting insurance proceeds. Conspirator statements made after the

victim's death were properly admitted under the coconspirator exception

precisely because the conspiracy's objective, to collect the insurance

money, had not yet been accomplished at the time the statements were

made. (Id., at pp. 146-147.)
I •

In this case, the alleged conspiracy was the unlawful agreement to

execute Mexican Mafia dropout, "Dido" Moreno. When Torres spoke with

his sister and mother, the objectives of this conspiracy had already been

met. There is no evidence whatever to suggest that any of the participants
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had other group objectives at the time the statements were mad .

Accordingly, witness 13's testimony recounting Torres' post-oftense

admissions did not qualify for admission as coconspirator state~ents
according to Saling, Leach or Hardy.

Respondent also seeks to compare this case to that ofPeople v.
. . . .. I

Manson (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d 102. (RB 236.) The notorious (Charles

Manson, shortly after the Spahn Ranch murders, purportedly dJected one of

his followers to kill another man. On appeal, it was argued thaManson's

statement should not have been received under the coconspirat r exception

to the hearsay rule because, as in People v. Leach, supra, the 0 .ectives of

the conspiracy had already been achieved by the time the stateJent was

made. The Court ofAppeal ruled that the rule ofLeach was intPPlicable

because the overriding purpose of the conspiracy· in Manson wds the

fomentation of a race war. Hence, the boundaries ofthe conspJacy were

not limited by the murder of the seven victims at the Spahn Ra ch. (Id, at

.pp.155-156.)

Respondent argues that the conspiracy continued, as evi I enced by
. I

the subsequent murder of Jimmy Palma, "presumably for his role in the

shooting deaths of the children." (RB 237.)· At the time TorreJ made

statements implicating Palma in the killing ofthe children, Pal~a was still

. alive. Years later, in 1997, he wasmnrdered while on death rOl at San

. Quentin State Prison. (55 RT 8584-8586, 8603; 57 RT 8966; 51 RT 9289.)

This does not suffice as evidence that the killing ofPalma was part and

parcel ofthe conspiracy to kill Moreno. If there was a consPir~Cy to have

Pahna kill.ed, its i~cePtion was somet~~ after the Maxson Streit killings,

and there IS no eVIdence - only SUpposItIOn - that appellant, Sh~rock or the
. I

Mexican Mafia were involved. Furthennore, there is no eviderlce, as there
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was in the Manson case, that the coconspirators had an objective any

broader than the killing of Moreno.

At most, the audiotaped statements ofwitness 13, relating Torres'

statements, indicate that in April of 1995, unnamed Sangra gang members

were looking for Palma and wanted to "take care ofhim" because he had

killed the children. (8. SeT 1: 1633.) Moreover, at the. time of trial, it was

not the prosecutor's theory of the case that the conspiracy encompassed

crimes other than the murder of Moreno.

Alternatively, respondent argues that Torres' statements were

admissible as declarations against penal interest. (RB 238.) Ironically,

respondent cites People v. Lawley, supra, 27 Ca1.4th atp.174, which holds

that Evidence Code 1230's exception does not apply to collateral statements

a declarant makes, which attempt to shift blame or minimize the declarant's

. role in the crime itself. (RB 238; see, AOB 185-186.) As this Court·

explained in Lawley,

One of the most effective ways to lie is to mix falsehood with
truth especially truth that seems particularly persuasive
because of its self-inculpatory nature..... Whether a
statement is self-inculpatory or not can only be determined by
viewing the statement in context. ... ~ In view of these
concerns, this court "long ago determined that 'the hearsay
exception should not apply to collateral assertions within
declarations against penal interest.' [Citation.]"

(People v. Lawley, supra, 27 Ca1.4th at p. 153; citations omitted.)

Torres' statements to witness 13 contained a mixture of statements;

some were self-incriminating but many sought to shift·primary

responsibility for the killing of innocent people, including children, to

others. (8 SCT 1: 1618-1636.) Of course, since the trial court never put the

prosecutor to the test of articulating why any of Torres' extrajudicial
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statements qualified as exceptions to the hearsay rule, there was no

opportunity for counsel to alternatively argue that some, but not all, of

Torres' statements qualified for admission as declarations against penal

interest.

Respondent argues that this case is more like People v. srmue!s,

supra, 36 Cal.4th at p.12l, than People v. Lawley, supra, 27 Ca Ath 102.

(RB 238-239.) Appellant disagrees. In Samuels, the circumst1ces in

which declarant's inculpatory statements were made bore muCh! greater

indicia of reliability than did the extrajudicial statements of To es in this

case. The declarant in Samuels expressed remorse to a third pa about his

role in a murder-for-hire, and said he was thinking about turnin.

to the police. This Court distinguished the situation in Samuels from

circumstances presented in Lawley on the basis that the declarant's "fdcially .

incriminating comments were in no way exculpatory, Self-servirg, or

collateral." (Ibid.) In contrast,. Torres' statements.to his si~t~r I~nclu~e

many exculpatory and self-servmg statements seekmg to mmlmlze hIS .

responsibility for the murders in the eyes of family members.j .

In addition, in Samuels, the declarant, after expressing t e impulse to

go to the police, was murdered. The confession he made prior 0 his death

was strongly relevant to prove (1) that the declarant was in fact hired by the

defendant to kill her husband; and (2) that the defendant hired rmeone else

to kill the declarant in order to prevent him from going to the Pflice about

the murder of her husband. (Id., at p. 101.) Hence, the declarant's

statement, that the defendant had paid him to kill her husband, k
l

as not at all

collateral to the issues in the case. .

In contrast, numerous of Torres' extrajudicial statement1 were

completely collateral to proving appellant's involvement in thel Maxson
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Street killings. Torres never mentioned appellant's name. He insin,uated

that he had acted under duress since he had promised someone ~ impliedly

the Mexican Mafia, according to witness 13 - to kill only one man. He

shifted blame for the deaths of the children toPalma and Valdez. He

·implied Palma would be murdered in retaliation for killing the children.
. .

Even worse, he talked about other shootings and murders that were

completely unrelated to the crimes with which appellant was charged. (57

RT 8958-8959; 8 SCT I :1637-1637.) Unlike the situation presented in

Samuels, the hearsay statements admitted in this case were both collateral

and self-serving, and therefore lacked the necessary indicia of reliability for

admission as declarations against penal interest. (See also, AOB 185-189.)

Though not cited by respondent, People v. Geier (2007) 41 Ca1.4th

555, undermines respondent's assertion that Torres' statements were

admissible as declarations against penal interest. In Geier, this Court

upheld a trial court ruling excluding evidence ofextrajudicial statements of

the woman who hired the defendant to kill her husband, proffered as

declarations against penal interest. This Court explained, inter alia:

The fact that Dean confessed to killing her husband in the third
statement did not, by itself, establish that the third statement was any
more reliable than the other two [statements]. Dean's admission was
accompanied by an explanation that she killed her husband because
she hadjust quarreled with him and that he had hurt their daughter.
Dean may have believed that this explanation minimized her
culpability or excused her conduct altogether. Moreover, Dean was
having an affair with Hunter, and her third statement, taking the
blame for the murder with an excuse may have been her attempt to .

.protect him and, by extension his: confederate, defendant.

(People v. Geier, supra, 4lCa1.4th at p. 585.) Here, Torres' statements

were intrinsically unreliable for the same reason. Torres' confession to

aiding and abetting the Maxson Street murders was accompanied by
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explanations that Torres clearly believed wonld. m.l.'ni.mize his r fPon.sibility

or excuse his conduct in the eyes of his mother and sister. His rlame of the

Mexican Mafia - for making him kill- similarly may have beem an attempt

to excuse his own conduct as well as the conduct of his confedJrates who

actually shot the victims. The statements lacked sufficient indiLa of

trustworthiness to qualify as declarations against penal interest. (People v.

Geier, supra, at p. 584.)

C. Appellant's Contention That Statements Made B '
Torres To His Mother Were Triple Hearsay Are
Meritorious And Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited.

. Respondent contends that appellant has forfeited the rignt to

challenge the statements made by Torres to his mother as triPI~ Ihearsay

since he never specifically objected to these particular statemeJs. (RB

239.) Appellant objecled to witness 13 describing what Torrelsaid. (57

RT 8957.) The judge simply overruled the objection without hraring the

prosecutor's proffer of grounds for admissibility. There is no reason to

expect the judge would have acted differently had defense couJse1objected

again when the extrajudicial statements being elicited were thole spoken to

Torres' mother, and related to the sister. Lack of an objectiontnot a

waiver when the objection would have been futile. (People v. familton,

supra, 48 Ca1.3d at p.1184, fn. 27.) '. I

People v. Lewis and Oliver, supra, 39 Ca1.4th 970, which respondent

so often cites, is distingnishable. (RB 240.) In that case there tas no

objection to the hearsay in question. (Id., at p. 1028.) The same is true of

most ofthe other cases relied on by respondent to snpport fOrfettnre ofthis

argument. (RB 240; People v. Cook (2006) 39 Ca1.4th 566, 594-595
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[failure to object to an instance ofprosecution witness' vouching for the

credibility ofa witness]; People v. Demetrulias (2006) 39Ca1.4th 1, 19-20

[no objection to improper good characterevidence]; People v. Guerra,

supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p.ll17 [no objection to improper good character

evidence].)

In People v. Hinton, supra, 37 Ca1.4th 839 (RB240), the defendant

objected on hearsay' grounds to extrajudicial statements made by

.coconspirators. The prosecutor then elicited evidence to establish the factof

the conspiracy through independent evidence. The defendant made no

objection to the coconspirators' statements after this foundation had been.

established. (Id., at p. 894.) Itwas not disputed in Hinton that the

extrajudicial statements of coconspirators had been' made in furtherance of

the objectives ofthe conspiracy. (Id., at p. 895.)

Here, the trial court never put the prosecutor to the test of

establishing a foundation for the admission of Torres' hearsay statements

under any exception. The hearsay objection was simply overruled without

explanation even though it was clear from witness 13's testimony, that the

hearsay statements to be elicited were made by Torres after the murders had

occurred. (57 RT 8957.) In this case, in contrast to what occurred in

Hinton, it cannot be inferred that counsel, by not objecting, was acquiescing·

that a sufficient foundation had been laid to qualify Torres' statements for

admission under the a hearsay exception. Rather, it appears that even ifa

hearsay objection had been made again when witness 13 recounted what

Torres reportedly said to their mother, the objection would simply have

been overruled.

Respondent argues, in essence, that witness 13's testimony regarding

what Torres had told their mother was received not for the truth ofthe
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matter asserted, but to explain her then existing·state ofmindcor mental

condition - i.e., why she confronted Torres. (Evid. Code, § 125p; RB 240-

241.) There is absoiutely no merit to this arg.ument. A hearsay r.btjection to

an out-of-court statement may not be overruled simply by identiring a

nonhearsay purpose for the statement; the trial court must also find that the

nonhearsay purpose is relevant to some issue in dispute. (People v. .

Jablonski, supra, 37 Cal.4th at pp.820-82 I; see also, United St1es v.

Nielsen (9th Cir. 2004) 371 F.3d 574,581, fn. L) Witness 13's state of mind

was not in dispute. Hence, it was irrelevant and not a reason to admit

otherwise inadmissible hearsay. (People v. Guerra, supra, 37 qa1.4th at p.

1114.) I

I

Reliance on People v. Samuels, supra, 36 Ca1.4th at p. lQ2 (RB 241)
. . I

is misplaced. In that case, there was no objection when the inv~stigating

officer testified that, as the result of an anonymous call to anotJer detective

identifYing Mike Silva as the hit man, he had located and inte1iewed Silva.

(Ibid.) Moreover, the testimony was not offered to prove that Silva had

killed the defendant's husband; it was offered to explain why tie detective

obtained a search warrant and contacted Mike Silva for an interview.

(Ibid.) In this case, Torres' statements were offered to prove ~e truth ofthe

matters asserted - that Torres participated in the murders at th1 direction of

the Mexicap. Mafia, but it was Palma and Valdez who. entered ~he residence

and killed all five people, including the children. I

j

In People v. Lewis and Oliver, supra; 39 Ca1.4th at pp. ~ 025-1 026

(cited at RB 241), in a joint trial of two half-brothers, one was laccused of

entering a church and killing three family members and friendJ of Lewis'

estranged wife. The wife's mother explained that the reason s~e
remembered Oliver driving a red Mustang when he drove awat after being

. I
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ejected from Lewis' house by the police, was because aneighbor had told .

her that a similar vehicle was used by the person who had torched Lewis'

ex-wife's parents car. ThisCourt ruled the witness' testimony was.

admissible to explain why she noticed and remembered the car, not for the

truth of the matter asserted. (Ibid.) In Lewis and Oliver, the defendants

were not charged with the arson of the car, and the statements were not

introduced to prove that they committed arson.

In this case, witness 13's conversations with her own brother about

the murder required no·explanation. This witness testified that she heard

about the murders on television news the morning after they happened.

Aware that Sangra gang members had converged at her mother's home the

evening before the murders, witness 13 questioned her brother about his

possible involvement. (57 RT 8950-8953, 8956.) Witness 13 had a

conversation with her mother about Torres' involvement in the murders

before she questioned her brother. However, her testimony about the

substance of the conversation between Torres and his mother was hearsay,

and was not, as respondent argues, relevant or necessary to explain 'why

witness 13 confronted her brother, or why she went to the police.21 (RB

241)

D. Appellant's Challenge To Witness 13's Testimony
Regarding Torres' Admission To The Murder Of A Rival
Gang Member Is Meritorious And Should Not Be Deemed
Forfeited.

21 Witness 13 went to the police because she was upset about what
had happened to the children, and fearful the perpetrators would be sent to
harm her and her children. (8 SCT 1: 1636-1637.)
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Respondent argues that, because no objection was voice1d to witness

-13's audiotaped testimony regarding Torres' involvement in a drive-by

shooting, the contention is forfeited. (RB 243.) Defense couni·el did object

. on relevance grounds when the prosecutor asked an open-ende question

that sought to elicit infonnation regarding any prior murder, nf just the

murders in this case: "Did your brother ever teUyou before that he had been

involved in a murder?" (57 RT 8959.) The objection was overled. The

witness asked, "Before what?" (57 RT 8959.) The trial court answered,
. I

"Before this one." (57 RT 8959.) In other words, the trial coutt ruled that it

would be relevant if Torres reported participating in any rnurde1rs prior to

the Maxson Street murders.

, The audiotape of witness 13's testimony was then playe1. It includes

witness 13's statementthat Torres confessed to being the drive1 of a car

used to perpetrate a retaliatory drive-by shooting. (8 SCT 1: 1,37-1638.)

Accordingly, an objectionto this evidence was not made for the first time

on appeal, as respondent argues. (RB 243.)

In any event, even assuming defense counsel was requild to object

again to preserve the error, the objection would likely have been futile

because the trial court had already evinced its belief that any stltement

admitting Torres' involvement ina prior murder would be reletant and
I

admissible. (People v. Hamilton, supra, 48 Ca1.3dat p.1184, .27; People

v. Hill, supra, 17 Ca1.4th at p. 822.)

Without citing to the record, respondent also asserts tha I it was

defense counsel who first questioned witness 13 about evidencr of a

completely unrelated crime. (RB 243.) Respondent distorts th~ chronology

of events. Before any testimony was given regarding other Cri~es, the

prosecutor asked whether Torres had "ever ... before" told wiJness 13 that
. I
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E. Appellant's Contentions Regarding The Denial Of His
State And Federal Constitutional Rights Are Meritorious
And Should Not Be Deemed Forfeited.

Respondent argues that appellant has forfeited the right to argue that

his state and federal constitutional rights to due process, confrontation, and

a reliable death judgment because counsel failed to argue constitutional

grounds for exclusion ofTorres' hearsay statements. (RB 244.) The fact

that this Court may refuse to hear tardily raised federal constituti.onal

challenges does not mean that it is obliged as a matter of law to refrain from
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addressing such constitutional questions on the merits. (Orr v. ([)rr, supra,

440 U.S. at p. 275.) A reviewing court may consider any claim ~esPitethe
lack of an objection when the error may have adversely affecte

defendant's right to a fair trial. (People v. Hill, supra, 17 Cal.4 at p. 820,

843, fn. 8.)

Furthermore, the purpose of the Confrontation Clause is [0 "ensure

reliability of evidence," ... "by testing in the crucible of cross-. .

examination." (Crawfordv. Washington, supra, 541 U.S.atp. 61.) The
I

purpose of the hearsay rule is to "preclude a class of evidencecbnsidered to

be generally less reliable than in-person testimony of events ob+rved by a

testifying witness." (United States v. Hernandez, supra., 333 Fid.3.d atp.

1179.) Otherwise stated, the purpose of the hearsay rule is to ~rhibit the

use of unsworn, uncross-examined testimony as substantive eviUence in a

case. (UnitedStates v. Carmichael, supra, 232 F3d at p. 521.) Hence,

defe~se ~ounsel's hearsay and r~levanc~objectionswer~ clead] dire~te~

keepmg Irrelevant, and/or unrehableevidence from the JUry. The ObjectIOns

should be deemed adequate to have given the court and prosecJtor an

opportunity to "prevent error" or to "take .... steps designed to minimize

the prospect of reversal." (People v. Partida, supra, 37 Cal.4t at p. 434.)

No useful purpose would be served were this Court to refuse to consider

appellant's Sixth and Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment challnges, or

their California counterparts. (People v. Partida, supra, 37 Ca Ath at p.

436.)

Respondent also argues that the error, if any, was harmless because

Torres' did not mention or directly implicate appellant in the 1ders, and

becall.se witness 13 was subjected to cross-examination. (RB 2r5.) It is

disingenuous to say that Torres' statements caused no prejudic€. The
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prosecutor heavily emphasized Torres' hearsay statements in guilt phase

closing argument. He relied upon Torres' statements as proof that the

murders were committed on orders from the Mexican Mafia. The statements

were also highlighted as proof that the killings of innocent bystanders,

including Maria Moreno and the two children, were intentional and

foreseeable because the killers understood that they were not to leave any

witnesses to the killings. (62 RT 9662; 9666-9671.)

Cross-examining witness 13 was no substitute for cross-examining

Torres, who had first-hand knowledge regarding the murders. Appellant had

no opportunity to cross-examine Torres regarding what he said and/or what

he meant when he told his sister he had no choice but to go through with the

promised killing.

Respondent argues that the evidence was heavily weighted against

appellant (RB 245), butthis is not true. Appellant refers this Court to .

Argument I of the AOB, in which he details the paucity of substantial

evidence to prove that he conspired with,Raymond Shyrock and Sangra

gang members to have any of the victims killed. (AOB 37-56.) Appellant

has already devoted considerable argument to showing the magnitude of the

prejudice resulting from the introduction of Torres' hearsay statements in

the AOB. (AOB 190-193.) Those arguments are incorporated by reference,

but not reiterated here. Regardless of the standard of review applied, there

is no conceivable way that the error did not infect the guilt and penalty

phase judgments. (People v. Watson, supra, 46 Ca1.2d 818; Chapman v.

California, supra, 386 U.S. 18.)

Furthermore, even if this single error was not so prejudicial as to

deprive appellant of a fair trial, when the error is considered in cumulation

with other errors,the result was to produce a trial that was fundamentally
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unfair. (Mak v. Blodgett, supra, 970 F.2d at p. 622; People v.

Ca1.4th at pp. 844-845.)

138

supra, 17

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

XI

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENTXI: HEARSAY
STATEMENTS MADE BY WITNESS 15TO SHYROCK

REGARDING GUSTAVO AGUIRRE WERE ERRONEOUSLY
ADMITTED

A. Proceedings Below:

Appellant refers to and incorporates by reference subsections A and

B of ArgumentXI ofthe AOB, which encompass appellant's statement of

supporting facts. (AOB 194-195.)

B. Shyrock's Statements Were Not Admissible As
Coconspirator Statements.

Respondent argues that Shyrock's pre;.,·and post-offense statements

to witness 15, regarding Aguirre's drug dealing activities and his robberies

ofdealers protected by the Mexican Mafia, were properly received as

·coconspirator statements. (RB 249.;252.) Appellant respectfully disagrees.

1. Pre-Offense Statements:

Witness 15 testified in the following manner regarding Shyrock's

statements,purportedlymade several weeks prior to the murders.

He just told me and my brother that he was tired ofTito and
tired ofTony Cruz, which is Cruzito, and he said that he was
tired ofboth ofthem disrespecting him and robbing dope
connections and that sooner orlater they weregoing to have
to pay for that. .

(56 RT 8752.) The evidence was received, according to limiting

instructions given by the judge, to show "Shyrock's intentions toward Mr.

Aguirre." (56 RT 8751.) The Court found that the evidence was admissible
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to show S.hyrock's state. of m..'ind pursuantto EVidence. Code sec1ions 1250

and 1251. (56 RT 8748.) . .

The prosecutor did not argue that the evidence was admiJSible as a

coconspirator statement.at the time the evidence was proffered. (56 RT

8747.) Respondent now argues, based on statements made at adury .

instructional conference, that prosecutors theory of the case wajl'that there

was "a conspiracy to kHl the adult victims...." (RB 249.) It i. suggested

that Shyrock's pre-offense statements were properly received a I statements

in furtherance of the conspiracy. (RB 249.) I

Respondent's argument does not make sense. The quotdl portions

ofthe instructional conference characterize the prosecutor's thebry as

follows:

So you could say that the original conspiracy ... was to ill
Dido. Then I will argue that the killing of the other two
adults was in furtherance of the conspiracy ... and that t e
killing of the children was a natural and probable
consequence of going into a one room house and killing and
shooting three people, the kids were bound to be hurt, if ot
killed.

(61 RT 9520-9522.) This is consistent with other statements 0 the

.prosecutor, asserting that the conspiracy to kill Moreno began n the day of

the murders, when appellant allegedly paid a visit to the victims' apartment

to set up the murders.

I think that objectively one could certainly. argue that the
conspiracy began when Mr. Maciel went to wentto the
victim's residence on the day' of the murders.

(3 RT 535.)

The prosecntor' s theory of conspiracy, as articulated ffi1re than once,

would riot appear to support the argument that Shyrock's pre-orfense

140 I .
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expressions ofanimus toward Aguirre qualified for admission under
. .

Evidence Code section. 1223, as admissions of a coconspirator. Since the

prosecutor conceded that there was no preconceived conspiracy to kill

Aguirre - he was just a witness murdered to prevent detection -. it makes

no sense to argue that Shyrock'sstatements· about Aguirre were made in

furtherance of a nonexistent conspiracy.

In any event, the statements were not made in furtherance of any

objective ofthe supposed conspiracy. (Evid. Code, § 1223,subd. (a).) The

statements were made during casual conversation between Shyrock and

witness 15, who was not a participant in the conspiracy. Additionally, the

probable effectofthe statements would have been antithetical to

accomplishing the objectives of the conspiracy, since it was very likely that

Shyrock's implied threats ofharm to Aguirre" and Tony Cruz would be

communicated by witness 15 to his brother, "Dido," and Gustavo Aguirre,

who might then take steps to avoid harm.

Contrary to respondent's supposition, Shyrock's statements to

witness 15 do not logically prove the existence ofa plan to kill either

Aguirre or Moreno. (RB 251.) "Dido" Moreno's name is not even

mentioned. Furthermore, a plan by a single individual to kill is not the same

thing as a conspiracy to kilL To be admissible under the coconspirator

exception, there must be evidence of an unlawful agreement to kill, not just

an expression ofanimus by one perso"n against another.

Respondent relies on People v. Williams, supra, 16 CaL4th at p. 681,

as support for the argument that the pre-offense statements were admissible

to prove planning. In Williams, however, the hearsay declarants, Moore and

Brown, were the unwitting getaway drivers in a conspiracy involving three

men to commit a contract killing that resulted in the deaths of four family
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members. (Id., at p. 648-649.) The court admitted as coconspirator

statements the testimony of Moore and Brown regarding a coniersation that

occurred just prior to the murder~, in which the perpetrators saitl they were

going to the victims' house to "shoot it up," and everyone in tJe house was

going to be killed. (Id., at p. 681.) In Williams, the defendant fd not object

to the testimony as hearsay. (Ibid.) Addressing the issue on the merits

despite the lack ofobjection, this Court opined that the trial co~ could

reasonably have concluded the statement that the defendants wbregoing to

"shoot it up" was meant to reassure Moore and dissuade her frdm driving

away and abandoning the shooters. (Ibid.). In this case, there iJ no evidence

Shyrock's pre-offense statemeuts were made in furth~ance~f~ existing

unlawful agreemen~ between Shyrock and other~ to kIll ~g.U1rr,. .

People v. Hznton, supra, 37 Cal.4th 839, IS also dlstmgUishable. (RE

240.) In Hinton, the object ofthe conspiracy was a drug deal. The

defendant initially objected on hearsay grounds to extrajudicial statements

made by the coconspirators. The prosecutor then elicited eviderce to

establish the fact of the conspiracy through independent evidence. The

defendant made no objection to the coconspirators' statements tfter a

foundation had been established. (Id., at p. 894.) In Hinton, the defendant

did not dispute that declarants were participants in the cousPirafY at the

time that the statements were made, and that he joined the conspiracy

subsequently. (Id., at p. 895.) Here, the e.xistence ofa conSPirllcy to kill

Aguirre is disputed.

People v. Morales (1989) 48 Cal.3d 527,552, another case cited by

respondent (RE 252), does not compel a different result. .In MJrales, the

defendant and his cousin, Ortega, plotted to kill· a woman who tad

maintained a sexual relationship with Ortega's male lover. (Id.I, at p. 540.)
I

142

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

The woman was driven to a remote location by Ortega and the defendant,

strangled, and bludgeoned with a hammer. Ortega and the defendantwere

tried separately for capital murder with lying,..in-wait andtorfure-murder

special circumstances. (Id., at p. 551.)

At the defendant's trial, Ortega's former girlfriend was allowed to

testify to a conversation five months prior to the slaying, in which she heard

Ortega say he was planning to kill his male lover, and the lover's female

lover if she were there, and described how.he intended to accomplish the

.slaying. Ortega indicated to the witness that the defendant Morales would

be with him. (Ibid.) Hence, in Morales, it was clear that there was a plan to

kill the victim at the time the statements were made.

Appellant's record fails to esiablish the existence of a conspiracy to

kill Aguirre at the time the statements by Shyrock were made. In· fact, the

trial prosecutor repeatedly stated that the conspiracy was to kill Moreno, not

Aguirre, and that Aguirre was killed because he was a witness. (3 RT 535;

61 RT 9520-9522.) The extrajudicial statements of Torres - that they were

only supposed to kill one man - confirm that the plan was to kill Moreno,

not Moreno and Aguirre. (57 RT 8960.)

Other cases cited by respondent, including People v. Remiro (1979)

89 Cal.App.3d 809,842, and People v. Pike (1962) 52 Cal.2d 70,88 (RB

251), are equally inapt. They stand for the proposition that the People may

prove that charged offenses were committed in furtherance of a criminal

conspiracy even if the crime of conspiracy is uncharged. These cases do

not support the proposition that coconspirator statements may be introduced

to prove a conspiracy that the prosecuting attorney has admitted did not

exist at the time the statements were made.
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2. Post-Offense Statements:

. Respondent also argUes that Shyrock's post-offense stattcnts to

witness 15 were properly received as coconspirator statements. F 251.)

The statements were made the day after the murders at a meeting in a park

arranged by investigating officers from the El Monte Police D1artment

(56 RT 8752-8755, 8816-8818.) Out of earshot of the officers, iShyrock

reportedly said that he was "sorry to hear" about the murders o~witness 15's

brother ("Dido") and sister (Maria Moreno) and the "two little tiabies ...."

(56 RT 8755, 8756.) Shyrock also called Aguirre a "bastard" a~d said that

Aguirre "was forcing me to kill him or do something to him so tdon't feel

bad about him dying." (56 RT 8755-8756.) He also said "ifhe kould have

done something like that, he wouldn't have done it the way it h ,ppened ...

." (56 RT 8755, 8756.)

The trial court agreed with defense counsel that Shyrockj's post­

offense statements clearly did not qualify for admission under the
. I

coconspirator exception. (56 RT 8749.) CitingPeople v. Leac
r
,supra, 15

Ca1.3d at p. 451, and People v. Manson, supra, 61 CaLApp.3d at p.155,

respondent nevertheless argues that this Court should find that he

conspiracy continued to exist after the murders. (RB 251.)

People v. Leach is inapposite. In Leach, this Court ruled

inadmissible under the coconspirator exception to the hearsay ~le
statements made by alleged coconspirators after a killing-for-hte was

accomplished. In Leach, although the spouse was the beneficiiry ofthe

decedent's life insurance policy - the proceeds of which had nr been

collected at the time the hearsay statements were made - there!was no

evidence presented that the collection of insurance was one of the

objectives of the conspiracy.
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People v.Manson, supra, is equally inapplicable. There, after the

charged murders the defendant reportedly directed one of his followers·to

kill another actor. On appeal, it was argued that the defendant's statement

should not have been received under the coconspirator exception to the

hearsay rule because, as in People v. Leach, supra, the objectives of the

conspiracy had already been achieved by the time the statement was made.

The appellate court held that Leach was inapt because the overdding

purpose of the conspiracy in Manson was the fomentation ofa race war.

Consequently, the objectives of the conspirac)i' were not limited to the

murder of the seven murder victims in that case. (Id., at pp. 155- 156.) In

this case, there is no similar evidence of a broader criminal objective

beyond the killing of "Dido" J\10reno. When Shyrock spoke with witness

15 in the park, the stated objective of the conspiracy had been completed.

Respondent also relies on People v. Hardy, supra, 2 Ca1.4th at p.

147. (RB 252.) This case is equally distinguishable from the case at bench.

Hardy involved a contract killing for the express purpose ofcollecting

insurance proceeds. Conspirator statements made after the victim's death

were properly admitted under the coconspirator exception precisely because

the conspiracy's objective, to collect the insurance money, had not yet been

accomplished at the time the statements were made; (Id., at pp. 146.;147.)

C. Shyrock's Statements About Aguirre Were Not
Admissible To Show State Of Mind. .

Respondent argues, alternatively, that Shyrock's statements were

relevant to show the declarant's state of mind toward Aguirre. (Evid. Code,

§ 1250.) This is the theory on which the trial court admitted the statements.

(56 RT 8748,8751.) The problem is that, absent evidence of a conspiracy

145



to kill Aguirre, Shyrock's animus toward Aguirre was irreleva . (People v.

Geier, supra, 41 Ca1.4th at pp. 586-587.)

The prosecutor repeatedly asserted that his theory of the case was

that Shyrock recruited appellant to arrange for the killing of "D'do"

Moreno, a Mafia dropout. Appellant, in tum, recruited Sangra. ang

members to accomplish the task. The perpetrators went to the tSidence to

kill Moreno. All other adults in the residence - including Marik Moreno. . I

and Aguirre - were slaughtered according to the Mafia's directive not to

leave any witnesses. The killing of the children was, accordinJ to the

prosecutor, a. natural and probable cons.equence of the plan to krl'.ll Moreno

and leave no witnesses. (3 RT 535; 61 RT 9520-9522.)

" There is no evidence Sangra gang members were acquainted with
. . I

Aguirre, or acted pursuant to any preconceived plan to cause his death,

specifically. Torres told his sister they were only supposed to +ll one man.

(57 RT 8960.) Witness 15 testified that Aguirre was hiding in jhe bathroom

when appellant purportedly paid a visit to Moreno's residence ~o set up the

murder. (56 RT 8822-8824.) Even ifwitness 15's dubious testimony is

presumed true (see, AOB 40-41), appellant and Sangra gang mbmbers

would not have known in advance that Aguirre would be at the Moreno's

residence when they came to kill "Dido."

Again, the prosecutor cites People v. Morales, supra, 4 ' Ca1.3d 527,

this time to support the admission of Shyrock's statements to prove his state

of mind.. (RB 252.) .However, .inMor~les, the all.eged conSPira

j

l
cy was the

plan to kIll Ortega's lover's lover. ThIS Court held:

Ortega's admitted plan to kill Blythe, his stated assumpt on or
. . I.

expectation that defendant would help or encourage hI~ III

doing so, and his remark that if Winchell were present she
would "get it too," in the aggregate were probative of thb
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question whether the two men later conspired to kill Winchell.

(Id., at p. 552.) In this case, the prosecutor's theory was that Aguirre was

. killed pursuant to the Mafia's directive to kill all witnesses, not pursuant to

a conspiracy to kill Aguirre. Shyrock may have had animus toward Aguirre,

but that is not the reason he was killed. Therefore, the statements were not

admissible to prove Shyrock's state ofmind. (People v. Geier, supra, 41

Ca1.4th at pp. 586-587.)

D. Shyrock's Statements About Aguirre Were More
Prejudicial Than Probative.

Respondent disputes appellant's assertion that the statements, even if

relevant, should have been excluded as more prejudicial than probative.

(Evid. Code, § 352; RB 255.) The court felt the statements were relevant to

show appellant's guilt because appellant had a "special relationship" with

Shyrock and was likely to carry out his wish to have Aguirre killed. (56 RT

8749.)

Once again, respondent conveniently ignores the fact that Shyrock's

wish to see Aguirre dead was irrelevant to prove appellant's participation in

a conspiracy to kill Moreno. Respondent says that the evidence was

admissible to show "Shyrock's state ofmind toward at least one of the

intended victims and the scope and objective of the conspiracy." (RB 256.)

However, the position taken by respondent on appeal does. not jibe with the

position taken by the People in the court below. The prosecutor's

statements to the trial court and the People's own evidence belie the notion

that the killings were accomplished pursuant to a conspiracy to kill Aguirre

and Moreno. According to the prosecutor's theory ofthe case, Aguirre and

Maria Moreno were killed because they were present when Sangra gang
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members came to kill Moreno. (3 RT 535; 61 RT 9520-9522; 5r RT 8960.)

Given that the evidence had only tangential, if any, relevance to] contested

issues in the ~ase. - i.e., to prove that a.ppellant p.1anne~ and carried out the

. murder of "DIdo" Moreno at the request of Shyrock -It was anlabuse of

discretion for the trial CQurt to overrule appellant's objections under

Evidence Code section 352.·

Shyrock was consistently portrayed by the People as therthlessly

violent regional head of a ruthlessly violent gang, the Mexican Mafia.

Proofof appellant's complicityin ofmurder depended largely In (1) his

membership in the Mafia and his association with Shyrock, for Lhom he

was supposed to be an errand boy; (2) his alleged meeting with "Dido"
,

Moreno and witness 15 onthe day of the murders at a time whe family

members testified he was in church at his son'sbaptism, or in tliansit; (3) his

alleged briefmeeting with Jimmy Palma, described only by withess ·14, at a

time when family members testified that appellant was still at ~iS child's

baptismal party; and (4) phone records showing calls to appellaht's pager

and from some of the perpetrators before and after the murders 1- but no

proof appellant was carrying his pager or answered the calls. ~lhe truth of

testimony placing appellant at "Dido's" house mid-day, and wi h Jimmy·

Palma just prior to the murders, was stridently contested. To tJe extent the

prosecutor was permitted to bring in irrelevant evidence ofotht violeut

crimes - whether contemplated by Shyrock and the Mafia, or ahegedly

committed by appellant or Sangra gang members on the Mafia's behalf

(see, Arguments VII & X, ante), there would have been an overstrong

tendency on the part ofthe jury to give this highly inflammatO! evidence

undue weight in deciding whether to believe appellant's alibi witnesses, or

rather, witnesses 14 and 15, who were career criminals with a ! otive to lie.
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The evidence should have been excluded because it was uniquely likely to

evoke an emotional bias against appellant, while having only slight

probative value with respect to the issues.. (People v. Bojorquez (2002) 104

Cal.App.4th 335,345.)

E. Admission Of Shyrock's Statements Violated
Appellant's State And Federal Constitutional Rights.

. .

1. Appellant's Confrontation Clause Claim
is Meritorious And Should Not Be Deemed
Forfeited.

Respondent argues that appellant's Confrontation Clause claim is

forfeited because counsel objected on hearsay grounds, but did not raise a

state or federal Confrontation Clause claim. (RB 257.) The fact that this

Court may refuse to hear tardily raised federal constitutional challenges

does not mean that it is obliged as a matter of law to refrain from addressing

such constitutional questions on the merits. (Orr v. Orr, supra, 440 U.S. at

p.275.) A reviewing court may consider any claim despite the lack of an

objection when the error may have adversely affected the defendant's right

to a fair trial. (People v. Hill, supra, 17 Cal.4th at pp. 820, 843, fn. 8~)

Furthermore, the purpose of the Confrontation Clause is to "ensure

reliability of evidence," ... "by testing in the crucible of cross­

examination." (Crawford v. Washington, supra, 541 U.S. at p. 61.) The

purpose of the hearsay rule is to "preclude a class of evidence considered to

be generally less reliable than in-person testimony of events observed by a

testifying witness." (United States v. Hernandez, supra, 333 Fed.3d at p.

1179.) Otherwise stated, the purpose of the hearsay rule is to prohibit the

use of unsworn, uncross-examined testimony as substantive evidence in a
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case. (United States v. Carmichael, supra, 232 F.3d at p. 521.)

Defense counsel's hearsay and Evidence Code section 3 2

objections were clearly directed keeping irrelevant and/or unreliable.

evidence from the jury. No useful purpose would be served wele this Court

to refuse to consider appellant's Confrontation Clanse Challengts to

Shyrock's hearsay statements. (People v. Partida, supra, 37 Cdl.4th at p.

436.) . . . J
Respondent disputes appellant's contention that Shyroc 's

statements during the post-offense meeting with witness 15 we Ie

testimonial, and therefore introduced in violation of Crawford .

Washington, supra, 541 U.S. at p. 56,22 (RB 257.) RespoIiden 's reasoning

appears to be that Crawford recognizes that coconspirator staterents are

not usually testimonial (Id., at p. 74); therefore, since Shyrock'J post­

offense statements were coconspirator statements, they were p+perlY

admitted and did not violate the Confrontation Clauses of the state or

federal constitutions. Appellant has already explained why the trial court

was correct in ruling that the post-offense statements did notq alify as

coconspirator statements. (See,ArgumentXI, B, 2; 56 RT 874 .) Rather

than reiterate those arguments, they are incorporated by refere ce here.

Respondent also argues that the statements were not tes .monial

within the meaning of Crawford because they were made outsife the

presence of investigating officers who summoned the participants to the·

meeting in the park. (RB 258.) That the investigating officers kept their

22 Respondent appears to concede that Crawford v. Was, ington is
retroactive1yapplicable to cases still pending on direct appeal. (RB 258;
People v. Cage, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 970; Whorton v. Bockti g (2007)
549 U.S. 406 [167 L.Ed.2d 1, 127 S.Ct. 1173].)
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Testimony is a solemn declaration or affirmation made for the

purpose ofestablishing or proving some fact. (Crawford v. Washington,

supra, 541 U.S. at p. 51.) A statement is testimonial if a reasonable person

in the position of the declarant would objectively foresee that his statement

might be used in the investigation or prosecution of a crime. (Davis v.

Washington, supra, 126 S.Ct. at pp. 2273-2274.) Shyrock's statements to

witness ·15 were "testimony" in the sense that they constituted affirmations

or declarations offact, including: (1) that Shyrock did not kill "Dido" and

Maria Moreno; (2) ifhe had done so, the crime would not have been

committed in such a manner; (3) Shyrock was not sorry about the death of'

Gustavo Aguirre; and (4) because Aguirre was robbing Mafia connections,

distance is not dispositive. The EI Monte officers were investigating the

Maxson Street killings. They called witness 15, his brother Joseph Moreno,

and Raymond Shyrock, and directedthemto meet at Lambert Park. The

participants in the meeting were "shaken down" when they arrived. Joseph

and witness 15 Were told by Offi·cer Marty Penny, "I want you to talk to

Huero Shy." (56 RT 8754.) If investigators stepped away temporarily to

allow witness 15 and Joseph to speak privately with Shyrock, they did so in

the rather transparent hope that Shyrock would make inct;iminating

statements about the murders to "Dido" Moreno's two brothers, which they

could use later in a criminal case. (56 RT 8753-8754.) The primary

purpose ofthe questioning conducted by witness 15 and his brother was,

accordingly, "to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later

criminal prosecution." (Davisv. Washington (2006) 547 U.S. 813, 822

[165 L.Ed.2d 224, 126 S.Ct. 2266,22731; People v. Cage, supra, 40 Ca1.4th

at p. 982; see also, Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts (2009) _ U.S. _

[129 S.Ct. 2527].)
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and Shyrock knew it, this victim would eventually have been kil ed by

Shyrock or the Mafia anyway. At the time the statements were ade,

Shyrock was certainly aware that anything he said to the victim 'Dido"

Moreno's brothers could be used in the investigation and prosecftion of the

Maxson Street murders. Accordingly, his statements qualified ~s

testimonial hearsay within the meaning of Crawford.

Respondent argues that the statements were nontestimon al and did

not violate the Confrontation Clause because they were not offered for the

truth of the matter asserted, but rather, to prove Shyrock's inten ions toward

Aguirre, i.e., his state of mind. (RB 258.) Under Crawford, the e are no

restrictions on the use of out-of-court statements for nonhearsa purposes.

(People v. Cage, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 975, fn. 6.) Evidence dmitted

pursuant to Evidence Code section 1250's state of mind exceptitn is .

hearsay, however; it describes a mental or physical condition, irftent, plan,

or motive and is received for the truth of the matter asserted. ( Ieople v.

Geier, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 587,citing with approval People . Ortiz

(1995) 38 Cal.AppAth 377, 389; see also, 1 Witkin, Cal. Evide ce (3d ed.

1986) The Hearsay Rule, § 735, p. 716.) Such evidence of stat, of mind

may only be introduced if the declarant's state of mind is an isshe in the

case. (Ibid.) As previously stated, Shyrock's attitude toward A~uirrewas

not a disputed fact of relevance to proving appellant's complicif in the

murders. According to the proseclitor's own theory of guilt, od:lers were

given to kill "Dido" Moreno. Aguirre was killed, and so were ria

Moreno and her two children, because they were present when gang

members came to kill Moreno, and the Mexican Mafia- purpohedlY

speaking through appellant - had instructed that Sangra gang ~embers
should not leave any witnesses alive.
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In contrast, a statement that does not directly declare a mental state,

but is merely circumstantial evidence of a declarant's state of mind, is not

.hearsay.. Such statements are only nonhearsay when it does not matter
. .)

whether the statements are true or not; the fact that the statements were

made must be relevant to prove the declarant's state ofmind. (People v.

Ortiz, supra, 38 Ca1.AppAth at p. 389.) Shyrock'sstatements were not just

-received for anonhearsay purpose. Shyrock's statements were declaratory

of his wish to See Aguirre dead; whether Shyrock wanted Aguirre dead was

precisely the.issue for which the statements were received. The trial court

instructed the jury that the statements were coming in "as it may bear upon

Mr. Shyrock's intentions toward Mr. Aguirre." (56 RT 8751.) Shyrockwas

not available to cross-examine regarding his testimonial fact statements;

hence, a Confrontation Clause violation resulted.

2. Admission Of Shyrock's Testimonial
Statements Violated Appellant's Rights To
Due Process, Confrontation And A Reliable
Death Judgment.

Respondent argues that, assuming any of appellant's constitutional

claims have not been forfeited, the Shyrock's statements of animus toward·

Aguirre were made under circumstances establishing their trustworthiness,

and witness 15 was subjected to cross-examination regardingShyrock's

statements. (RB 260.) Assuming a Confrontation Clause violation

occurred, "[a]dmitting statements deemed reliable by a judge is

fundamentally at odds with the right of confrontation." (Crawford v.

Washington, supra, 541 U.S. at p. 61.) The Confrontation Clause

"commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in

a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of cross-examination." (Ibid)
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In any event, the statements'by Shyrock were given in a

circumstances that rendered them inherently untrustworthy. T Jbegin with,

witness 15 was an intrinsicallyunreliable witness, inclined to t ,11

investigating officers and prosecutors exactly what they wanteJ to hear, not

necessarily the truth. (See, AOB 40-41, 201-204, 224-226.)J addition,

regarding the post-offense statements attribnted to Shyrock, th,

conversation between witness 15 and Shyrock was held on ord1rs from

police, while the police waited in close proximity. Confronted rth one

victim's brothers, Shyrock would not have been particularly inolined to

speak the truth about his· involvement, or even the involvement of his

associates or fellow gang members, in the ruthless slaughter of four

members ofthe Moreno family, or their family friend, Gustavo Aguirre.

The evidence was completely unnecessary and highly prrjUdicial.

There was no evidence that Sangra gang members were familij with

Aguirre, or that gang members knew that Shyrock and/or appellant wanted

Aguirre killed. Even if appellantvisited the victim's residence midday

prior to the killings, as witness 15 incredibly claims, Aguirre was hiding at

the time; hence, his presence was nnknown to appellant and v+ting Sangra

gang members. Since appellant was not anywhere near the victim's house

when the murders took place, he would have had no way of ant~cipatingthat

Aguirre was there, and could not have ordered his murder.

Under the circumstances, introducing Shyrock's statem nts had no

purpose but to inflame thejury by suggesting that Shyrock was in the habit

of ordering his enemies killed. Given other evidence that appellant was a

recent Mexican Mafia recruit, and expert testimony thathe wodld more

likely than not· do the bidding of the person who sponsored his bembershiP

in the gang, the jury would necessarily have concluded that apJellant would
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kill Aguirre in cold blood if Shyrock asked him to do it. In addition,

'because Shyrock denied that he approved of the murder of Maria Moreno

and the children, thejury may have inferred from this evidence that '

appellant ordered that all witnesses, even women and children, be killed.

(See, AOB 202-203.) Hence, for these reasons, and reasons previously

articulated in the AOB, the error resulted in a prejudicial denial of

appellant's rights to due process, a fair trial, and reliability in death

sentencing, as well as the denial of confrontation rights. (AOB 201-204.)
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XII

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XII: APPE LANT'S
CONTENTION THAT THE COURT IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED
THE JURY PURSUANT TO CALJIC NO.2.11.5JS ME TORIOUS

AND SHOULD NOT BE FORFEITED.

A. Proceedings Below:

Appellant adopts and incorporates by reference the proc dural facts

set forth in Argument XII oftheAOB. (AOB 205-207.)

B. Appellant's Contention Should Not Be Deemed
Forfeited..

Respondent argues that, since appellant failed to make amy objection

to the instruction, he may not ;aise either state law or constitutiJnal

challenges to the instruction on appeal. (RB 262.) In similar I .

circumstances, this Court has found thealleged instructional 10r waived.

(People v. Rodrigues (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1060, 1126, fn. 30; peopre v. Sully

(1991) 53 Cal.3d 1195; 1218.) However, as respondent concedrs, this

Court will address· instructional error claims when it appears that the

challenged instruction may have affected an appellant's sUbsta+al rights.

(RB 263; People v. Croy, supra, 41 Cal.3d at p.l2, fn. 6.) In th~s case, for

reasons previously set forth in the AOB, the error should be addressed on

the merits because it affected appellant's substantial rights. (AbB 205­

207.)

C. Appellant's Contention Is Not Without Merit.

The merits of appellant's claim of instructIonal error haTe been.

adequately addressed in Argument XII of the AOB. (AOB 20~-207.)

Nevertheless, appellant recognizes that, evenwhen this Court nds that
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clarifYing instructions should have been given as to the application of

CALJIC No. 2.11.5to witnesses given immunity in exchange for trial

testimony, this Court has declined to find the error prejudicial, so long as

other appropriate instructions on weighing the credibility of witnesses have· .

been given. (See, e;g., People v. Brasure (2008) 42 Ca1.4th 1037, 1055;

People v. Lawley, supra, 27 Ca1.4th at pp. 162-163; People v. Sully, supra,

53 Ca1.3d atp.1219.)

Appellant requests that this Court recopsider its policyof finding

such error harmless. The evidence against appellant was extremely weak,

particularly if the large quantities ofhighly prejudicial; erroneously received

.evidence is disregarded. (See, AGB and Reply, Arguments I, V, VI, VII,

VIII, XI, X, XI.) In addition, the error is all the more egregious because it

. occurred in the context of a death penalty case. For these reasons, and the

reasons more fully developed in the AGB, the giving of CALJIC No. 2.11.5

should be found prejudicial in this case. (AGB 205-207.)
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XIII

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XIII: APPE LANT'S
JUDICIAL MISCONDUCT CLAIMS ARE MERITORI IUS AND

SHOULD NOT BE DEEMED FORFEITED.

A. Legal Principles Of Judicial Misconduct.

Appellant does not dispute respondent's statement of horpbook law

governing claims ofjudicial misconduct. (RB 270-271.) He cohteststhe
. I·

application of legal principles to the facts of his case.

B. Appellant's Contention Should Not Be Deemed l
Forfeited By Trial Counsel's Failure To Object. .

Respondent argues that, because no objections were ma~, by trial

counsel to any of the trial court's comri:lents and questions, all j~dicial

misconduct should be deemed forfeited. (RB 279.) Appellant tticipated

this argument in the AOB, and has already offered justifications why

counsel's failure to object and/or to request curative admonitioJsshould not

be deemed a waiver. (AOB 215.)

From the record it is overwhelmingly clear that it would Ihave been

futile to object.· (People v. Hill, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 821.) 9iven the

. evident hostility by the judge toward defense counsel, it would have been

unfair to require defense counsel to choose between repeatedlY~rovoking
the trial judge into making negative statements about defense cbunsel, or

alternatively, giving up the client's ability to argue misconduct on appeal.

(People v. Sturm (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1218, 1237; see also, Peopl!e v.

Mahoney (1927) 201 Cal. 618, 622.) Failure to request an a1nition is not

(People v. Bolton (1979) 23 Cal.3d 208, 214-215, fn. 5.)
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In any event, this Court may address the claim despite the absence of

objections if the trial court's misconduct may have adversely affected the

defendant's right to a fair trial. (People v. Hill, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 843,

fn. 8.) Here, the cumulative effect ofjudicial misconduct,prosecutorial

misconduct, and the court's failure to rein in the prosecutor's excesses (see,

Arguments XIII, XV, & XVI) would necessarily have had an adverse

impact on appellant's right to a fair trial, as well as making it futile and

counterproductive to object. (People v. Hill, supra; 17 Cal.4th at p. 821.)

c. Appellant's Assignments Of Judicial Misconduct Are
Meritorious.

Respondent suggests that the court exercised admirable restraint and

impartiality throughout a lengthy and difficult trial. (RB 279.) The judge

exercised anything but restraint and impartiality,

1. 55 RT 8522:

Respondent asserts that the trial judge did nothing more than caution

both attorneys not to make speaking objections. (RB 280.) This is not all

thejudge did. The admonition against speaking objections followed a

question by defense counsel, not the prosecutor. Moreover, after

admonishing defense counsel, the court briefly took over questioning for

the prosecutor, and after eliciting the witness's response, overruled defense

counsel's speaking objection..

2. 55 RT 8592-8593:·

Respondent suggests that the judge, by intervening, strengthened

counsel's argument that Sgt. Valdemar had offered different testimony

during the grand jury proceedings regarding the reference to a silencer.

(RB280.) Respondent misses the point. Counsel asked Sgt. Valdemar
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"what [he] told the grand jury abouta silencer." The answer t the question

was important because Valdemar had lied to the grand jury. T e court

interrupted counsel and criticized his wording of the question. When

counsel explained he wanted to knowwhat Sgt. Valdemar told the grand

jury, the court snapped, "Well, I don't want to know what he t ld the grand

jury -." (55 RT 8592-8593.) The clear message to the jury was that

Valdemar was credible despite his false testimony to the grand~ury. This

was tantamount to the judge commenting favorably on the creJibility of the
I .

witness, and usurping the function of the jury. (People v. sergi/II (1982) 138 .

Ca1.App.3d 34, 41.)

3. 56 RT 8794-8795: . I

. I

Respondent argues that the court merely admonished defense

counsel not to denigrate witness 15, after counsel asked him ifhe was a

"down and ont hype.". (RB 280.) Evt;ll though the witness agr~d with this

colloquial and unflattering characterization, the judge apparently felt it

necessary to refer to the witness as a "gentleman," effectively ~irnizing
the significance of the witness's admitted pattern of criminalcdnduct to the

jury's assessment of credibility. Moreover, this rebuke oftrial founsel for

name-calling occurred immediately after the court had endorsed one ofthe

witness' statements by exclaiming, "Arnen." (56 RT 8794-979f') This, as

well as other disparaging remarks directed toward counsel duri1j1g the cross-
I

examination ofprosecution agents, would have left the impression that the
'. . I
court was protective of and allied with the prosecution. (See, 58 RT 9082-

9083,9199.)

In this case, defense counsel was respectful and deferenlaHo the

judge at all times. However, even if contemptuous conduct by a party or
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and true between the state and the accused' [citation]," then he or she may

. notpreside. (Taylor v. Hayes (1974) 418U.S. 488,501 [41 L.Ed.2d 897,

94 S.Ct. 2697.) Therefore, even ifthe court's criticism of counsel's name­

calling could be defended, it would not justify reprimanding counsel before

the jury. (People v. Fatone (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 1164, 1174, cited with

approval in People v. Sturm, supra, 37 Cal.4th atp. 1240.)

4. 57 RT 8889-8890:

Respondent characterizes the judge's remarks as merely overruling

counsel's objection to the prosecutor's inquiry into the terms ofa witness'

. immunity agreement. (RB 280-281.) That is not the impression that the

judge's intervention would have left in the minds ofjurors. Counsel made

an objection when an immunized witness was asked what would happen to

him ifhe did not testify truthfully, or answer all questions at appellant's

trial. The judge did not just overrule the objection and allow the prosecutor

to continue questioning. The judge rephrased the question and asked what

would happen ifthe judge said the witness was lying, and underscored the

importance of the witness' answer ~ that he would not be granted immunity

and would be prosecuted for murder if the judge believed he was lying.

The court's conduct effectively usurped the function of the jury to .

determine whether this witness was lying. (People v. Sergill, supra, 138

Cal.App.3d at p. 41.)

5. 57 RT 8939:

Respondent characterizes the court's comments as merely

"informing't' defense counsel that a juvenile adjudication could not be used

for impeachment purposes. (RB 181.) This is not what happened. The

judge, perceiving the witness to be too young to have suffered a conviction

for assault with a deadly weapon, interrupted defense counsel's examination
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ofthe witness. After questioning the witness himself, the judge announced

that the witness could not have been "convicted" of anything in 1989. The

judge did not stop there, however. He also declared that "juven'le

adjudications are irrelevant." (57 RT 8939-8940.)

While, technically speaking, the fact of a juvenile adjudi I ation is not

usable to impeach, the court's gratuitous remark '1uvenile adju ications are

irrelevant," was misleading. State law allows impeachment ofiwitness

with prior conduct evincing moral turpitude even if such condu~t was the

subject of ~ juvenile adjudication. (People. Lee (1994)28 caJ.fth 1724,

1739.) Respondent does not dispute that this is the law. (RB 282, fn. 109.)

This is yet another example of the judge demeaning the impo1ce of

impeaching infomlation that trial counsel was attempting to eli9it from a

prosecution witness.

6. 58 RT 9082-9083:

Respondent implies that the trial court properly sustaine4 the

prosecutor's objection to defense counsel's argumentative questioning.

(RB 281.) That may be so; but the judge did not merely sustain the

prosecutor's objection. He scolded Mr. Esqueda: "You know ho it is, I

assume. If so, give him a name. It's not a secret. It's a public ecord." (58

RT 9083.) It is improper to reprimand a lawyer before the jury. "When the

court embarks on a personal attack on an attorney, it is not the lawyer who

pays the price, but the client." (People v. Fatone, supra, 165 cl1.APP.3dat

p.1175.)

7. 58 RT 9199:

Respondent argues that the court merely sustained an obJection to

defense counsel's irrelevant question, whether Detective Davis would be

willing to listen to his interview tape of witness 14, review his notes, and
I
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could beheld liable for Ambrose Padilla's murder. (62 RT 971 -9715.)

There was no reason for the trial court to interrupt counsel's argrment at .

this point without giving him an opportunity to address the deartp of . .

evidence to support a murder conviction on other theories of liaUility as

well. The overall effect of the court's commentary was to diSpa~age
counsel's argument, and to' imply to the jury that there was amplb evidence

to support a conviction on other theories of liability, even if not ~ theory of

deliberate, premeditated murder.

Resporident compares the court's. conduct in this case to the judge's

behavior in People v. Bell (2007) 40 Cal.4th 582,605. (RB 282l) In Bell,

the trial court joked to jurors that the attorneys would "think ~p tomething .

to talk about between now and Monday." (Id., at p. 604.) ThIS Court found

that the trial court was not criticizing counsel, but attempting to "cajole the .

jurors into patience with t~e proceedings partly by sardonically fasting

responsibility for delays on the attorneys." (Ibid.) In addition, i Bell, the

court praised the attorneys for not wasting a lot of time in their uestioning.

(Ibid.) In appellant's case,the court disparaged counsel's cond~ct
numerous occasions, and at one point directly accused counsel Jf wasting

the jury's time.

Respondent cites People v. Hawkins (1995) 10 Cal.4th 9 1 0,948, for

the proposition that the trial judge did not commit misconduct ecause he

record, expressly or impliedly direct a verdict, or usurp the jury s ultimate

factfinding power. (RB 280.) In Hawkins, the issue was whetHer the trial

judge committed misconduct when he intervened in the interro~ation of the

senior ballistics expert to question him about another scientist'1 work. This

Court reiterated the rule that a judge has the power and duty to participate in
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the examination of a witness whenever he or she believes that doing so may

fairly accomplish certain ends: eliciting the truth; preventing

misunderstanding; clarifying testimony; covering omissions; allowing a

witness to explain; or eliciting facts material to a just determination of the

cause. (Id., at pp.497-498.) In Hawkins, however, the Court also

recognized that a trial judge's interrogation "'must be ... temperate,

nonargumentative, and scrupulously fair. '" (Id., at p. 948; accord: People v.

Sturm, supra, 37 CaL4th atp.1232.)

In appellant's case, the trialcourt's intervention in the examination

of witnesses was neither "temperate" nor "scrupulously fair." The court,

without any need to do so, frequently elicited testimony and/or commented

uponcounsel's objections or witnesses' answers in a manner which bespoke

clear negative opinions about defense counsel's conduct of the case, or the

futility or insignificance of counsel's efforts to impeach the state's

witnesses. The court's words implied: (1) any defense witness who testified.

for appellant was likely lying to protect the Mexican Mafia (58 RT 8522);

(2) Sgt. Valdemar's prior false testimony to the grand jury was not very

important (55 RT 8592-:-8593); (3) witness 15 was a gentleman and a

witness, not just a "down and out hype" (56 RT 8794-8795); (4) the judge

would be the ultimate arbiter of whether immunized witness 16 was giving

truthful testimony in accordance with the immunity agreement, and the

judge believed the witness was being truthful (57 RT 8890-8891); (5)

witness 16's prior act of committing an assault with a deadly weapon was

irrelevant to impeach his credibility (57 RT 8939-8940); (6) trial counsel

was wasting the jury's time by not revealing the identity of the district

attorney who reached a plea agreement with witness 14 (58 RT 9082­

9083.); (7) trial counsel was wasting the jury's time by asking whether
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1242.)

Detective Davis would be willing to refresh his memory by liste ing to a

tape and checking his notes (58 RT 9199); and (8) trial counsel as
"

misleading the jury, and/or ignorant of the law that governed ap ellant's

liability for the death of the six-month old victim. (62 RT 971419715.) The

court gave the distinct impression, repeatedly, that it was "allYidg itself with

the prosecution." (People v. Carpenter (1997) 15 Cal.4th 312, j53.) This

constituted improper conduct. (~eople v. Sturm, supra, 37 Cal.Jth at p.
, I

D. The Court's Misconduct Was NotHarmless.

Respondent argues that appellant cannot show that the ciurt's ,

con~uct caused prejudice regardless Ofth~ standard ofte~iew t1~t is

apphed. (RB 283.) Respondent emphasIzes that the claim of IljlIsconduct

rests on only eight remarks made during a month-long jury trial (RB 283.)

Respondent ignores the fact that there were more than eight improper

remarks during appellant's trial. Appellant also assigns additiohal instances
, I

ofjudicial misconduct that occurred during the penalty phase of the trial.
I

(AOB 239; Reply, Argument XVI, B, post.) Furthermore, in a1dition to the

numerous specific acts assigned as judicial misconduct, the trial court

treated the defense and prosecution disparately, which could nol have

escaped the jury's attention. (See, Arguments XV & XVI, postl) As in

People v. Hill, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 846, the court's diSparag1ment of

defense counsel, while at the same time permitting wide latitudr to the

prosecutor - over defense objection - would have given the stnDng

impression ofjudicial partiality.

Furthermore, it is not the only number of acts·of miscontluct that is

dispositive. Reversal is required when a trial judge demeans aJd disparages
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defense counsel with sufficient frequency that it convey his orher negative

attitude toward the defense to thejury. (People v. Fatone, supra, 165

. Cal.App.3d atp. 1176.) In People v. Black (1957) 150 Cal.App.2d 494, the

court's comments regarding counsel's inept questioning of the complaining

witness in an incest case improperly conveyed "a judicial stamp of approval

on the [defendant's] daughter's testimony." The judgment was reversed. In

People v. Mahoney, supra, 201 Cal. 618, even though no objections were

made by defense counsel, this Court reversed a judgment where a trial

·judge's disparaging and discourteous remarks would have communicated to

the jury that the judge discredited the defense. (Id., at p. 627; accord:

People v. Dickman (1956) 143 Cal.App.2d Supp. 833, 836.) In this case,

the instances during which thejudge treated Mr. Esqueda disparagingly or

discourteously occurred with sufficient regularity during the trial that the

jury would readily have perceived the court's antipathy toward the defense.

Though respondent repeatedly states that the evidence against

appellant was overwhelming, the record shows that the contrary is true.

(RB 284.) Appellant was not present at the time of the murders. He was

undisputedly attending his son's baptismal party. While several career·

criminals - each with clear motives to fabricate - testified that appellant

visited the victims' residence on the day of the murders, and met with

Palma at his apartment shortly before the murders, alibi witnesses not

burdened by·criminal records testified that appellant was elsewhere when

these preparatory events allegedly occurred.

Throughout the trial, the trial judge made one-sided ruling and

remarks directed against defense counsel before the jury, disparaging

counsel and weakening the defense's ability to present evidence countering

the charges against appellant. The court corrected Mr. Esqueda's questions
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to prosecution witnesses in such way that the jury could not hel but

succumb to the strong impression that, in the court's view, couJselwas

merely "wast[ing] the jury's time." (95 RT 9199.) "Jurors relylWith .great

confidence on the fairness ofJudges, and upon the correctness Jf theIr

views expressed during trials." (People v. Sturm, supra, 37 call4th at p.

1233.) The court's biased conduct of the trial reduced presumptlion of

innocence to a sham.

"Upon the trial judge rests the duty of seeing that the tri~l is

conducted with solicitude for the essential rights of the accusedl" (Glasser

v. United States (1942) 315 U.S. 60, 71 [86 L.Ed. 680, 62 S.Ct.457.) When

trial is by jury, a "fair trial in a fair tribunal" (see, Bracy v. Gramley (1997)

520 U.S. 899, 904 [138 L.Ed.2d 97, 117 S.C!. 1793]) requires ~e judge to

refrain from conduct that can prejudice the jury. "This requireIfent of

neutrality ... Safeguards. [one Ofl.the.two centr~l concerns ofPfcedural

due process, the preventIOn ofunJustIfied or mIstaken depnvatIrns ...."

(Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc. (1980) 446 U.S. 238, 242 [64 L.Ed.21182, 100

S.Ct. 1610].) In appellant's case, adjudication by a biaSedjUd~e

necessarily rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. (Rose v. Clark (1986)

478 U.S. 570, 577-578 [92 L.Ed.2d 460, 106 S.Ct. 3101].)-

Defendants, especially those facing death, have a right under the Due

Process Clause to a judge who takes seriously his or her respon~ibility to

look out for the rights of even the most undeserving defendant. (Bracy v.

Schomig (7th Cir. 2002) 286 F.3d 406,419.) The trial court's b,ased

conduct of the trial irreparably distorted the penalty phase delibrrations,

depriving appellant of a fair trial and a constitutionally reliable feath

judgment. (Satterwhite v. Texas, supra, 486 U.S. at pp. 262-2613.)

Furthermore, when the trial court's acts are considered tbgether,
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contrary to respondent's contention, they were not harmless, but conspired.

to undermine the fairness of appellant's capital trial, in violation of the

Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments. A trial court conducted in such

a "poisonous atmosphere" ofbias violated appellant's most fundamental

, constitutionalrights under the state and federal constitutions. (People v.

Hill, supra, 17 Ca1.4th at p. 821.)
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XIV

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XIV: APPE LANT'S
CONTENTION THAT THE TRIAL cOURTSHOULDIHAVE

GIVEN LIMITING INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING EVI~ENCEOF
WITNESS THREATS AND FEARS IS MERITORIOUS AND

SHOULD NOT BE DEEMED FORFEITED.

A.. Proceedings Below:

Appellant concedes that his attorney failed to ask the tria~ court to

give a limiting instruction at the guilt and penalty phases on the hse of

evidence of threat anrlwitness fear evidence. (RB 285.) For reJsons more

fully set forth below, and in the Appellant's Opening Brief, app~llant
asserts this should not bar consideration of the issue on the merits.

B. Appellant's Contention Should Not Be Deemed
Forfeited.

Respondent asserts that trial counsel's failure to request dn
instruction directing the jury on the limited uses of threat and felr evidence

should be a barto this Court's consideration of the issue on the kerits.

Appellant does not disagree with the accuracy of respondent's I

characterization of the general principles offorfeiture and Waiv~r. (RB

286-287; see, People v. Saunders (1993)5 Ca1.4th 580, 590, & fn. 6; United

States v. Olano (1993) 507 U.S. 725, 731 [123 L.Ed.2d 508, 111 S.Ct.

1770].) He. merely asserts that considering the unique facts. Ofttl.iS case, the

claim of instructional error should be addressed on the merits bcause "the
. .

.substantial rights of the defendant were affected thereby." (peoR[' Ie v. Croy,

supra, 41 Ca1.4th at p.l2, th. 6; People v. Chavez (1985) 39 Cal 3d 823,

830.) . . I

Similarly, appellant does not dispute that a defendant's flilure to
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request a clarification instruction will normally forfeit the issue on appeal.

(RB 286, citing People v. Young (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1149, 1202.) Nor does

he dispute the general proposition that defendants bear the burden of

requesting amplifying language if instructions are too general or

incomplete. (RE 286-287, citing People v. Lewis and Oliver, supra, 39

Ca1.3d atp. 991, People v. Guiuan (1998) 18 Ca1.4th 558,570, and People

v. Andrews (1989) 49 Cal.3d200, 218.) However, in this case, the error is

not that the instructions on thre~ts and fear evidence were too general, too

incomplete, or unclear. Here, there were no instructions at all on the

permissible uses for evidence that various people had been threatened by, or

feared retaliation by, appellant or unnamed agents ofthe Mexican Mafia.

A generic instruction on evidence limited as to purpose was given in

the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. But those instructions merely

admonished jurors to obey admonitions previously given regarding the

limited purposes for which evidence was received. (3 CT 1: 772.) Guilt

and penalty phase instructions also included a general instruction on

believability ofwitnesses. (3 CT 1:667, 777.) These generic instructions

were too general to address thejurors'eventual reactions to the fear and

threat testimony. Under the circumstances, this Court should reject

respondent's forfeiture argument, and address the issue on the merits.

C. Appellant's Contention Is Meritorious.

Respondent, anticipating that this Court might chose to address the

merits, argues that the court had no duty to instruct on the limited purposes

for which evidence ofthreats and fear was received. (RE 287.) Appellant

respectfully disagrees. He suggests that this is the rare case in which

evidence of fear and threats played such a dominant role in the
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prosecution's case that the court had a sua sponte obligation to instruct the

jury on the limited lises of the evidence. (People v. Collie. SUP+ 30 Cal.3d

at pp. 63-64; People v. Padilla (1995) 11 Ca1.4th 891,950.) Fear of, and

. express or implied threats by, the Mexican Mafia and its membe~s were the

common threads that ran through the entire case. Evidence of fdar and

threats by the Mexican Mafia was used to explain nearly every Jiece of

evidence presented by the prosecution: the conduct of the VictiJ~; the

conduct ofprosecution and defense witnesses; the conduct oft~I actual
. I

perpetrators of the murders; and, last but not least, appellant's al eged

involvement in the crimes. (See,AOB 217-22L) Such evidenc permeated

the guilt and penalty phases~ Moreover, the court itself elicited orne of the

fear evidence, elevating its salience and status in the minds ofjurors. (See,

Argument XIII, ante; 63 RT 9877,.9880.23
)

For example, the credibility of key prosecution witnesses was

bolstered by evidence that they were testifying despite fear or th eats by

agents of the Mexican Mafia. Witness 14 testified that, original y, he did

not want to testify for fear of being killed. (58 RT 9078.) He aJreed to

testifY truthfully hecause the district attorney promised he woul1 get him

transferred to another prison. (58 RT 9059-9060.) Witness 15 testified that

he had warned his brother (one of the victims) that Shyrock was going to

kill him because he was robbing Mexican Mafia drugconnectio s. (56 RT

8761-8762.) This witness also testified that he, himself, was on the Mafia's

"hit" list. (55 RT 8799.) He reported that while he was injail, fifteen

. I

23 The following colloquy occurr~ during the testimony ~fwitness
17. "TIlE COURT: [~l Q: Were you afraId to say who stabbed OU? [~ A:
Yes, Sir. [~] Q. Okay. And is that because of the gang culture? ['1] A.
Yes."
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attempts to stab him had been made, which he attributed to·appellant's

"people." (56 RT 8833.) Witness 16 testifiedthat Sangra gang members

were going to have him killed for breaking their "code"·and testifying. (57

RT 8925-8926.) Even though several ofwitness 15'sanswers were

stricken pursuant to objections by trial counsel (56 RT 8761-8762, 8833),

during argument, the prosecutor repeatedly emphasized that none ofthe

witnesses would be risking their lives to testify about appellant's

involvement in the murders if their testimony was not true! Witnesses 14,

15 and 16 were at times mentioned by name. (62 RT 9730~9731, 9730­

9731.) For example, in closing the district attorney argued:

You will see it in the jury room. You will see the picture of
[witness no. 16] in the middle with his face scratched out and
"187" written across his chest. [,-r] "187" written across the

. image meaning that he is a marked man. [,-r] Nobody is going
to risk their lives to come and testify about this fellow
[Maciel].

(62 RT 9731.)

A tape-recorded statement was played for the jury in which Torres'

sister, witness 13, expressed reluctance to give evidence due to her fear that

gang members would send someone to hurt her children. (People'sExhibit

74; 57 RT8960.) Witness 13 testified regarding codefendant Torres'

extrajudicial statements, in which Torres claimed he and the other

perpetrators committed the murders under compulsion of the Mexican

Mafia. (8 SCTl:1631; see, Reply, Argument X, ante.) During his

argument to the jury, the district attorney referred to Torres and other

defendants, emphasizing that the perpetrators of the murder would have

been killed themselves had they failed to carry out the orders of the

Mexican Mafia. (62 RT 9663-9664,9669,9724.)
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. Fear of retaliation on the part ofwitnesses played an equl11Y central

role i~ the penalty p~ase. Nath.aniaILan~, the victim of a be~tinr' refused

to testIfY at all. The JUry was told Lane dId not want to come mtr. the

courtroom. (63 RT 9835.) Witness 17, another penalty phase 1itness,

testified that he did not want to testifY against appellant. (63 Ri9876.) He

blurted out in front of the jury that appellant was "sending messrges to [his]

family." (63 RT 9877.) However,there was no admissible evidence .

presented that this was true. During penalty phase closing argu! ent, the

prosecutor repeatedly suggested that keeping appellant alive in I rison

would be handing him a "license to kill." (65 RT 10136.)

At no time during the trial was it explained to the jury that the

evidence of threats or fear, to the extent ~dmissible at all, could not be

considered for the truth of the matter asserted, Le., that threats ad been

made by appellant or agents of the Mexican Mafia or Sangra gang. At no

time did jurors receive instructions that evidence of threats or filar could

only be considered in weighing the credibility of the witnesses I rhearsay

declarants who claimed to have experienced fear or threats.

Respondent does not appear to contest the fact that threats and fear

played a dominant role in the case. (RB 293.) Rather, it is argJed that, in

. similar circumstances, this Court has held that atrial court has Jo obligation

to give instructions without request. (RB 293.) Respondent po nts to

. People v. Sapp, supra, 31 Cal.4th at pp. 300-301, as exemplary. However,

in the Sapp case, there was a single cited instance in which aw' ness

testified that he was afraid of the defendant, not numerous instTces

occurring throughout the trial as occurred here. (Ibid.) This CoUrt held that

it was "neither reasonably possible ... nor reasonably probable ... that the

evidence or its treatment" altered the outcome of the trial. (Id. at p. 301.)
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In Sapp, this Court did not directly address whether in the face of

overwhelming quantities of threat and fear evidence, a trial court would

have the obligation to give limiting instructions without a request.

Respondent also cites People v. Padilla, s¥pra, 11 Ca1.4th at p. 950.

(RB 293.) In Padilla, the issue was the court's failure to instruct on

evidence of the defendant's prior crimes; this is not analogous. This Court

held that there was little danger in Padilla that the evidence would be used

.. for improper purposes, including to show Padilla's "general criminal

disposition." (ld. at p. 950.) Additionally, in Padilla, the defendant's prior

actions were directly relevant to prove the central issue in the case: whether

the perpetrator of a murder had acted on his own, or whether he had been

hired by the defendant to kill the victim. (Ibid.)

In contrast, this case involves evidence ofnumerous vague, alleged

threats to kill, maim or hurt witnesses, and numerous instances in which

witnesses expressed fear of being hurt. Some of the fears and threats were

specifically attributed to appellant; others, were attributed to Shyrock, or

agents of the Mexican Mafia or Sangra gang. The danger was great that the

jury would consider the vague and unsubstantiated evidence of threats and

fear to infer appellant's consciousness of guilt or criminal disposition, or to

attribute to these witnesses knowledge of appellant's dangerous propensity.

The evidence was neither relevant or admissible for such purposes. (United

States v. Young (4th Cir. 2001) 248 F.3d 260,272; People v. Mason (1991)

52 Cal.3d 909, 946-947; see, 56 RT 8705)

Evidence of threats not connected with a defendant should at once be
suspect as ... an endeavor to prejudice the defendant before the jury
in a way which he cannot possibly rebut satisfactorily because he
does not know the true identity of the pretender.

(People v. Weiss (1958) 50 Ca1.2d 535, quoted in People v. Mason, supra,
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52Ca1.3d at p. 946.) _Where such vague and unsubstantiated eJidence is

used to infer consciousness of guilt, a defendant may be convicted in

'violationofthe principles of In re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358l361-365

[25 L.Ed.2d 368,90 S.C!. 1068]; to wit, the Due Process Claus protects

against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doub of every

act necessary to constitute the charged crime.

-D.. The Error Was Not Harmless.

Respondent argues that, even if the Court had a duty to i struct, the

failure to do so was harmless in accordance with the prejudicial error test

embodied in People v. Watson, supra, 46 Ca1.2d at pp. 836-837 Appellant

disagrees; the error cannot be deemed harmless regardless of wmat standard
- - I

~~~. - . I

It is the "essence of sophistry and lack of realism" to pre~ume that,

without a detailed limiting instruction, the jury would have ignred the

overwhelming quantity of fear and threat evidence. (Cf. Peopl, v. Gibson,

supra, 56 Cal.App.3d at p. 130.) The record belies the POSSibilf that the

jurors were not affected. (See, 63 RT 9813 [juror expressing felr of gang

retribution]; 65 RT 10235 [jurors requesting escorts to their car ].) Under
I

the circumstances, there is no conceivable way that the error did not infect

the guiltand penalty phase judgments. (See, AOB 154-158; c~apman v.

California, supra, 386 U.S. 18.)

Respondent asserts, without any discussion, that the "ev~dence of

appellant's guilt was strong, and the nature of the crimes hein0is'''(RB.

295.) The record shows that the contrary is true. Appellant was not present

at the time of the murders. He was undisputedly attending his ~on's '

baptismal party. While several-career criminals -each with clear motives

to fabricate - testified that appellant visited the victims' reside~ce on the
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day of the murders, and met with Palma at his apartment shortly before the

murders, alibi witnesses not burdened by criminal records testified that

appellant was elsewhere when these preparatory events allegedly occurred.

In fact, the evidence against appellant was extremely weak, particularly if

the large quantities ofhighly prejudicial, erroneously received evidence is.

disregarded. (See, AOB and Reply, Arguments I, V, VI, VII, VIII, Xl, X,

XI.)

. Evidence ofthreats and fear would have created an overwhelming

tendency on the part ofjurors to conclude that appellant was predisposed to

commit violent crimes, and/or that he must be guilty of the charged offenses

because, otherwise, there would be no reason for appellant and/or

unidentified associates to threaten harm to so many witnesses. The error is

all the more egregious because it occurred in the context of a death penalty

case. For these reasons, and the reasons more fully developed in the.AOB,

the failure to give an appropriate limiting instruction on the uSe ofthreat

.and fear evidence was not only prejudicial; in addition, it deprived appellant

ofhis right to a fair trial and deprived the death judgment of reliability in

violation of the state and federal constitutions. (Dudley v. Duckworth (7th

Cir. 1988) 854 F.2d 967,972.)

Furthermore, individual errors that may not be so prejudicial as to

deprive the defendant of a fair trial when considered alone may

cumulatively produce a trial that is fundamentally unfair. (Mak v. Blodgett,

supra, 970 F.2d at p. 622; People v. Hill, supra, 17 Ca1.4th at pp.844-845.)

In this case, a wealth of serious errors caused cumulative prejudice; hence,

reversal is required even if the complained of instructional error was not

prejudicial, standing alone.
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XV.

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XV: T E
CONTENTION THAT THE TRIAL COURT IMPRO~ERLY

REFUSED TO INVESTIGATE AND HOLD A HEARING ON THE
ALLEGED VIOLATION OF BRADY ~ MARYLAND(196~)373 U.S.
83 [10 L.Ed. 215, 83 S.Ct.1194] IS MERITORIOUS, AND WAS NOT·

FORFEITED.

A. Proceedings Below:

Appellant's recitation of the proceedings below makes it sound as

though defense counsel's motion was made without reference tl any

supporting evidentiary facts. (RB 296-299.) In fact, at the hearing on

appellant's motion for new tr.ial based onprosecutorial miscon]lc.t grounds

(see 3 CT 1: 833), defense counsel advised the court that, after estifying,

witness 15 had received a sentence of credit for time served in case in

W~Ch he was facing a possible '~ee strikes" sentence 0~25 Y1ars to life in

pnson. (66 RT 10246.) Counsel mformed the court that m 27 ears of

criminal practice, it was the first time that he had seen anybody facing 25

years to life in prison "walk out of court with time served." (66 RT 10246.)

In light of the witness's letter to the sentencing judge, Judge Von, asking

for lenient sentencing, counsel specifically argued that this sUP.Rorted the

inference that the witness had received a quidpro quo for his ti~timony,
despite his denial (56 RT 8811-8814) and denials by the prosecuting

attorneys (66 RT 10247-10248).

B. Appellant's Contention Is Not Forfeited.

. Respondent argues that appel~ant has forfeited the issue by failing to

cite applicable legal authority or evideutiary facts in the court +IOW. The

claim that appellant failed to cite evidentiary facts is specious. The record
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shows that Mr. Esqueda did explain at some length the facts upon which the

claim ofprosecutorial misconduct was based. (66 RT 10247-10249.)

Respondent argues that the issue'ofBrady 'error was perfunctorily

asserted by trial counsel without argumentor authorities, ,and therefore may

be denied without consideration by this Court. (RB 299, citing People v.

Gionis (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1196, 1214, fn. 11, People v. Stanley (2006) 39

Cal.4th 913, 793, and People v. Gonzalez, supra, 126 Cal.AppAth at p.

1543, fn. 3.) In support of the motion for new trial, Mr. Esqueda cited,

section 1181, subsection 5, which permits the granting of a new trial "when

the district attorney ... has been guilty of any misconduct by which a fair

and due consideration ofthe case has been prevented." (3 CT 833.) At '

trial, an objection is sufficient if it fairly apprises the trial court of the issue

it is being called upon to decide. (People v. Scott (1978) 21 Cal.3d 284,

290.) In a criminal case, an objection will be preserved if, despite

inadequate phrasing, the record shows that the judge understood the issue

presented. (Ibid.) In this case, defense counsel's lengthy argument that

prosecutors were hiding evidence showing that witness 15 had received an

extraordinarily lenient sentence in return for his testimony could have left

no doubt in the judge's mindthat counsel was complaining about the

prosecutors' failure to comply with the duty ofdisclosure imposed by Brady

v. Maryland, supra, 373 U.S. 83. (See also, People v. Gutierrez, supra, 112

Cal.AppAth at p.1471, fn. 5.) The error was preserved.

Furthermore, the cases cited in support of respondent's "forfeiture"

argument do not stand for the proposition that the right to appeal an issue is

forfeited when a trial attorney fails to cite specific case law authority in

support of a motion or objection. The Gionis, Stanley and Gonzalez cases

hold that issues may be forfeited by appellate counsels' perfunctory
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treatment on appeal. Appellate counsel has not given this issue perfunctory

treatment. (See, AOB, Argument XV.)

C. The Trial Court Erred By Failing To Provide For IAn
Investigation OfThe Possibility OrA Brady Violation,

Respondent argues that the record fails to support a clai1 of Brady

misconduct. For example, respondent poir~ts out that witness 11was
I

sentenced after the jury reachedits verdicts in the guilt phase 01 appellant's

trial. (RB.302.) Respondent further argues that the record suggests that

the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department lobbied the jUdg1 on witness

IS's behalf, and that the request for leniency was opposed by th€ trial
I

prosecutor in the case. (RB 302.) It is also argl.!-ed that evidenc~is lacking

that the lobbying on the witness's behalfwas contemplated at tJe time trial

was pending in appellant's case. (RB 302-303.) Lastly, respon~ent
contends that there is no evidence the District Attomey's·office had

advance knowledge that the efforts would be undertaken. (RB :303.)

~espondent miss~sthe point. .The trial court neve~mad' any i~quiry
or proVIded an opportumty for a hearmg of the Brady claIm. T,e mohon

for a new trial was denied on the completely specious ground tHat the

motion included "no enumeration or explanation ofthe alleged ~sconduct
of the prosecution whatsoever." (66 RT 10248.) Trial.counsel ras

exceedingly clear about the factual basis for his motion. Plainly, counsel

did not believe it was possible that a career criminal facing "TJee Strikes"

life sentencing could have received a "credit for time served" skntence .

unless there had been an undisclosed bargain r~lating to the wiress's

testimony in the defendants' cases. The court simply disregarded counsel's

argument and failed to hold any inquiry, let alone an adequate ihquiry to
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develop and examine the facts. It is not true that counsel failed to articulate

any factual basis for the motion.

Furthermore, the fact that the trial prosecutor represented to the court

that the deputy district attorney who handled the witness's case had

objected to sheriffs request for lenient sentencing does not rule out the

possibility that the witness testified because of an undisclosed promise of

lenity by some other agent ofthe state. A prosecutor's duty to disclose

impeachment evidence to the accused extends to information known only to

the police or other government agents. (Kylesv.Whitley (1995) 514 U.S.

419,438 [131 L.Ed.2d490, 115 S.Ct.1555]; Giglio v. United States, supra,

405 U.S. 150; Jackson v. Brown (9th Cir. 2008)513 F.3d 1057, 1072.) "A

defendant's opposing party in a criminal proceeding is not the state's

attorney but 'the state' itself." (United States v. Castillo-Basa (9th Cir.

2007) 483F.3d 890, 904.) Impeachment evidence possessed by an agency

of the state is possessed by the state for Brady purposes, even if the state's

attorney has not received it (Ibid.) Even if no specific deal was promised,

. an undisclosed promise by sheriffs department deputies "ofa letter or

phone call, or a vow to use one's best efforts to secure a deal" would be

sufficient to establish a violation ofBrady. (Hovey v. Ayers (9th Cir. 2006)

458 F.3d 892, 919; see also, United States v. Butler (9th Cir. 1978) 567 F.2d

885, 888, fn. 4.)

The facts presented by defense counse1at the hearing of the motion

for new trial established a prima facie case ofBrady error. The prosecutor

conceded that the sheriffs department had successfully urged lenity on

witness 15's behalf shortly after the witness testified against appellant at the

guilt phase trial. The sheriffs department is an arm of the government to

whom the state's obligation of disclosure applies. Under the circumstances,
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the trial court should at least have held a hearing to determine wether there

had been any communication between witness 15 and members ofthe

sheriff's department, or members of the sheriff's department ant the

sentencing court, and if so, to probe the nature of the communic, tion and

when such communication occurred.

D. Assuming Witness 15 Testified Pursuant To An
Undisclosed Promise Of Lenity,The Error Would
Warrant Reversal Of The Entire Judgment.

Respondent devotes considerable argument to explaining why a

Brady violation involving nondisclosure of inducements offered to witness

15 for his testimony could not have affected the outcome of the trial.

(RB303-304.) The argument is disingenuous.

Respondent asserts that impeachment evidence is not "material"

evidence within the meaning ofBrady's disclosurerequirement ~nless the

unimpeached witness provides the only evidence linking the deiendant to

the crime. (RB 303.) This is not the standard employed by reviewing

courts to ass~s the prejudice cause~ by a Brady violation. The ruestion ~s
whether, despIte the prosecutor's mIsconduct, the defendant receIved a trial

"resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence." (Kyles v.Whitleyj supra, 514

U.S. at p. 434.) "'A defendant need not demonstrate that, after fiscounting

the inculpatory evidence in light ofthe undisclosed evidence, there would

not have been enough left to convict. ,,, (Banks v. Dretke (2004) 540 U.S.

668,698-699 [157 L.Ed.2.d 1166, 124 S.Ct. 1256]; internal cita].on .

omitted.)

Contrary to respondent's assertion, witness 15 played a luge role in

appellant's conviction and death sentence. (See, 56 RT 8708-8tsO.) The
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witness testified at length about victim Moreno's history with the Mexican

Mafia, Moreno's relationship with Raymond Shyrock, Shyrock's

relationship with appellant, and appellant's allegiance to the Mexic~n

Mafia. He provided the lion's share of testimony relied upon the People to

establish a motive for the killings ofMoreno and Aguirre. Witness 15

testifiedthat his brother,Moreno, had dropped out of the Mexican Mafia in

1983, making the brother an ongoing Mafia target for murder, and that

Aguirre had incurred the wrath ofthe Mexican Mafia by committing
,

robberies of Mafia drug dealers; He also testified regarding Shyrock's post-

crime extrajudicial statements regarding Aguirre having to pay for

"disrespecting" Shyrock and robbing Mafia connections. (56 RT 8752.)

Additionally, witness 15 was the only witness to place appellant in

the home of the victims on the afternoon before the killings took place. He

testified that appellant suspiciously dropped by the Moreno household and

furnished the occupants some free heroin - evidence which was relied upon

by the district attorney to persuade the jury that appellant had "set up" the

murders for the Mexican Mafia. The district attorney argued that ifnot a

part of a setup, appellant would have to explain: "Why Maciel went to the

crime scene that afternoon other than to prepare the Sangras to commit the

murders [sic]." (62 RT 9672, 9741.) In adqition, witness 15 testified that,

when appellant purportedly visited the victims on the day ofthe murders,

appellant stood facing the partially open sliding glass doors at the rear of

the house. At the time, three children were in the house with victim Maria

Moreno watching television in the living room; two children were in the

back yard playing on the swings. According to witness 15, the children

were visible in the yard from where appellant was standing. (56 RT 8734­

8735, 8738-8739.) From this evidence, the jury was invited to conclude
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that appellant dispatched the assassins to the Moreno home to c mmit

slaughter in callous disregard of the 'children whom he knew wee living

there. ' j
, At trial, witness 15 admitted that he had been in and out f prison on

numerous occasions, andthat he made his living stealing from o~hers to

support his heroin drug habit. This witness acknowledged that Je was

facing a "Three Strikes" sentence of 25 years to life, but insisted that the

"district attorney's office" had given him no help "whatsoever." (56 RT

8712,8813.) He claimed that he was testifying to vindicate the murders of

his four murdered family members, notbecause he had any eXPlctation at

all of obtaining a "deal." (56 RT 8814-8817.) During closing argument the
, I

prosecutor emphasized that witness 15 had been given noihing fi r his

testimony, "absolutelynothing." (62 RT 9727.)

Respondent insists that, even ifa Brady violation occurr d, the error

was not prejudicial. It is asserted that witness IS's testimony m de little

difference in the overall strength of the evidence against appelltt because

his testimony was "corroborated by other evidence linking appellant to the

charged crimes." (RB 303.) This argument conveniently ignorek the facts.

Without wimess 15's testimony, there was only a thin connectio~ barely

any evidence, associating appellant to the undisputed killers: Pa~ma, Torres,

Valdez, Logan and Ortiz. The sole remaining evidence of appellant's ' '

connection to the murders - other 'than guilt by association with Raymond

Shyrock - was (1) witness 14's highly dubious, ever-changing'lnd hotly

contested claim that appellant left in the middle ofhiS, son's ba~tismalparty

, , to meet with Jimmy Palma, and (2) records showing a series of rallS made

from the phones of Sangra gang members to appellant's pager. There was

no other evidence to corroborate witness IS's claim that it was appellant
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who introduced several of the killers to the victims just hours before the

murders.

In In re Miranda (2008) 43 Cal.4th 541, the prosecutor's similarly

withheld from the defense the fact that several prosecution witnesses were .

provided benefits, including favorable dispositions in unrelated criminal

matters, in return for their willingness to testify against the defendant. (Id.,

at p. 546) This Court held that the failure to reveal favorable arrangements

reached with prosecution witnesses violated prosecutors' Brady obligations.

(Id., at p. 577.) Moreover, this Court found prejudice - that there was a

reasonable probability that the outcome of the defendant's trial would have

been different, absenttheBrady violations. (Ibid.)

Ifin fact witness 15 was-promised assistance from members of the

sheriffs department in connection with the "Three Strikes" charges that

were pending, it would have shed an entirely different light on his

uncorroborated testimony that appellant brought Sangra gang members to'

the victims' home justa few hours before the victims were gunned down.

Accordingly, this is ac1assic case in which impeachment evidence could

have made the difference between conviction and acquittal. (Napue v.

Illinois (1959) 360 U.S. 264, 269 [3 L.Ed.2d 1217,79 S.Ct. 1173];

Pennsylvania v. Ritchie (1987) 480 U.S. 39, 51 [94 L.Ed.2d 40, 107 S.Ct.

989].) Assuming appellant's allegation ofa Brady violation is true, one.

cannot "plausibly deny the existence of the requisite 'reasonable probability

of a different result' had the suppressed information been disclosed to the

defense." (Banks v. Dretke, supra, 540 U.S. at p. 703; In re Miranda,

supra,43 Cal.4th 541.)
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PART 2: PENALTY PHASE ISSUES

XVI

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XVI: APPE LANT'S
. . . I

CLAIMS REGARDING JUDICIAL AND PROSECUT I RIAL
MISCONDUCT ARE MERITORIOUS AND SHOULD OT BE

DEEMED FORFEITED.

A. Legal Principles Of Prosecutorial Misconduct:

Appellant does not dispute respondent's hornbook recitation of the

. law gOV~ing prosecutorial miscondu~t claims. Rather, he dis~tes
apphcatlOn of the law to the facts of thIs case. I·

B. Appellant's Prosecutorial Misconduct Claims Sho ld
Not Be Deemed Forfeited.

It is true that trial counsel failed to object to instances of

prosecutorial misconduct during the penalty phase argUinents. I isequally

true that this Court has often held that such claims are forfeited y the

failure to object and request a curative admonition. (RB 310.)

In the AOB, appellant asked this Court to address his prasecutorial

misconduct claims on the merits based on exceptions to the waifer rule.

Because of the court's discourteous and disparaging treatment 0 trial

counsel throughout the trial (see, AOB, ArgUinent XIII), couns I may

reasonably have wished to avoid another confrontation with the court that

might provoke another disparaging commentary. (People v. Stu m, supra,

37 Ca1.4th at p. 1237.) Accordingly, he may reasonably have cliosen not to

object and incur the court's wrath when the prosecutor inaccurafelY

described what it would be like for appellant to spend his life bJhind bars.

(65 RT10133; see, AOB 232-234.) I

In addition, the prosecutor's invitation to jurors to close their eyes
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. and experi.ence the emotionally and physically painful deaths of Maria and

the two children was so inflammatory as to be well beyond the curative

powers of the court. (65 RT 10137-10138; see, People v. Kirkes (1952)39

Ca1.2d 719, 726; Garron v. State (Fla, 1988) 528 So.2d 353,358; see also,

State v. Rhodes (Mo. 1999) 988 S.W.2d 521, 528-529.) Graphically

detailing the crime as ifjurors were victims is regarded as grossly improper

because it can only arouse fear in thejury, unduly infecting the jury's

decision with passion. (State v. Storey (Mo. Bane. 1995) 901 S.W.2d 886,

901.)

In all other respects, arguments in favor of applying an exception to

the waiver rule have been adequately addressed in the AOB and will not be

reiterated here.

C. Appellant's Contentions Regarding Alleged
ProsecutorialMisconduct Should Not Be Dismissed as
Meritless.

Respondent argues that the statements assigned as misconduct were·

well within the "wide latitude" afforded prosecutors during closing

argument. .(RB 311.) Respondent specifically argues that the prosecutor's

argument was proper, insofar as it emphasized appellant's potential to harm

others while in prison. (RB 312.) However, appellant's assignment of

misconduct does not regard the district attorney's arguments focusing on

appellant's behavior in prison. Rather, he asserts that it was misconduct for

the prosecutor to argue, in essence, that, if appellant received a life

sentence, he would be allowed to spend the remainder of his life pleasantly'

amusing himself. (AOB 232-233.)

There was no evidence introduced at either phase of the trial
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regarding conditions in prison under a sentence with life withOj parole.

According to this Court, evidence of the conditions of confine ent that a

defendant will experience if sentenced to life imprisonment wit lOut parole

is "irrelevant to the jury's penalty determination becan.se it doesl not rela.te to

the defendant's character, culpability, or the· circumstances oftJe offense."

(People v. Quartermain (1997) 16 Ca1.4th 600, 632; cf. People l. Mason,

supra, 52 Ca1.3d at pp. 960-961.) It was misconduct for the dislrict attorney

to referto snch facts, to the extent not established by the eVidenfe. (People

v. Hill, supra, 17 Ca1.4th at p. 827; People v. Hall (2000) 82Ca .AppAth

813,816;)

Empirical studies of mock and actual capital jurors have Fhown that

jurors in many states, including California, tend to underestima bthe reality

and severity of a sentence of life .without the possibility ofparo e.

Researchers report that "... despite being told by trial judges i California.

that a life sentence means life without parole, only 18.4% ofth 152 capital.

jurors ... indicated that they believed capital murderers given life

sentence would usually spend the rest of their lives in prison." (Steiner,
I

Bowers & Sarat, Folk Knowledge as Legal Action: Death Penalty

Judgments and the Tenet ofEarly Release in a Culture ofMiI'tr~tand

Punitiveness (1999) 33 Law & Soc. Rev. 461, 499; see also, B9\vers &

Steiner, Death by Default: An Empirical Demonstration ofFal~]e and

Forced Choices in Capital Sentencing (1999) 77 Texas L. Rev. 605, 653,

fn.220.) The prosecutor's reference to an illusionary panoply f

"privileges" (see, AOB 233-234) artificially reinforced misconJeptions

about life imprisOl}1llent held by many capitaljur~rs. The argu~entwas .

misleading, highly prejudicial and would have tipped the senteJcing process

toward a death verdict by implying that life imprisonmentWithfut parole

188

I
I
I
I
·1

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I,



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

was not a real or severe punishment.

Respondent suggests that the comments about prison life were so'

"brief and mild" that they could not have caused any prejudice, standing

alone. (RB 313.) As authority for this proposition, respondent cites People

v. Huggins (2006) 38 Ca1.4th 175,253, in which the prosecutor offered

argument regarding the benefits the defendant would receive under a

sentence of life without parole. In Huggins, this Court did not address the

propriety of the argument. Instead; based on the defendant's lack of an

objection, this Court surmised that Huggins' defense counsel may have

preferred to offer the defendant's "bleak vision of the tribulations attendant

to a lifelong prison sentence than to cut off discussion on the subject by

objecting to the prosecutor's remarks." (Ibid.)

This case is manifestly distinguishable. Here, when defense counsel

attempted to respond to the prosecutor's argument by talking about the dire

conditions of confinement at Pelican Bay Prison (65 RT 10150), the trial·

court interrupted trial counsel, and sustained its own objection based onthe

lack of any evidence showing prison conditions. (65 RT 10151.) Hence,

even assuming appellant's counsel did not object because he intended to

pursue the same strategy that this Court imputed to trial counsel in Huggins,

this strategy was thwarted by the court. The trial court's disparate treatnient

ofprosecution and defense in this instance is among the grounds raised for

asserting judicialmisconduct. (See, AOB and Reply Argument XVI.)

Respondent also refers to People v. Bradford (1997) 14 Ca1.4th

1005, 1063-1064, as support for the proposition that the misconduct, if any,

was mild. However, in Bradford, the alleged misconduct was a

prosecutor's argument regarding the defendant's future dangerousness to

"female guards in prison," despite the lack of evidence that any female
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guards worked in the prison. In Bradford, the defense attorney , bjected,

and ~v~n though the trial court overruled, the objection, the pro+cutor

refrained from any further argument along those lines. Here, the prosecutor

misleadingly told the jury that in prison appellant would have a cess to

·watching television and. movies, reading magazines, visiting the law library

arid having visitors. (65 RT 10133.) When defense counsel tri1dto

respond by painting a more realistic and bleak picture the conditions of
I .

:::~ement (see, AOB 233-234), his argument was Short-cirCU1ited by the

. Respondent also argues that it was not misconduct for th, prosecutor

to invite the jury to experience what the victims were feeling d4ing the

murders. eRE 313.) More specifically, ~espondent asserts that ir was not

misconduct for the prosecutor to resort to reading a passage from Gaylin,

The Killing ofBonnie Gariand, (RB 313.) Appellant is well aiare that this

Court has consistently condoned prosecutors' use ofthisparticu~ar literary

reference in closing argument, to emphasize the absenc~ ofthe JictimS from

the courtroom. (See, People v. Cook, supra, 39 Ca1.4th at P.52J,fn. 8; ,

People v. Clark (1993) 5Ca1.4th 950, 1033-1034, tn. 41; People v.Gurule
'. I

(2002) 28 Ca1.4th 557,658-659, fn. 32; People v. Rowland,suPia, 4 Ca1.4th

at p. 277, fn. 17.) Quoting from Gaylin does not automatically make the

·rest of the prosecutor's argument proper, however. . J .
· Here~ the prosecutor's use of passages from The Killing 'ifBonnie

Garland was preceded by extraordinarilygraphic arguments, subh as asking
. I

the jury to imagine what it felt like to Maria Moreno "when the julIet

exploded in her brain." (65 RT 10137.) The district attorney also invited

. jurors to consider what it felt like for Ambrose Padilla, the babJ, to close
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his eyes in terror and fear, as a bullet passed through his eye~id, and for

Laura Moreno to reach for her mother as het "last act" while she lay dying

on the floor. (65 RT 10137-10138.) This is preGisely the type of

inflammatory argument that so many courts have condemned as improper.

For example in State v. Rhodes, supra, 988 S.W.2d 521, a death judgment

. was reversed where the prosecutor argued, inter alia:

" Try, try just taking your wrists during deliberations and
crossing thym and lay down, and see how that feels
(demonstrating). Imagine your hands are tied up..... [,n
And ladies and gentlemen, you're on the floor, and you're like "
that, with your hands behind your back, and this guy is
beating you. Your nose is broken. Every time you take a
breath, your broken rib hurts. And finally, after you're back'
over on your face, he comes over and he pulls your head back
so hard it snaps your neck ....[~ Hold your breath. For as
long as you can. Hold it for 30 seconds. Imagine it's your last
one.

(Id., at p. 528; see also, State v. Williams (Conn. 1987) 529 A.2d 653, 665,

fn. 13; State v. Combs (Oh.l991) 581 N.E.2d 1071, 1076-1077; Von Dohlen

v. State (S.C. 2004) 602 S.R2d 738, 743-745.)

Respondent cites People v. Wrest (1992) 3 Ca1.4th 1088, ·1107, for

the proposition that it is not misconduct for a prosecutor to exhort the jury

to imagine what is going on in the minds of the victims and to imagine what

impact the defendant's acts had on the victims. Also cited for the same

general proposition is People v. Edwards (1991) 54 Ca1.3d 787, 839. (RB

313.) The' Wrest and Edwards cases do not involve the kind of visually

graphic arguments, painting the victims' imagined agony in detail, that were

used in this case, however. The prosecutor did much more than just ask,

jurors to imagine how the victims must have felt.

As a general rule, this Court has given prosecutors great latitude to
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invite jurors to put themselves in the place of the murder victimJ and

imagineth~ir suffering. (See, e.g., People v. Dykes (2009) 46ial.4th731,

794.) However, even if at the penalty phase of a death penalty frial,·

p~o~ecutors ~ay appeal to jurors t~ view th~ crime through the 1yes of the

vIctim, emotIOn must not be permItted to reIgn over reason. Cohrts have a

. duty. to guard against.prej.UdiciallYemotional argum~nt that inviles an

IrratIOnal, purely subjective response on the part ofJurors. (Peo1le v.

Jackson (2009) 45 Ca1.4th 662, 691; Gardner v. Florida (1977) 430 U.S.

349,358 [51 L.Ed.2d 393,97 S.Ct. 1197].) By asking jurors to imagine in

detail the agonizing physical and emotional sensations experien1ed by the

female victim and children, the prosecutor in appellant's. case crbssed the

line. He effectively invited jurors to decide the sentence based In revulsion

andpity over the fate of these innocents, and to disregard the ve~ tenuous

evidence ofappellant's connections to the crimes. (See, e.g., atrron v.

State, supra, 528 So.2d at pp. 358-359; State v. Kleypas (Kan. 2 01) 40

P.3d 139.) The misconduct was, accordingly, prejudicial.

D. The Legal Principles Governing Judicial Miscond ct:

Respondent concedes that a court commits misconduct i it

.persistentl.y makes discourteous and.disparaging remarks to defjnSe cou.nsel

so as to discredit the defense, or give the impression the court i~lallYing

itselfwith the prosecution. (RE 314.) That is precisely what oCfurred in

this case. The trial court engaged in a pattern of misconduct at the guilt .

phase, including the eight instances described in the AOB, in wJich counsel

was disparaged, and the court appeared to ally itself with the prJsecutor.

(See, AOB 208-211.) At the penalty phase, the court committed

misconduct on several more occasions. (See, AOB 239-244.)·
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E. Appellant's Assignments Of Judicial Misconduct
Should Not Be Treated As Forfeited.

Respondent makes the familiar argument that appellant's claims of

judicial misconduct have been forfeited by trial counsel's failure to object.

(RB 317.) Respondent incorporates by reference the "forfeiture" arguments

advanced in the Respondent's Briefwith respect to appellant's claims of

guilt-phase judicial misconduct. (RB 317.)

Anticipating respondent's waiver arguments, appellant argued in the

AOB the reasons why this Court should address appellant's judicial

misconduct claims on the merits, despite counsel's failure to object. (AOB

215-216,244-245.) Rather than belabor the same points again, appellant

incorporates by reference those arguments, as well as the arguments against

forfeiture made in Argument XIII of this Reply.

F. Appellant's Claims OfPertalty Phase Judicial
Misconduct Are Meritorious.

Respondent argues, alternatively, that the trial court did not commit

any penalty phase misconduct. (RB 317.) First, it is asserted that the trial

court was within its discretion to impose reasonable limits upon counsel's

argument referring to the deprivations appellant would suffer at Pelican Bay'

Prison. (RB 317.) Respondent ignores the substance of appellant's

complaint. The trial court allowed the prosecutor - despite a lack of

evidence -- to tell the jury that appellant would have access to "basketball,

wei~hts, television, movies, magazines, law library, [and] visiting

privileges" while in prison. (65 RT 10133.) When counsel attempted to tell

the jury that, au ,Contraire, appellant would be isolated in his cell for 23

hours a day, the court immediately interrupted him, told the jury this was
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"not always the case," and that counsel's statements did not quaFfy as

evidence. (65RT 10151.) It is the conTt's discriminatory treamfnt of

defense counsel that amounts to m5sconduct. (AOB 240.) I

. Respondent argues that it was improper for trial counsel to comment

on the ~eCUrity c~nditions at Pelican Bay prison, because such ,atters ate

not JudIcIally notIceable, and are drawn from "common knowledge." (RB

317.) Again this misses the point. The court did not sustain its rwn .
objection when the prosecutor talked about prison conditions for life

. prisoners. Honly did so when Mr. Esqueda raised the subject o} conditions

mpnson.

Moreover, the prosecutor devoted much of his penalty pliase

argu~entto discussing prior violent acts committed by appellaJt while he

was confined in county jail. (65 RT 10133-10135.) The distriC{ attorney .

argued that "custody does not inhibit this man." (65 RT 10134.1 He further

asked jurors to imagine whether they would want their sons, daJghters,

. husbands or wives working "anywhere near this man ifhe is seJtenced to

life imprison." (65 RT 10136.) He asserted that imposing a lifJ sentence

would be granting appellant "a license to kill." (65 RT 10136.) Conditions

of confinement in a county jail are far different from a maximu security

prison. In all fairness, defensecounse1 should have been given

respond by arguing that appellant, if confined in a cell for 23 h urs a day,

would not behave as he allegedly did in the county jaiL (Peopl. v. Mason,

. supra, 52 Cal.3d at pp. 960-961; cf. People v. Quartermain, sU1ra, 16

Cal.4th at p. 633.) .

Respondent argues that it was not misconduct for the judge to .

int~rrupt to correct defense counsel's alleged misstatement of tJe law when
I

he argued that the "United States Supreme Court has held that the death

194

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I'
I
I
I
I
I

penalty is not cruel and unusual punishment because the jury has unbridled .

discretion to select the appropriate penalty." (65 RT 10143.) Underlying.

respondent's argument is the assumption that sentencing juries may not

exercise "unbridled" discretion. (RB 3J8.) In fact, in California, once a

defendant has been determined by the jury to be a member of the class made
I

.eligible for the death penalty by statute, the jury is given "unbridled

discretion" to impose a life or death sentence. (People v. Moon (2005) 37

CalAth 1,41; People v. Vieira (2005) 35 Cal.4th264, 303; California v.

Ramos (1983) 463 U.S. 992 [77 L.Ed.2d 1171, 103 S.Ct. 3446].)

Accordingly, there was no reason to interrupt trial counsel to "correct" a

misstatement of the law.

Respondent also argues that the trial court's momentary interruption

to correct defense counsel was not discourteous or disparaging; nor did it

indicate bias, or suggest that the court was allying itself with the

prosecution. (RB 318.) Appellant disagrees. The tone of the court was

extremely disparaging. "I hate to interrupt,but I will, however, when

counsel misstates the law. You do not have unbridled discretion to do

whatever you feel like on a whim...." (65 RT 10143-10144.) The court

could have called Mr. Esqueda to the bench, and invited him to explain or

clarifY the alleged "misstatement," and/or politely informed the jury that its

discretion should be guided by the factors enumeratedin the instructions.

Instead, the judge assumed the typically disrespectfully and demeaning

attitude toward counsel that he demonstrated many other times during the

trial. (See, AOB 208-211.)
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G. The Cumulative Effect Of The Errors Underminell
The Fairness Of The Trial And The Reliability Of Thf
Resulting Death Judgment. . I

Without reference to specific instances ofprosecutorialir judicial

misconduct, respondent seeks to paint judicial and prosecutorial misconduct

as harmless by (1) ignoring its effect on the jury, and (2) disreg rding the

pattern ofbehavior audits cumulative harm over the course of1Ppellaut's

trial. (RB 319.) It suffices to say that the prosecutor's entreaty to jurors to

experience the deaths ofMaria Moreno and the children inflam, d the jury's

passions, creating a climate in which the jury could not have di passionately

weighed the aggravating circumstances against mitigating factors. One

indication of this is the fact that the jury returned a verdict findihg appellant

guilty of intentionally causing the death of five-year-old Laura ~oreno, and

used that murder count in finding the multiple murder special c~rcumstance

allegation true, even after the prosecutor had conceded in gnilt thase

argument the absence of evidence proving that appellant intended to cause
I

the death of either ofthe children. (3 CT1: 719, 738-739; 62 Rf 9660.)

Secondly, the court diminished counsel's credibility in tHe eyes of

the jury b: andibly SCO~ding him abo~tthe absence oflaw, or f+ts, to

support hIS arguments In favor of a lIfe sentence. (People v. Fufge (1994) 7

Cal.4th 1075, 1109.) Unfortunately, similar disparaging treatment occurred

many times during the guilt phase of the trial, having cumulati ely

detrimental impact on the jury's view of defense counsel and t, s of his

client at both phases of the trial. (People v. Sturm, supra, 37 Cil.4th 1218.)

The prosecutor's inaccurate assertion - that Maciel, ifnot executed,

would enjoy a lifetime of basketball, weights, television, movi+

magazines, law library, and visiting privileges - was left unCOl,ected.
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Conversely, jurors were forcefully and inaccurately admonished that it was

untrue that if imprisoned for life, Maciel would live in isolation for 23

hours per day. (People v. Hill, 17 Ca1.4th at 827-828.) Jurors would have

been left with the impression that the penalty of life without parole

. amounted to no punishment at all, rather than death in prison after years of

isolation and deprivation. The trial court's disparate treatment of

prosecution and defense irreparably distorted the penalty phase

deliberations, depriving appellant of a fair trial and a constitutionally

reliable death judgment. (See, United States v. Young, supra, 86 F.3d 944.)

Furthermore, failure by the trial court to rein in erroneous and

emotion-laden prosecution arguments while directly rebuking defense

.counsel for allegedly arguing unproven prison conditions and "incorrect"

legal principles resulted ina lopsided process. The jury's attention was

improperly focused on emotional aggravation, despite considerable doubt

regarding appellant's individual culpability; Prosecutorial and judicial

misconduct thus skewed the weighing process in violation of appellant's

. right to a rational, non-arbitrary sentencing decision. (Ibid.)

Additional reasons why the misconduct was not harmless are more

fully explained in the AOB. Arguments discussing prejudice caused by

judicial and prosecutorial misconduct are incorporated by reference rather

than repeated in full again here. (See, AOB 215-216, 246-247.)

197



XVII

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XVII: APP LLANT'S·
CONTENTION THAT THE TRIAL COURT IMPROrERLY

DENIED HIS REQUEST TO EXCUSE JUROR NO. 2 FO~ CAUSE IS

,MERITORIOUS AND, ,SHOULD NOT BE DEEMED For'FElTED.

A. Proceedings Below:

The proceedings below are adequately summarized in the AOB,

Argument XVII, ~t pages 248-249. Ii s~ffices to say lhat trial crunseJ

moved to excuse Juror 2 for cause after It was revealed that the juror was

. acquainted through his employment with two penalty phase prokecution

witnesses, Deputies Poindexter and Looney. Juror 2 worked oj the same

shift, and occasionally ate lunch with the deputies in the cafeter~a at the Los

Angeles County Jail. The trial court denied the motion to excuJe juror 2,

but indicated lhat trial counsel could "reopen" if counsel had +ing he

wanted the court to "read." (63 RT 9831-9832.) Counsel never moved to

"reopen."

B. The Issue Should NotBe Deemed Forfeited By Trial
Counsel's- Failure To Move To Reopen.

Respondent asserts that appellant forfeited his right to a peal from

the denial of the motion to excuse juror 2 because his trial attorney did not

take the trial court up on its offer to "reopen" the matter. (RB ~22.) Cases

cited by respondent to support this contention are inapplicable. Not a single.

one of the cited authorities addresses forfeiture in the context of a mid-trial
I

motion to excuse a juror for cause.

. In People v. Panah (2005) 35 Cal.4th 395,436 (RB 322), the court

appointed two psychiatrists to examine lhe defendant after he +tered a not

guilty by reason of insanity plea. Defense counsel asked for a t ird

198

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I'
I



I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

psychiatrist to be appointed because the defendant had refused to cooperate

with the fIrst two. The court denied the request without prejudice to renew

the motion. The defendant did not renew the motion and ultimately·

withdrew his. insanity plea.· On· appeal, .the defendant asserted that the

refusal to appoint a third mental health expert was error. This Court held

that the defendant's unjustifIed refusal to· cooperate with the fIrst two

psychiatrists did not require the court to appoint another expert. (Id. at p.

436.) It is diffIcult to see how Panah supports fInding a waiver of the issue

. in this case.

InPeoplev. Davenport (1995) 11 Ca1.4th 1171 (RB 323), a

defendant moved to quash the entire jury venire on the ground that Hispanic

jurors were underrepresented. Rather than litigate the motion alone, the

defendant asked to have his motionjoin~d with a similar motion pending in

another case. Because the other case was not going to be ready for a

hearing on the venire challenge until after the date that the defendant's case .

was set for trial, the court denied the motion to join. The court did so

without prejudice to renew the joinder motion, in the event that the

defendant's case had to be continued for some other good cause.

Defense counsel n Davenport never pursued his motion to quash the

venire, nor did he renew his motion to join the other defendant's venire

challenge at a later date. Nevertheless, the defendant's trial did not

commence for nearly three years. On appeal, the defendant asserted, as a

ground for reversal, denial ofhis right to a jury trial drawn from a fair

cross-section of the community due to the underrepresentation ofHispanic

.jurors. Not surprisingly, this Court found no abuse of discretion on the part

ofthe trial court in denying without prejudice the defendant's motion to

continue. (Id. atpp. 1195-1196.)
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This case is clearly distinguishable from the facts of the . avenport

case. Here, there was no motion to continue and no motion to j

defendant's motion to challenge either a juror, or the entire jury venire.

Rather; defense counsel made an unequivocal motion to dismiss juror 2 for

cause based on the juror's disclosure of a potentially biasing relltionsrup

with two penalty trial witnesses. The court unequivocally deniJd the

motion, leaving room to reopen only in the event counsel had a1ditional

evidence to offer.

Two of the cases cited by respondent on the forfeiture issue do not

even address the issue of forfeiture. In People v. Gurule, supral28 Ca1.4th

at pp. 613-614 (RB 323), the defendant moved to strike a witneks's

testimony. The court denied the motion, saying the motion was premature

because the prosecution had not yet finished its presentation offhe case, and

it was possible that the relevance of the witness'stestimony WOrld be

established by evidence yet to come. The court left the door oPFn for the

defense to renew the motion to strike, if there was insufficient dvidence

presented to link the defendant to the testimony. This Court neter

addressed the Attorney General's forfeiture argument, but rathf, ruled on

the merits that the court had broad discretion to determine the relevance of

the evidence

People v. Catlin (2001) 26 Ca1.4th 81 (RB 323), involvT a chain-of­

custody objection. The defendant objected to expert opinion testimony
. I

based on the lack of testimony establishing a complete chain-off-custody.

The motion was denied. The defendant did not renew his motitn again

after several more chain-of-custody witnesses testified. In Catyn, this

Court did not address the Attorney General's forfeiture argument. Rather,

the Court rejected on the merits the d~fendant's chain-of-custo~y a;rgument
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raisedon appeal. (Id. at pp. 133-134.)

InPeople v. Hinton, supra, 37 Ca1.4th at p. 860 (RE 323), appellant.

alleged that the trial court, during jury voir dire,had erred in refusing to

excuse sixjurors for cause. However, the defendant had only challenged

one of the six jurors for cause at trial. This Court held that the defendant

failed to preserve his appellate challenge to five of the six allegedly biased

jurors. Regarding the sixth juror, this Court held that the defendant had

failed to preserve the issue on appeal since he still had 12 unused

peremptory challenges available when he accepted thejury. (Ibid.)

These cases bear so little resemblance to the circumstances presented

in appellant's case that the reader may well be forced to wonder why the

Attorney General bothered to cite them. Here, the narrow issue is whether

the trial court erred indenying appellant's motion to excuse juror no 2 for

cause. The court conducted a hearing and ruled on the motion. Counsel

could have renewed his motion to dismiss juror 2, but doing so would have

been futile unless based on some additional evidence. Respondent's

repeated invocation of the concept of forfeiture is mere ritual and beside the

point of appellant's contention here.

C. The Trial Court Erred In Denying Appellant's Motion.

Respondent asserts that the trial court did not error in refusing to

excuse juror 2 for cause. (RE 323-327.) Appellant disagrees, and

respectfully suggests the Court will find little support for respondent's

position in cases cited in the RB.,

Respondent cites People v. Ledesma (2006) 39 Ca1.4th 641,668~670

(RB 323-324), and argues that the case involves a substantially similar

claim which was rejected by this Court. The facts of Ledesma are not like
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those presented here. Ledesma arises in the context of a challe ge for cause

advanced during jury voir dire. The defense attorney challenge I apanelist

because he worked in th~ main jail and was a~are that the def,dant was in

custody there. Both partIes stipulated that the Juror could be ex~used for

cause but the court refused to, excuse him: The trial court's exeJcise of

discretion was upheld onappeal.

Without explaining the relevance of the cases, responde1t also relies

on People v. Bradford (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1229, 1336, and Peoplt v. Valdez

(2004) 32 Cal.4th 73, 121. Both ofthese cases reject claims thdt defendants

were prejudiced by revelations that the defendant was in custodt during

trial. The common thread running through the Ledesma, BradfJrd and

Valdez cases appears to be that a defendant is not necessarily ptjUdiCed

when jurors learn of a defendant's custodial status during trial. But in none

of these cases did a trial court refuse to excuse ajuror acquaintJd with key

prosecution witnesses, as the court did here. . J
People v. Farnam (2002) 28 CaiAth 107, 132, is cited fo{ the general

proposition that a trial court's decision will be accepted on app€al if the

record shows that a juror has given conflicting or ambiguous stltements.

(RB 323.) Appellant does not quarrel with this general Princip1le, only with

its application to the facts of this case.

In Farnam, the defendant appealed the trial court's denil1 of a .

motion to excuse several jurors for cause based on their pro-delth penalty

bias. This Court rejected the claim on appeal, primarily becaule the

defendant had accepted the jurors and alternates while he had +veral

. unused peremptory challenges remaining. (Id., at p. 133.) Ad1ressing the

merits of the bias claim, this Court found the trial court's decision not to
.. ... I
excuse the panelists was supported by the record. (Id., at p. 134\..) Farnam
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bears no similarity to this case; Farnam did not involve jurors who work

. with, and sometimes·dine with penalty phase witnesses.

People v. Kaurish (1990) 52 Cal.3d 648, 675, is mentioned for the

general proposition that "qualifications ofjurors challenged for cause are

matters within the trialcourt's discretion that are seldom disturbed on

appeal." (RB 327.)· As a general principle, this may be true. However,

Kaurish nevertheless provides little guidance with respect to this case; that

case arose in the context of a defendant's challenge for cause to a juror who

made conflicting statements about her attitude toward police witnesses

during voir dire. The Kaurish case did not involve a juror acquainted with

trial witnesses, but rather a juror with relatives employed in law

enforcement who were not involved in the defendant's case.

Respondent cites People v. Holt (1997) 15 Cal.4th 619,655,

seemingly for the point that an excusal for cause is only appropriate if the

juror's relationship to the case suggests "emotional involvement" in the

case. (RB 325.) In Holt, the trial court dismissed a prospective juror after

she revealed that she had a lawsuit pending against the district attorney.

The juror denied that the lawsuit would affect her ability to be impartial.

Defense counsel acquiesced; and did not voice any objection when the court

decided to excuse the panelist. On appeal, Holt challenged the dismissal for

cause, arguing that he was denied a juror with scruples about the death

penalty who was otherwise qualified to be seated. (Ibid) This Court

rejected the contention on the merits, and also based on defense counsel's

failure to assert in the trial court that the dismissal would deny him a death­

penalty scrupled juror.

The differences between this case and the circumstances presented in

Holt are obvious. Holt does not involve a court's refusal to excuse a juror
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who admits having a significant acquaintance with two. material penalty

phase witnesses. Moreover, ifHolt has any significance for thi case ataU,

it is to confirm that ajuror's denial ofbias is not necessarily bintling on a

trial courtwhen ruling on a motion to excuse fot cause. (See, p10ple v.

Tidwell (1970) 3 Cal3d 62, 72 [a juror's claim that he has the aiility to be

impartial "is of course not conclusive."].) The reasons for this Jre obvious.

"Bias can be revealed by a juror's express admission oftLt .
fact, but, more frequently, jurors are reluctant to admit a~tual
bias,. and the r.eality of their biased attitudes must be revealed
by circumstantial evidence."

(United States v. Allsup (9th Cir. 1977) 566 F.2d 68, 71.)

In United States v. Allsup, supra, two prospective jurors jeVealed

that they worked for one ofthe banks that the defendant was charged with

robbing. The jurors did not work in the same branch that had brU robbed.

The trial court denied the defendant's motion to excuse the prospective

jurors for cause upon obtaining assurances from the panelists thlt they

would be able to decide the case fairly despite their employmenJ.

Thereafter, the defense attorney used up two ofhis peremptory dhallenges

to excuse these jurors.

The Ninth Circuit Court ofAppeals held that the trial cOirt erred by

denying the motion to excuse the bank employees for cause. (Id., at p. 71.)

The reviewing court explained:

The potential·for substantial emotional involvement,
adversely affecting impartiality, is evident when the
prospective jurors work forthe bank that has been robbe1.
Persons who work in banks have good reason to fear bank
robbery because violence,or the threat ofviolence, is a ·1

frequent concomitant of the offense....The employmen~
relationship coupled with a reasonable apprehension of
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violence by bank robbers leads us to believe that bias of those
who work for the bankrobbed should be presumed.

(Id., at pp. 71-72.)

Respondent seeks to distinguish the Allsup case from appellant's

case, referring to the absence of any apparent "emotional involvement"

. stemming from the juror's acquaintance with the two deputy-witnesses. In

fact, the circumstances of this case are more similar to the Allsup case than

different.

Deputy Poindexter testified about an incident in the jail, in which

appellant used a spear to stab another inmate in the stomach. (63 RT 9890- ­

9897.) Deputy Looney testified abouta different incident in the jail, in

which appellant was strip-searched and stabbing instruments known as

"shanks" were found hidden in his thong sandals. (93 RT 9898-9903.)

Both incidents involved acts ofviolence or potential violence. Juror 2

claimed a "close personal knowledge" ofthe deputies, because both worked

the same shift as the juror worked doing "general maintenance." (63 RT

9828.) The juror admitted he had "had lunch with [Poindexter and Looney]

in the same cafeteria," although he denied discussing appellant's case with

them.- (63 RT 9828-9829.) .

Just as jurors who work in a bank that is robbed "have good reason

to fear bank robbery," a maintenance worker whose job takes him into

"every area of every floor of every module"24 of a jail, has reason to fear

violence at the hands of inmates who are incarcerated there. In a real sense,

in this case, Deputies Poindexter and Looney were directly responsible for

24 During voir dire,juror 2, while still a prospective juror, indicated
that he worked in "every area of every floorofevery module" of the jaiL
(52 RT 8011.)
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the safety ofjuror 2, as their jobs apparently included keeping tJe jail free

of contraband and weapons that could be used to hurt other inmltes or jail

staff. Under suchcircumstances, the potential for "substantial ebotional

involvement, adversely affecting impartiality" was even greater han it was

in the case of the bank employees in the Allsup case. In Allsup, ersonal

acquaintanceships were not even involved; the jurors merely wlked for, a

different branch of the same bank that 'was robbed. Here, the juror who was

not excused for cause worked in the same jail facility on the sJe shift, and

occasionally shared lunch with deputy-witnesses in the same cateterial

Respondent quotes the entirety ofCode ofCivil proced1e section

229, and argues that juror 2 did not meet any of the statutory griunds for

finding "implied bias" as defined by the statute. (RB 325-327, ~.116.)

Respondent too narrowly construes the statutory language. A cllallenge for

cause may be taken ifthejuror evinces "enmity against, or bias Lwards,
I .

either party." (Code ofCiv. Proc., § 229, subd. (t).) Disqualifying bias

should be presumed, as in Allsup, where the juror works in a PI~be where

alleged acts of violence by the defendant have occurreq., and the juror might

have a reasonable apprehension that he could be victimized in t e work

place by similar acts of violence. (United States v. Allsup, suprA, 566 F.2d

at p. 71.)

In this case, the fact that juror 2 worked alongside two important

penalty phase witnesses - deputies charged with the responsibilr of

keeping other inmates and jail employees safe who witnessed alleged acts

ofviolence by appellant - infected the whole process ofpenalty

adjudication. (People v. Williams (1989) 48 Ca1.3d 1112, 1130; accord:

People v. Tidwell, supra, 3 Cal:3d at p. 74.) Appellant was den1ed his right

to a fair penalty trial by a panel of impartial, indifferent jurors. (Turner v.
. . I
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Louisiana (1965)379 U.S. 466, 470 [13L.Ed.2d 424,85 S.Ct. 546].)

Additionally, although juror 2 denied bias, it is noteworthy that the

court's supposed "inquiry" to uncover bias consisted of fewer than 10

extremely leading questions, taking up fewer than three transcript pages.

(63 RT 9828-9830.) The questioning ofjuror 2 strongly hinted thatthe

juror would not be excused so long as he had not had any "social" contact

with the deputies, and had not overtly discussed the merits of appellant's

case. (63 RT 9829-9829.) Under this type of questioning, it is extremely

unlikely that juror 2 would have confessed any bias, or any inclination to

give the deputies' testimony greater weight. (United States v.' Allsup, supra,

566 F.2d at p. 71.) "Often such predilections are consciously not evident

even to the one possession them and cannot be uncovered by ... general

questioning ..." (Commonwealth v. Klaspy (Penn. 1991) 616 A.2d 1359,

1362.)

In another context, initial voir dire, courts have insisted that when

jurors may harbor bias, in':depth questioning is essential to ferret out "deep

seated prejudices they might harbor." (Ibid.) As the United States Supreme

Court commented in Morgan v. Illinois (1992) 504 U.S. 719 [119 L.Ed.2d

492, 112 S.Ct. 2222], general, leading questions -like those asked of the

trial court here - may allow a juror to attest "in all truth and candor" to their

"fairness and impartiality" even though they harbor a bias inconsistent with

impartial judgment in a particular case, because the "specific concern"

which is the root of the bias was left "unprobed." (Id., at p. 735.) In this

case, the effect ofjuror 2's employment was just such a "specific concern."

The court's few leading questions were hopelessly insufficient to provide

any assurance of his impartiality.

For these reasons, in addition to the reasons previously set forth in
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the AOB, the judgment must be reversed. (AOB 248-250.).
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.XVIII.

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XVIII: THE TRIAL
COURT ERRED BY REPLACING JUROR 1 WITH AN

ALTERNATE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL.

A. Proceedings Below:

.The objections, motions, and rulings pertaining to this argument

have been adequately summarized in the AOB, Argument XVIII, at pages

251-256, and in the RB, Argument XVIII, atpages 328-338.)

B. The Trial Court Erred By Dismissing Juror 1 Based
On Her Stated Inability To Deliberate During The Penalty
Phase Of The Trial.

.Since respondent begins its response with a discussion ofthe

applicable standard of review (RB 338-339), appellant will do the same. In

People v. Wilson (2008) 44Ca1.4th 758, this Court recently discussed the

standard of review applicable when a trial court decides to remove a juror

pursuant to section 1089.

Although we have previously indicated that a trial court's
decision to remove a juror pursuant to section 1089 is
reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion (see, e.g., People
v. Leonard [(2007) 40 Ca1.4th 1370, 1409]), we have since
clarified that a somewhat stronger showing that what is
ordinarily implied by that standard of review is required.
Thus, ajuror's' inability to perform as a juror must be shown
as a "demonstrable reality" (People v. Cleveland (2001) 25
Ca1.4th 466,474 ..., which requires a "stronger evidentiary
showing than mere substantial evidence" (id. at p. 488 (conc.
opn.ofWerdeger.». As we recently explained in People v.
Barnwell (2007) 41 Ca1.4th 1038, 1052 ... "To dispel any
lingering uncertainty, we explicitly hold that the more
stringent demonstrable reality standard is to be applied in
review ofjuror cases. That heightened standard more fully

209



reflects an appellate court's obligation to protect a
defendant's fundamental rights to due process and to a :6 ir ..
trial by an unbiased jury."

(People v. Wilson, supra, at p. 821 ; parallel citations omitted.) t is clear

. from this Court's discussion in Wilson that the "demonstrable r ality" .

standard requires considerably more stringent review than for ,,1buse of .

discretion." . l .
Respondent cites People v. Cleveland, supra, 25 Ca1.4th 66, for the

proposition that discharge is proper if the trial court finds as a [ .

"demonstrable reality" that the juror has become physically or e· otionally

unable to continue to serve as ajuror. (RB 339.) Appellant resJectfully

suggests that this C~urt should apply the even more stringent stJrtdard of

review used by the federal circuit courts in United States v. Sym}ngton·(9th

Cir. [999) [95 F.3d 1080, [087, and United States v. Brown (D'F' Cir.

1987) 823F.2d 591,596. Pursuant to those cases, if the record suggests

"any reasonable possibility that the irnpetns for a juror's disrnisr sterns

from the juror's views on the merits ofthe case, the court must rtot dismiss

the juror." (People v. Cleveland, supra, 25 CalAth at p. 48 [, q+ting

United States v. Symington, supra, at p.l087.) "[O]therwise, 'tferightto a .

unanimous verdict would be illusory.'" (People v. Cleveland, sJrra, 25

Ca1.4th at p. 481, quoting United States v. Brown, supra, at p. 5r6.)

Appellant recognizes that this Court has thus far refused to adopt the

rule applied in the federal Brown and Symington cases. (See, pJoPle v.

Cleveland, supra, 25 Ca1.4th at p. 484.) Appellant asks that !hi] co.urt

reconsider its decision not to do so.

In this case, the circumstances suggest a reasonable possj'bility that

. juror 1 harbored doubts about the sufficiency of the evidence to support a
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deathjudgment. At one point, she actually told the court her opinion was

leaning toward imposing a life sentence. (65 RT 10178;· see als065RT

10173 ["I don't know if I can make, like, the right decision."]; 65RT 10166

["His life is depending on me."],) Her responses, rather than indicating a

refusal to deliberate~ show a juror struggling to do exactly that - make a

wrenching decision.

In addition, this juror came forward to express her qualms not long

afterpenalty phase deliberations had begun. The jury began deliberating at

1:30 p.m. on February 4, 1998. (65 RT 10156.) Jurors recessed at 4 p.m.

and began deliberating again at 9 a.m the next day. (65 RT 10162-10163.)

At 2: 16 p.m., shortly after the jury's hour-and-a-half lunch recess, the court

was advised that juror 1 wanted to address the court about her emotional

distress during deliberations. (65 RT 10163-10164.) At this point, the jury

had only been deliberating about penalty for fewer than six hours, although

testimony had been taken for 15 days over a three-and-a-halfweek period.25

Juror 1 stated she wanted to be excused at the beginning of deliberations ­

"while everybody is not really started on it yet" (65 RT 10166) - due to her

trepidation about her ability to make the right decision on a life or death

issue. The juror stated she had begun feeling anxious during the lunch hour .

the previous day, even before deliberations had actually started. (65 RT

10167.) The onset of anxiety about imposing a death verdict is

"understandable given the consequences of [such a] vote." (People v.

Bennett (2009) 45 Ca1.4th 577,623.)

Even if the "demonstrable reality" test is applied, the record does not

establi~hjuror l'sunwillingness or inability to perform the functions ofa

25 Testimony was taken in 1998 on January 13, 14, 15, 16,20,21,22,
23,26,27,28,29,30, and February 2 and 3.
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juror as a "demonstrable reality." The juror admitted nervous te sion,

confusion, and a tendency to be swayed by the arguments of oth rs; at no

time, however, did she say she would not continue deliberating, nor did she

say she would not try to follow the court's instructions. In fact, in response

to a court question about her ability tounderstand the instructiof' juror 1

said that the other jurors had broken down the instructions for her, which

.. had "helped make things clearer." (65 RT 10175.)

Even when the court asked a series of leading questions tratseemed

directed at getting the juror to articulate legal grounds for dischrge, the

juror continued to equivocate. She said she did not "think" she bould

decide the issue based on a weighing of aggravating circumstanles and do .

so -in the court's words - "clear-headedly," or she did not "beteve" she

could decide the issue based on a "rationaland clear headed" wtghing of

aggravation and mitigation. (65 RT 10176, 10177.)· Asked if sJe had a

doubt about this, the juror still did not answerdirectly. Rather, ~he said all
... I

she could feel was the "toll" it was taking on her. (65 RT 10176.) She was

having difficulty keeping her mind from "wandering" while shel was at

work. (65 RT 10176.)

Despite respondent's lengthy quotation ofthe record (R J28-338), .

that record does not suggest that the juror was incapable of deli~erating,or

would refuse to deliberate at all. From the questions and answe~i as a

whole, it appears that the juror was expressing doubt about the 1egree to

which her deliberations would be "rational" and "clear-headed.' Given that

this juror had been exposed to a highly graphic and emotionally evocative

portrait ofthe victims' last moments as imagined by the prosec tor (see,

Argument XVI, A), such a reaction was to be expected. "The circumstance

that a juror does not deliberate well or relies upon faulty logic 0
1 analysis
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does not constitute a refusal to deliberate and is not aground for discharge."

(People v.· Cleveland, supra, 25 Ca1.4th at p. 485, cited with approval in

People v. Wilson, supra, 44 Ca1.4th at p. 824; United States v. Symington,

supra, 195 F3d at pp. 1084-1087 [error to discharge juror whose age

appeared to be in mid-70s merelybecause other jurors claimed she was

confused and unfocused during deliberations].)

Furthermore, at the penalty phase ofa capital trial, the jury's

.function is inherently moral and normative, not factual. It was up to juror 1

to rely on her own life experience to inform the life or death judgment.

(People v. Wilson, supra, 44 Ca1.4th at pp. 829-830.) The fact that juror 1

was finding it very difficult to choose the penaltyofdeath because ofher

youth and inexperience, or other personal factors, did not make her

incapable ofcontinuing as a juror. (People v. Stewart (2004) 33 Ca1.4th

425,446-447; see United States v. Symington, supra, at pp.1084-1087.)

As discussed above, proper grounds for removing a
deliberating juror include the refusal to deliberate. The
refusal to deliberate consists of a juror's unwillingness to
engage in the deliberative process; that is, he or she will not
participate in discussions with fellow jurors by listening to
their views and by expressing his or her own views.
Examples of refusal to deliberate include, but are not limited
to, expressing a fixed conclusion at the beginning of
deliberations and refusing to consider other points ofview,
refusing to speak to other jurors, and attempting to separate
oneselfphysically from the remainder ofthe jury.

(People v. Cleveland, supra, at p. 485.) That did not occur here.·

Cases cited by respondent as supportive ofthe trial court's exercise

ofdiscretion are distinguishable from this case. (RB 339.) Many of the

cases involve acts of misconduct by jurors, not mere emotional disability

caused by anxiety about choosing penalty. (See, e.g., People v. Ledesma,
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supra, 39 CaL4th atpp. 742;.,743 [disobedience to court order nit to discuss

;::~;::.o~~::~~a~;::)(:o~:::~~~;::::~:;::r~ ::J::;a~~:~t .

ofprior criminal charges].) Others involve outright refusals to 1eliberate or

follow instructions. (People v. Williams (2001) 25 CaL4th 441,447.)

Cases are also cited by respondent which affirm a trial court's eKerciseof

discretion to retain jurors over defense objection. (See, e.g., Pebple v.

Marshall, supra, 13 CaL4th at pp. 844-846.) I

. One ofthe cited cases involves a trial court's exercise o~discretion
to excuse a juror for job-related anxiety. (People v. Fudge, supra, 7 CaL4th

at pp.1098-1099.) In that case, however, immed.iately after a c9nversation

with her employer, the juror said that anxiety over her job situa~ionwould

affect her ability to deliberate in the case. In appellant's case, tle dismissed

juror said that weight of the life or death decision was making il difficult to

concentrate at work, not that anxiety over her job was making it difficult to

deliberate.

One case cited by respondent involves a juror who could! not

concentrate. (Mitchell v. Superior Court (1984) 155 caLAPp.3h 624.) .

Even this case is distinguishable from appellant's case. In Mitfell, during

a burglary trial, a juror was exposed to the comments of a pros~ective juror

who had been excused from serving. The excused juror's co1ents were

crit.ica~ ofthe ef~ort to adjudicate the guilt of a black defendant.l~efore an all

whIte Jury. The Juror who overheard the remark sent a note to the court

indicating that, since hearing the comment, he could no longer take notes or

listen to the testimony. The juror admitted he had missed som, of the

evidence, and had already started judging the defendant witho~t hearing all

of the evidence. (Id. at p. 626.) The court declared a mistrialljecause the
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defendant refused to stipulate to a trial by 11 jurors. The Court ofAppeal

found no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court in.granting the

mistrial because the juror had prejudged the case, and was no longer able to

perform his duties.

Appellant's juror was excused during the penalty phase deliberations

of a death penalty trial, not during the evidentiary phase of an ordinary

felony tr~al. Here, the evidentiary phase of the trial was over. Hence, the

juror was not missing out on evidence as a result ofher professed inability

to concentrate. Furthermore, the juror had not prejudged the case.· Far from·

it, she was struggling with the inherently moral and normative life versus

death penalty determination. Furthermore, in this case, in contrast with the

Mitchell decision, this court does not simply look at whether the discharge

ofjuror 1 was an abuse of discretion. Rather, heightened scrutiny of the

trial court's judgment applies: (People v. Wilson, supra, 44 Ca1.4th at p.

821.) In this case, for reasons previously stated, the court's decision cannot

withstand that scrutiny.

D. The Trial Court Exceeded The Permissible Scope of
Questioning.

In response to appellant's argument that the juror was merely

yielding to subconscious pressure from the court, respondent asserts that the

trial judge properly used leading questioning to inquire about juror 1's

inability to deliberate. (RB 341.) Appellant respectfully suggests that the

trial court's questioning went too far.

Consistent with Cleveland, any investigation into a juror's

unwillingness or inability to continue '''must be conducted with care so as

to minimize pressure on legitimate minority jurors. '" (People v. Cleveland,
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supra, 25 Ca1.4th at p. 478, internal citation omitted.)

Although the provisions of Evidence Code section 1150 apply
only to the postverdict situation and not to an inquiry I

conducted during jury deliberations, the numerous decisions
discussed nonetheless support our conclusion that a trial
court's inquiry into possible grounds for discharge of a
deliberating juror should be as limited in scope as possible, to
avoid intruding unnecessarily upon the sanctity of the ju or's
deliberations. The inquiry should focus on the conduct f the
jurors, rather than the content of their deliberations.
Additionally, the inquiry should cease once the court is
satisfied that the juror at issue i.S Part.icipating in deliber8fions
and has not expressed an intention to disregard the courtls·
instructions or otherwise committed misconduct, and thatI no
other proper ground for discharge exists.

(People v. Cleveland; supra, 24 Ca1.4th at p. 485.)

In this case, nearly immediately, the judge began patronizingly

asking the jurorabout her age, whether she still lived at home, fhether she

could sleep at night, and even whether she had been having difyculty

looking at an exhibit during guilt phase closing argument. (65 ~T 10167­

10168.) The·scope of the inquiry did not focus on what the jurJr was doing,

i.e., whether she had been participating in deliberations, but rat~er, on other

inappropriate matters, such as her immaturity, financial andembtional

dependence on her parents, sleep deprivation and emotional reronse to

guilt phase evidence. These inquiries necessarily encroached on the

sanctity of the juror's deliberations. (65 RT 10167-10169.)/

.. Juror 1's answers to this line o.f questioning did not cleajllY. establis.h

an inability orunwillingness to continue deliberating. Defense counsel

correctly observed that everybody had "lost sleep" overthis ca e, but that

did not justify juror l's removal as juror. (65RT 10171.) The hourt, in

contravention of Cleveland, supra, at p. 485, continued questiobing the

216

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I



I
I
I
,I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I'
I
'I
I
I
I
I
I

I

juror, even though it was clear that she was still participating in

deliberations and engaging in dialog with other jurors regarding the

appropriate penalty. The court asked, "At one point you said that: This is

too heavy. Something like that What do you mean by that?" (65 RT

10173.) Juror 1 explained her worry that appellant's life was depending on

her. She expressed uncertainty regarding whether she wanted adeath

judgment on her "conscience," but also expressed uncertainty about being

unable to impose a sentence of life without parole. (65 RT 10173, 10175.)

The juror's affirmative responses to the court's leading questions,
{

that she "thought" or "believed" she would be incapable ofweighing the

evidence "clear-headedly," came later. By this time, however, it would

have been obvious to juror 1 that all she needed to do to be excused was to

conform her answers to what the court seemed to be saying would suffice as

grounds for excusal. (John H. Blume, Sherri LynnJohnson,A. Brian

Threlkeld, Symposium: Probing Lift QualificationThrough Expanded Voir

Dire (2001) 29 HofstraL. Rev. 1209, 1233-1234.) Jurors are extremely

attuned to the power imbalance in the courtroom, and conform their

answers to what they perceive judges are seeking. (See, Shuy, How a

judge's voir dire can teach a jury what to say (Sage 1995) Discourse and

Society, Volume 6(2): 207-222, at pp. 220-221 [discussing a technique

commonly applied by judges involving inaccurate restatement of a juror's

initial answer, leading the juror to adjust answers to match what he or she

perceives is expected to him]; [http://das.sagepub.com].)

The palpable risk was that this lone juror, feeling she could not in

good conscience vote for death, may have felt under great pressure to feign

incapacity "so as to place the burden of decision on an alternate juror."

(See, United States v. Lamb (9th Cir. 1975) 529 F.2d 1153, 1156.) This is
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precisely why American Bar Association Criminal Justice Stan ard 15-2.9,

governing alternate jurors, does not permit repla.cement of a jur I r once the

jury has retired to consider its verdict.26 (United States v. Lamb, supra, 529

F.2d at p. 1156.)

E. At Most There Existed Cause To Inquire Of Othe
Jurors Whether Juror 1 Was Capable Of Performing The
Duties Of Juror; This Argument Was Not Forfeited.

.1. Forfeiture:

Respondent asserts that a.ppellant forfeited the argument, made in the

alternative in Argument XVIII, E of the AOB, that the record atl most would

have justified a further investigation of the juror's inability to deliberate.

(RB 342-343.) Respondent's argument assumes that this claim ~r error is·

not preserved because trial counsel did not ask the court to conduct a further

hearing.. Respondent's forfeiture argument should be rejected.

First and foremost, appellant maintains that the record as developed

does not establish the juror's incapacity to deliberate, properly applying the

h.eightened "demonstrable reality" standard.. Second, at the COnflUSion of

all of the trial court's questioning, counsel made it clear that he [did not

believe the juror was incapable ofcontinuing to serve as a juroq he stood

his ground and asked the Court to encourage juror 1 to "go bacJ there and

continue her deliberations." (65 RT 10180.) The court could Jave done as

counsel asked, and directed the juror to do her best to deliberatd in

accordance with the court's instructions. Alternatively, the couh could

have inquired of one or more other jurors whether juror 1 was Jr was not

26 ABA Jury Trial Standard 15-2.9 can be found at
http://www.abanet.org/crimjust/standards/jurytrialblk.html.
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appropriately engaging with other jurors in the deliberative process. (See,

People v. Wilson, jupra, 44 Ca1.4th 758, in which such a procedure was

conducted.)

Respondent cites People v. Ramirez, supra, 39 Ca1.4th at pp. 460­

461, in support of finding the argument waived. In Ramirez, a juror was

shot to death during the pendency ofjury deliberations for reasons unrelated

to the case. This Court found that the defendant waived the contention that

the trial court had failed to conduct an adequate inquiry into the jury's

exposure to news coverage of the juror's death because defense counsel did

not raise this issue in the trial court. (People v. Ramirez, supra, at p.460.)

Here, in contrast, counsel objected to excusingthe juror.

In Ramirez, this Court also rejected as forfeited a defendant's·claim

that the trial court did not make a meaningful inquiry into the effect on the

jury of the juror's death. Counsel for Ramirez had not asked the court to

conduct an inquiry at the time jurors resumed their deliberations following

the juror's death; rather, he asked the court to interrupt.deliberations and

inquire fully two weeks after the jury had resumed its deliberations. This

Court held that the trial court correctly refusedto inquire because

interrupting the jury's deliberations after such a long delay would have

undermined the sanctity of deliberations. (People v. Ramirez, supra, at pp.

460-461.) In this case, the timing was entirely different; a further inquiry

would not have interrupted ongoing deliberations. Counsel objected to the

excusal ofjuror 1 without delay.

The purpose of the doctrine of waiver is to encourage a party to

bring errors to the attention of the trial court, so that errors may be corrected

or avoided in the first place. (People v. Saunders, supra, 5 Cal.4th at p.

590, cited at RB 343.) In this case, the court had an opportunity to correct

219



the error; it could have sent the juror back to deliberate further, or

conducted a properly limited inquiry of other jurors, focused on whether .

juror 1 was participating in deliberations. The judge discharge the juror

over counsel's clear objection. Therefore, the issue was not for eited.

In any event, respondent concedes that it is not clear that the

forfeiture doctrine applies to the "for cause" excusal of a juror i a· capital

trial. (RB 343,~. 117, citingPeoplev: Lewis and Oliver, suprT .39 Cal.4th

at p. 1007, fn. 8, People v. Holt, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 652, fn. f, cf.

People v. Hill (1992) 3 Ca1.4th 959, 1005.) When "the questioJ whether

defendants have preserved their right to raise this issue on appe~l is close

and difficult," this Court will assume that defendants have pres,rved their

right, and proceed to the merits. ~People.v: Champion (1995) 9.1Cal.4th 879,

908, fu. 6; accord: People v. LeWIS and Olzver, supra, 39 Cal.4tl at p.1007,

fu.8.) TheCourt should reach the merits in this case.

2. The Merits:

Respondent asserts that there was no reason for the coul to inquire

further because there was no evidence that juror 1 was pressured or coerced

by other jurors. (RB 343.) This misses the point. Appellant firkt and

foremost submits there was no justification for inquiring beyonJ the point

that it became clear that juror 1 was still capable of deliberatingl and in fact

had been engaging with jurors in the deliberative process up uniil the time

she requested to be excused. (People v. Cleveland, supra, 25 CJl.4th at p.
. I

485; see, People v. Bennett, supra, 45 Ca1.4th at pp. 622-623 [juror not

excused after expressing anxiety and reluctance to be publicly ~olledl.)
However, even assuming juror 1's initial answers raised a question in the

judge's mind about her willingness and ability to deliberate, instead of
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engaging juror 1 in a discussion of her age, immaturity, and susceptibility to

being swayed by the opinions of other jurors, it would have been more

appropriate for the court to ask one or more other jurors whether all jurors

were participating in deliberations,and, assuming an affirmative respon~e,

to direct the jury to continue deliberating. (People v. Cleveland, supra, 25

Ca1.4th at p. 480.)

Furthermore, appellant disagrees with respondent's contention, in

which respondent argues that there is nothing in the record from which it

could be inferred that juror 1's reluctance to continue stemmed from doubts

the juror had aboutthe appropriateness of the death penalty in appellant's

case. (United States v. Brown, supra, 823 F.2d 591,596.) To the contrary,

!his juror's anxiety clearly and in her own words derived from the

inherently difficult decision to impose life without the possibility ofparole

or death. (People v. Bennett, supra, 45 Ca1.4th at p. 623.) She said:

His life is depending on me. lreally don't know how to go
about that. I mean if I decide to go one way and I. agree with
all- If all the jurors and I all agree onthe death penalty, it is
like - that is too heavy on me. I don't really want that on my
conscience. And If I decide to give him life in prison, I don't
really know if I should do that either.

(65 RT 10173.) Later she reiterated, "But what is really getting to me is his

life is in my hands. I really just don't know how to go about that." (65 RT

10175.) At another point juror 1 stated: "I feel like I'm a strong person. If I

believe in one thing, I will go with it even if I have to go against

everybody." (65 RT 10178.) Even Judge Horan thought it appeared that

"preliminarily a number ofjurors, at least, have taken a position adverse to

Mr. Maciel ...." (65 RT 10179.) The record establishes more than a

reasonable possibility that the impetus ofjuror l's dismissal stemmed from

her views about the merits of the case. (people v. Cleveland, supra, at p.
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483; United States v. Symington, sURra, 195 F.3dat p. 1087.)

Respondent ironically takes the position that conducting, rny more

investigation would haveviolated the sanctity of the jury's deli1~rations.'

(RE 344;) However, it only violates the sanctity ofjury deliberJtions when

questioning of deliberating jurors focuses on the content.of deli, erations.•

(People v. Cleveland, supra, at p. 476.) In this case, there was 0 need to

probe the content of deliberations; only to ascertain whether jurlr 1 was

engaging in the deliberative process, i.e., whether she was speJing to

fellow jurors, listening to their views, or refusing to speak or lis{en, or

seeking to separate herselfphysically from other jurors. (1'eoPlt v.

Cleveland, supra, 25 Ca1.4th at p. 485.) Hence, the trial court could have

attempted to ascertain whether juror 1 was willing and able to p rticipate in

deliberations without intruding unnecessarily into the content 0 '

deliberations.

F. This Court Should Reconsider Its Decisions In People
v. Fields (1983) 35 Ca1.3d 329 and People v. Green (19 1)
15 Cal.App.3d 524.

Respondent cites People v. Fields, supra, 35 Ca1.3d at p. 351, fn. 9,

and People v. Green, supra, 15 Cal.App.3d 524, for the proposiiion that

"unforeseen circumstances may require the substitution of a juror at the

'penalty phase of a capital trial, even though the alternate did nol take part in

the guilt phase deliberatious." (RB 345; see also, People v. COfins (1976)

,17 Ca1.3d 687 [holding the practice ofsubstitution during delijrations to

be constitutional].) For reasons more fully articulated in the A~B,

Argument XVIII, at pages 259-260, this Court should reconsid1r its ,

holdings in Fiel~ an~Co.llins, and pr~hibit.or s.evere~y cirC~'Cribe the

practIceofallowmg dIsmIssal ofa dehberatmgJuror m the mIdst of the
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penalty phase of a death penalty triaL

The ABA as a policy 'matter has rejected the prac'tice of excusing

deliberating jurors in the drafting of its Criminal Justice Standards. (ABA

Criminal Justice Standards, Standard 15-2.9.) The broad exercise ofjuror

replacement procedures encourages jurors to become actively involved in

their own composition, which impedes the unfettered deliberative process.

(McDermott, Note: Substitution ofAlternate Jurors During Deliberations

. and Implications on the Rights ofLitigants: The Reginald Denny Trial

(1994) 35 Boston College L. Rev. 847,881.) Indeed, this Court has

recognized that it would be undesirable to adopt a policy "which

contemplates substitution of alternate jurors after the guilt trial as. a routine

procedure:' (Peoplev. Fields, supra, 35 Ca1.3d at p. 351, fn. 9.) This

Court should reconsider its rulings in Collins and Fields, and require that,

upon dismissal of a deliberating juror in the penalty phase of a capital trial,

a mistrial should be declared, or alternatively, the jury must begin the

process of guilt phase deliberations anew.

In any event, in this case, when the court asked juror 1 if she "started .

feeling this way" ... 'just today" or when the jury went out to deliberate,

she initially responded that she began experiencing more anxiety at the

commencement ofpenalty phase deliberations. (65 RT 10166-10167.)

However, she later indicated that she was having problems sleeping for the

"past couple ofweeks." (65 RT 10168.) She admitted she "couldn't look"

at a guilt phase photographic exhibit of one ofthe victims. (65 RT 10169.)

Prior to the penalty phase, she was having trouble with her mind

'~wandering" at work. (65 RT 10176.) Moreover, the court, in dismissing

juror 1, said he was doing so because she could not think, could not sleep

and could not look at the evidence. (65 RT 10181.) The juror could not

223



sleep or look at evidence, and her mind waS wandering during tTh.e guilt

phase as well as the penalty phase deliberations. Accordingly, Jpart from

the holdings of Collins and Fields, in this case, once the juror wls excused,

it was error not to begin guilt phase deliberations again.

G. The Error Was Neither Harmless Nor Were
Constitutionally Based Objections Waived.

1. Harmless Error:

Respondent argues that the error was harmless because t e dismissed

juror appeared just as likely to vote for the death penalty as aga' st it. (RB

346.) Harmless error analysis does not apply to the erroneous "for cause"

dismissal of a juror during jury deliberations. If the evidence dles.not show

as a "demonstrable reality" that the jury was incapable or unwilling to

deliberate, the penalty phase verdict must be reversed. (People . Wilson,

supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 842.)

2. Forfeiture:

Respondent argues that appe.nallt's failure to couch his jjections in

federal constitutional terms precludes him from asserting federl1 .

constitutional error on appeal. (RB 346.) The purpose of sectiin 1089 is to

provide a vehicle for the dismissal of a sworn juror when facts are

discovered from which it Call reasonably be concluded that the ~uror,
although originally thought to be biased, cannot be fair and im]artial.

(People v. McNeal (1979) 90 Cal.App.3d 830,840.) The right. 0 trial by a

fair and impartial jury is guaranteed by the state and federal co stitutions.

An objection to the dismissal of a deliberating juror is inherentL~ a

constitutionally based objection.

The purpose of the waiver doctrine would not be served by refusing

224

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I



I
I,
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I

to address appellant's federal constitutional claims on the merits.

Appellant's objection to excusing thejuror was brought to the attention of

the trial judge, who had every opportunity to do take the right, rather than

the wrong course of action. (People v. Saunders, supra, 5 Cal.4th at p.

.. 590.) Appellant's constitutional arguments onappeal do not invoke facts

or legal standards any different from those the trial court had to apply to .

determine wh~ther juror 1 was unwilling or unable to deliberate as a

"demonstrable reality." In such circumstances, there is no forfeiture of new

constitutional arguments on appeal. (People v. Lewis and Oliver, supra, 39

Cal.4th at p. 990, fn. 5; see also, People v. Lewis (2008) 43 Cal.4th 415;

490, fn. 19 [State constitutional claims based on the same facts as federal

constitutional claims and requiring similar analysis are not forfeited by the

failure to articulate the state constitutional claim at trial.].) Accordingly,

respondent's forfeiture argument should be rejected.
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XIX~

REPLY TO. RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XIX: APPEjLLANT'S
CONTENTION THAT IDS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHtS WERE

VIOLATE)) BY GIVING AN INSTRUCTION ADVISINd JURORS
.. . I

TO NOTIFY THE COURT OF ANY JUROR NOT FOLLOWING
INSTRUCTIONS IS NEITHER FORFEITED NOR WI HOUT

MERIT.

A. Appellant's Contention Should Not Be Deemed
Forfeited.

. Respondent argues that appellant's claim of instructiona error is .

forfeited. due to the failure to o~ject to the ~nstructi.on in theCOfl. below.

(RB 349.) Appellant's contentIOn that the mstructIOn was error of

constitutional dimension is based on this Court's decision in Pe lJlle v.

Engelman(2002) 28 Ca1.4th 436,441-447: Engleman was declded after

appellant's trial. Any failure to object was excusable, given th~ this

Court's critique of the risks inherent in giving CALJIC No. 17.14.1 was
. . I

unforeseeable at the time of trial. (People v. Crowson (1983) 3f Cal.3d

623,628; see also People v. DeSantiago (1969) 71 Cal.2d 18, 2Q-27.) In

any event, appellant has not found a single case, nor has respon~ent cited

one; in which this Court refused to address the merits of an apPfllant's post­

Engelman.challenge to the use ofCALJIC No. 7.41.1. (See, e.g., People v.

Wilson, supra, 44 Ca1.4th at pp.805-806; People v. Romero (2q08) 44

Cal.4th 386,419; People v. Barnwell, supra, 41 Cal.4th at PP.1~54-1055;

People v. Brown, supra, 33 Cal.4that p. 393.)
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. B. This Court Should Reconsider Its Decisions Holding
That The GivingOfCALJICNo. 17.41.1 In A Capital·
Trial Does Not Result In A Violation Of Constitutional

.Rights.

Respondent cites a list of cases decided prior to the filing ofthe

Respondent's Brief, in which this Court rejected constitutional challenges
. .

to the giving ofCALJIC No. 17.41.1. (RB 349-350; People v. Engelman,

supra, 28 Cal.4that pp. 439-440; People v. Brown, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p.

393.) Several more cases rejecting identical challenges to CALJIe No.

17.41.1 have recently followed. (People v. Wilson, supra, 44 Cal.4th at pp.

805-806; People v. Romero, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 419; People v.

Barnwell, supra, 41 Cal.4th at pp. 1054-1055.) Appellant respectfully

requests that this Court reconsider its prior decisions to the extent they

conclude that giving CALJIC No. 17.41.1 did not result in a violation of

constitutional rights, including rights guaranteed by the Sixth, Eighth and

Fourteenth Amendments.

In addition, appellant respectfully suggests that this case is different

from the cases that-have come before. In appellant's case, the instruction

was given at the penalty phase of a capital trial, where the sentencing·

function is "inherently moral and nonnative, not factual. ..." (People v.

Wilson, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 830.) Furthennore, the record in this case

contains evidence that the instruction may in fact have led juror 1 to self­

report the difficulties) she was having in agreeing with a death verdict,

possibly in response to pressure from other jurors. (See, Argument XVIII,

ante.) In other cases, this Court's finding ofno constitutional violation has

been premised, at least in part, on the fact that the risks associated with the

giving of CALJIC No. 17.41.1 had failed to materialize; in other words, no .

juror had actually reported another juror's failure or refusal to follow the
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In People v. Wilson, supra, 44 Ca1.4th 758, 824, this Co~rt

emphasized the crucial distinctionbetween legitimate disagreeJent and

inabili(y or refusal to deliberate: By giving CALJIC No. 17.41.1 in this

case, the trial court improperly fostered a deliberative process in which "the

circumstance that a juror disagrees with the majori(y" (ibid.) w1.·. viewed

with confusion and erroneously used as the reason for dismissall of a self·

reporting dissenter. The instruction necessarily magnified the coercive

influences already at play when, during penal(y phase deliberati~ns,a

minority juror reveals an inclination to dissent. These coercive influences

have been documented by the Capital Jury Project in emPirical1tudies

conducted in many states, including California?? (See, Fleury-Steiner,

Jurors' Stories ofDeath: How America's Death Penalty Invests in

Inequality (Ann Arbor: U. Mich. Press 2004) 117.) The words ~fa majority

juror who had persuaded a holdout juror to vote for death are ill I strative.

I felt like the jury badgered him [the holdout] to
the point to where he changed his vote .... But
this guy really thought that you could sentence
someone to life and he would be never released
into society. And that was a problem.

. 27Initiated in 1991 by a consortium of university-based r~earchers

with support from the National Science Foundation (NSF), the ~apital Jury
Project [CJP] was designed to: (1) systematically describe jurors' exercise
of capital sentencing discretion; (2) assess the extent of arbitrarihess in .
jurors' exercise of such discretion; and (3) evaluate the efficacy pfcapital
statutes in controlling such arbitrariness. Since 1993, some 30 articles
presenting and. diSCUSSing. the findings of the CJP have been PUtllliShed. in
scholarly journals. (See the CJP website at .
http://www.albany.edu/scj/CJPhome.htm for an updated listingof articles,
commentaries and doctoral dissertations.)
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(Id., at p. 117.) The holdout juror's correct interpretation of the law was no

match for the pressure of fellow jurors who eventually convinced him he

must vote for death. In light of the temporal proximity in this case between
. .

the court's instruction and the juror's coming forward, the pernicious

influence ofCALJIC No. 17.41.1 cannot beignored.

For this reason, as well as the reasons previously articulated in

Argument XIX of the AOB, this Court should depart from its precedent and

find the error harmful in appellant's case.
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xx.

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XX: THE TRIAL
COUR! ERRED BY REFUSING APPELLANT'S REQ ESTED

INSTRUCTION ON IMMUNITY AND CODEFEND NTS'
SENTENCES.

Defense counsel requested and was refused a penalty phase

instruction that would have informed jurors that they could C01ider

immunity grants to witness 16 and witness 12 as mitigating factors. He also·
I

requested an instruction that would have allowed jurors to consider the.

lenient sentences received by codefendants as mitigation. The Jrial court

denied the ins.truCtions under authority ofPeople v. Dantelson 11992) 3

Ca1.4th 691, 718. (65RT 10042-10046, 10075.)

In the AOB, appellant argued that the denial of these insfructions

violated appellant's federal constitutional rights to·equal protectIion, due

process and a reliable deathjudgment. (AOB 266-269.) Appellant urged

this court to reconsider its ruling in People v. Danielson, supra, 3 Ca1.4th at·

p. 718, and to find that Danielson and its progeny contravene tlie United

States Supreme Court's decision in Parker v. Dugger (1991) 4~8 U.S. 308,

314 [112 L.Ed.2d 812, 111 S.Ct. 731]. I .

In the RB, numerous cases are cited in which this Court has rejected

identical arguments, and/or refused to reconsider its earlier rulihgs. (RB
. I

352-353; see, e.g., People v. Rodrigues, supra, 8 Ca1.4th at PP.P88-1189.)

Rather than reiterating the arguments already set forth in the ArB,

appellant once again urges this Court to overrule People v. Danielson,

supra, 3 Ca1.4th at p. 718, and to find the denial of the requestJd

instructions to be prejudicial error.
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XXI.

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XXI: CALIFORNIA'S
DEATH PENALTY STATUTE,AS INTERPRETED BYTHIS

COURT AND APPLIED AT APPELLANT'S TRIAL, VIOLATES
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

In the AOB, appellant presented a multifaceted attack on the

constitutionality of California's death penalty scheme. (AOB 270-306.)

Respondent asserts that this Court should reject appellant's "contentions by

case citations without additional legal analysis." (RB 354.) Appellant's 36:­

page death penalty challenge does not include "contentions by case citations

without additional legal analysis." Furthermore, in People v. Schmeck

(2005) 37 Ca1.4th240, this Court held that what it considered "routine"

challenges to California's capital punishment scheme will be deemed "fairly

presented" for purposes of federal review "even when the defendant does

no more than (I) identify the claim in the context of the facts, (ii) note that

we previously have rejected the same or similar claim in a prior decision,

and (iii) ask us to reconsider that decision." (Id., at pp. 303-304, citing

Vasquez v. Hillery (1986) 474 U.S. 254, 257 [88 L.Ed.2d 598, 106 S.Ct.

617].) In the AOB, appellant attempted to comply with the letter and spirit.

of the Schmeck case by stating claims "in a straightforward manner

accompanied by a briefargument." (Id., at p. 304.) Should this Court

decide to reconsider any of the rejected claims, appellant requests the right

to present supplemental briefing.

A. Section 190.2 Is Impermissibly Broad.

In the AOB, appellant argued that California's twenty-eight death

penalty eligibility factors, i.e., those special circumstances that existed at the

time of appellant's alleged offenses, fail to narrow application of the death
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rejected this challenge to the state's death penalty scheme. (RBf355.) This

Court has continued to rejectchallenges to the constitutionality of section

190.2 since the Respondent's Briefwas filed. (See, e.g., People v. Bennett,

supra, 45 CaL4th at p. 630.)

This Court should reconsider its prior rulings on the iss e. The

report of the California Commission on the Fair Administration of Justice,
. . I

supra, released on June 30, 2008 [Commission Report], found California's

death penaltr system to be completely dysfunctional. Among 1e

recommended solutions to California's systemic problems was ~o greatly

narrow the list of special circumstances to which the death penf'lty applies.

(Commission Report, p. 60.) The CCFAJ noted that the Consti ution

Project in Washington D.C., established a blue-ribbon biPartisJn

commission ofjudges, prosecutors, defense lawyers, elected otficials, FBI

and police officials, professors and civic and religions leaders+examine

the administration of the death penalty in the United States. THe

commission achieved broad consensus on two key recommendltions. First,

the commission recommended limiting death eligibilitr to five ~actors
including: (l) peace officer murders; (2) murders by a person Jhile

imprisoned; (3) mnltiple mnrders where there was an intent to~ll more

than one person; (4) torture-murders; and (5) murders by a perJon under a

felony criminal investigation of anyone involved in the investiJation.

Second, the commission also recommended that felony-murde, shonld be

excluded as a basis for death penalty eligibility. (Commission feport, pp.

61-62; The Constitution Project, Mandatory Justice: The Deatt Penalty

Revisited, p. xxiv-xxv (2001; 2005 update) [hereafter Mandato~y Justice
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Report].).) Similar recommendations were made by the Illinois Governor's

Commission on Capital Punishment. (Commission Report, pp. 62-63.)

The California Commission on the Fair Administration of Justice

undertook a comprehensive review to determine which special

circumstances were found· in all cases in which the death penalty was

imposed in California from 1978 through 2007. The Commission found

that ifCalifornia had limited application ofthe death penalty to the five

eligibility factors recommended for retention by the Mandatory Justice

Report, California would have had only 368 people on death row, rather

than 670.28 (Commission Report, p. 64.) The report also estimated that, if

every condemned California prisoner whose conviction did not include one

ofthe ~Yandatory Justice Report's five proposed eligibility factors had his

or her sentence commuted to life without the possibility ofparole,

California could save $27 million each year over the current cost of

confining these same prisoners on death row. (Commission Report,p. 69.)

According to the prosecutor's theory of liability, appellant would not

be eligible for the death penalty if the Commission recommendations were

adopted. The Commission's recommendation would limit multiple murder

to circumstances where (a) the deaths were the result oian intent to kill

more than one person; or (b) the defendant knew the act or acts would cause

death,or create a strong possibility ofdeath or great bodily harm to

murdered individual. (Commission Report, p. 61.) The prosecutor's theory

was that appellant conspired to kill one man only - Moreno. Even

assuming appellant played any role in the killings - something he denies -

28 According to the California Department of Corrections and
Rehabilitation's Death Row Tracking System, as ofAugust 13,2009, there
were 685 people on death row.
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the People's evidence unequivocally establishes that appellant did not

intend to ca~se the deaths ofMaria and the children. Additi~f1JIY, the

People's eVIdence shows that appellant had no reason to behev1 that
. . I

Gustavo Aguirre would be present at the Moreno's residence when the

allegedly plannedmurder of Moreno was carried out; thereforej he cannot

have intended Aguirre's death, or even have known of the risk hat Aguirre

would be killed.

While the Commission Report did not make findings re1urding the

constitutionality of California's capital sentencing scheme, the report

provides good reason to revisit and reconsider whether, considJring current

conditions, including California's disproportionately high deatJ row

population, California's law sufficiently performs the narrowink function

demanded by the Eighth Amendment.

B. Section 190.3, Factor (a) Is Impermissibly Overb oad.

The AOB asserts that California's death penalty is inval~d because

section 190.3,subdivision (a), as applied, allows for the arbitratY and

capricious imposition of the death penalty in violation of the Fikh, Sixth,

Eighth, and Fonrteenth Amendments. (AOB 274-276.) SUbd+sion (a) of

section 190.3 allows thejury to consider the "circumstances Ofre crime."

Viewing section 190.3 subdivision (a) in the context of ways i1 which it has

actually been used, appellant asserts that every fact that is a p of a murder

could theoretically be consider an "aggravating circumstance," hus

emptying the term of any meaning, and allowing arbitrary and ,apricious

death sentencing. (AOB 275-276.) As was also pointed out in Argument

XVI, C, this broad language may be used as an excuse for prosecutors to

improperly argue for death based on graphic and emotionally jJrring victim
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impact evidence.

Respondent accurately points outthat constitutional challenges to

subdivision (a) of section 190.3 have uniformly been rejected by this Court.·

(RB 356-357.) This Court has continued to rejeCt this argument in recent

decisions. (People v. Bramit (2009) _ Ca1.4th-' *51; People v. Friend

(2009) _._ Ca1.4th _, *179; People v. Farley (2009) _ Ca1.4th _,

*178; People v. Dykes, supra, 46 Ca1.4th at p. 813; People v. Hawthorne

(2009) 46 Ca1.4th 67, 104.) Once again, appellant simply asks this Court to

reconsider the issue.

C. California's Death Penalty Statute Lacks Proper
Safeguards To Avoid Arbitrary And Capricious Death
Sentencing.

In the AOB, Argument XXI, C, it is asserted that California's death

penalty sentencing scheme on its face and/or as applied to appellant suffers

from constitutional flaws which include the following:

(1) Appellant's death judgment was not based on findings beyond a

reasonable doubt by a unanimous jury that one or more aggravating factors

existed, and that such aggravating factors outweighed mitigating factors

. beyond a reasonable doubt as required by the decisions in Apprendi v. New

Jersey (2000) 530 U.S. 466 [147 L.Ed.2d 435, 120 S.Ct. 2348], Ring v.

Arizona (2002) 536 U.S. 584 [153 L.Ed.2d 556, 122 S.Ct. 2428], Blakely v.

Washington (2004) 542 U.S. 296 [159 L.Ed.2d 403, 124 S.Ct. 2531],

United States v. Booker (2005) 543 U.s. 220 [160 L.Ed.2d 621, 125 S.Ct.

738], and Cunningham v. California (2007) 549 U.S. 270 [166 LEd.2d

856, 127 S.Ct. 856]. In this case, jurors were instructed there was no need

to reach a unanimous agreement regarding the truth of aggravating factors.

(65 RT 10113-10114,10128; AOB 276-289.)
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(2) Appellant's jury was not instructed that they could i ,pose death

only if they were persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that aggf.lavating

factors existed and that aggravating factors outweighed the miti~ating

factors beyond a reasonable doubt. This resulted in violationofthe Due

Process Clauses and Cruel and Umisual Punishment Clauses of the state and

federal constitutions. (AOB 290-292.)

(3) California law violates the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourte~nth

Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to req~jre that the

jury base its death sentence on written findings regarding aggraI'a.ting'

evidence. (AOB 293-295.)
. .

(4) California's death penalty statute, as interpreted by t is Court,

forbids inter-case proportionality review; thereby guaranteeing I rbitrary,

discriminatory and disproportionate imposition of the death pe alty. (AOB

295-297.)

(5) In the penalty phase of appellant's trial, the prosecut~on

u~constitutionallyreliedon unadj~dicatedcri~inal activity as Jrgravating

CIrcumstances. Furthermore, the JUry was not Instructed that they cOlild

only consider unadjudicated criminal activity an aggravating fabtor if they

unanimously agreed that the evidence proved beyond a reasonable doubt

that appellant committed the alleged unadjudicated acts. (AOB 297-298.)

(6) The use of restrictive adjectives, such as "extreme" (see, section
. . I

190.3, subdivisions (d) and (g)) and "substantial" (see, section 190.3,

.subdivision (g)) acted as barriers to the consideration of mitigaJing evidence

in violation of the Fifth,Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments. (tOB 298.)

(7) The failure to instructthat statutory mitigating factors were

relevant solely as potential mitigators precluded a fair, reliable, and

evenhanded administration ofthe death penalty. (AOB 298-30 .)
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Respondent disputeseach ofthe above constitutional challenges, .
. .

citing decisions ofthis Court in which the same or similar challenges have

been rejected. (RB 359-362.) This Court has continued to reject identical

constitutional challenges to CalifoQlia's capital sentencingscheme incases

decided since the filing ofthe Respondent's Brief. (See, e.g., People v.

Farley, supra, _Cal.4th at *175-* 179; People v. Bunyard(2009) 45

Cal.4th 836, 860'-881; People v. Gutierrez (2009) 45 Cal.4th 789, 829-834;

People v. Avila (2009) 46 Cal.4th 680, 723-725;Peoplev. Bennett, supra,

45 Cal.4th at pp. 629-632; People v. Lindburg (2008) 45 Cat4th 1, 51'-54;

People v. Romero, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 429; People v. Riggs (2008) 44

Cal.4th 248,329-330; People v. Harris (2008) 43 Ca1.4th 1269, 1323; .

People v. Zambrano(2007) 41 Cal.4th 1082, 1185-1187.) In keeping with

. this Court's decision in People v. Schmeck, supra, 37 Cal.4th at pages 301·

304, appellant incorporates by reference the arguments advanced in the

AOB, and once again requests this Court's reconsideration of the issues.

D. California's Capital Sentencing Scheme Violates The
Equal Protection Clause Of The Federal Constitution By
Denying Safeguards To Capital Defendants That Are
Afforded To Non-Capital Defendants.

Appellant contends in the AOB that equal protection is denied by

. virtue of greater procedural protections afforded non-capital defendants

compared with capital defendants. For example, in a non-capital case, a

court must state reasons for selecting the upper or lower term sentence,

including a concise statement of the ultimate facts relied upon as

circumstances in mitigation or aggravation.· (Cal. Rules ofCt., rule 4.420.)

In addition, sentencing enhancements based on something other than the

fact of a valid prior conviction must be found true beyond a reasonable
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doubt by a unanimous jury. (Peoplev. Towne (2008) 44 Cal.4t .. 63,82-83;

§§ 1158, 1158a.) .

Respondent observes, correctly, that this Court has cons stently

rejected this ident,ical equal protection challenge to California,j capital

sentencing. scheme. (RB 363; see als.", People v. Bennett, suprf' 45 CalAth

at p. 632.) Therefore, in accordance with People v. Schmeck, srpra, 37

Cal.4th at pp. 303-304, appellant incorporates by reference the arguments

previously set forth in the AOB, and requests reconsideration tthiS issue.

E. California's Use Of The Death Penalty As A Regttlar
Form Of Punishment Violates International Norms (j)f

Humanity and Decency And The Eighth And Fourte~nth
Amendments.

Inthe AOB, appellant argues that California's use ofth~ death

penalty falls short of international norms of decency and hum1ity, thus

violating the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. (AOB 304·":306.)
I

Respondent accurately points out that this Court has consistently rejected

challenges to California's use of the death penalty founded in ihternational

law or norms. (RB 364; see also, People v. Gutierrez, supra, +CalAth at

p. 834; People v. Bunyard, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 861.) Appellant

respectfully suggests that it is time for this Court to reassess thl . . ­

constitutionality of California's application of the death penalJ considering
I

evolving international attitudes toward capital punishment. I

Public opinion is turning against the use of capital punishment. As
I .

Justice Moreno recently observed in his dissenting opinion in lfeople v.

Martinez (2009)_ Cal.4th _ [2009 Cal. LEXIS 8079]:'

I note that the problem ofhow to deal with prospective jurors
I

in capital cases who oppose the death penalty may well ~e a
large and growing one. Polls show that about one-third of
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those surveyed in this state oppose the death penalty, up from
only 14 percent in 1989. (See FieIdResearch Corp., The Field,
Poll, Release # 2183{Mar. 3,2006) 1-2,6 (The Field Poll)
[poll conducted February 12-26; 2006, showed 63 percent
favored and 32 percent opposedthe'death penalty in
California].) The exclusion'ofone out of three potentialjurors
because the attitudes toward the deathpenalty might
predispose themto vote for life imprisonment without parole
would indeed result in a jury panel "uncommonly willing to
condemn a man to'die" in violation of the defendant's Sixth
Amendment rights.

(Id., at *128-'* 129.)

In the past several y~ars, the United States Supreme Court has

continuedto emphasize the importance of increasing national and

international antipathy toward the death penalty in deciding whether its use

in the United States violates the Eighth Amendment. For example, in Roper'

v. Simmons (2005)543 U.S. 551 [161 L.Ed.2d 1, 125 S.Ct. 1183], which

abolished capital punishment for juvenile offenders, the federal high court

stated:

Our determination that the death penalty is disproportionate
punishment for offenders under 18 finds conformation in the
stark reality that the United States is the only country in the
world that continues to give official sanction to the juvenile
death penalty....[T]he Court has referred to the laws ofother
countries and to international authorities as instructive for its
interpretation of the Eighth Amendment's prohibition of
"cruel and unusual punishments."

(Id., at p. 577; see also, Kennedy v. Louisiana (2008) _ U.S. _ [171

L.Ed.2d 525, 128 S.Ct. 2641, 2650].) The high court also placed heavy

emphasis on the fact that a majority ofour states had rejected the death

penalty for juveniles. The court concluded that states' rejection ofthe

juvenile death penalty bespoke evolving standards of decency, such that
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abolition of the juvenile death penalty was now required by the Eighth.

Amendment. (Roper v. Simmons, supra, 543 U.S. atpp. 563-'5 ;8.) .
. . . I

In January of2009, Amnestylnternational reported that 135
countries,. including C~ada,Mexico, and all countries of Westyrn Europe,

have aboltshed the death penalty completely or have deathpenJlty laws that

are no longer in use. (See, http://.amnesty.orglenideath-penaltyl~bolitiOnist-
and-reten.tionist-coun~ri~s.) The.~nite.d States s~ands a~one amIng. nations

of the western world III Its expansIve use of capItal pumshment. In 2008,

according to the Death Penalty Information Center, the United, tates ranked

fourth in its active use of the death penalty, behind China, Iran, and Saudi

Arabia. (See, http://www.deathpenaltyinfo.org/death-penalty-i ternational­

perspective.)

The international trend toward abolition continues to the present. On

August 3,2009, the Associated Press reported what may be the largest mass

commutation of death sentences in modem history. President Jwai Kibaki

of Kenya commuted all death sentences imposed on convicted drisoners to

life imprisonment. In a statement to the public, President KibaJi explained

that no death sentence had been carried out in his country for th1 past 22

years, leading to an accumulation of over 4,000 prisoners on delth row in

Kenyan prisons. Like California's prisons, Kenya's prisons are

overcrowded, underfunded and understaffed. They were built fCDr a

popul~tion of ~bout 15,000 but h~ve an inm~tepopul~tionof mtre than

40,000. The decision to commute took into consideration that eKtended

stays on death row may cause undue mental anguish and sUfferihg,

psychological trauma, and anxiety, and may constitute inhuman treatment.

The Kenyan president has directed government officials to study whether
.. I

the death penalty has any impact on fighting crime. (See, Associated Press,
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August 3, 2009, Kenyan Leader Reduces All Death Sentences to Life.)

. Although this Court lacks the authority to commute all of the state's

death sentences, it should reconsider its prior rulings and set aside

appellant's death judgment because the continued broad application of

capital punishment violates intemationallilw and norms as well as the

Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.
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XXII.

REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT XXII: fHE .
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS DEPRtVED. ... .. I

APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL DURING BOTH THE GUILT AND
PENALTY PHASES OF THE CASE AND THUS DEPRI ED THE

JUDGMENTS OF FAIRNESS OR RELIABILIT .

Respondent asserts that, whether considered individually or in the

aggregate, the alleged errors could not have influenced the outc me of

appellant's trial. (RB 366.) Rather than restating what has alreldy been

said, appellant incorporates by reference the cumulative' error ar~ument of

the AOB (AOB 307-309), and suggests that "if there were ever kcase for

application of cumulative error principles, this is it." (United SJ7fes· v.

Killian (9th Cir. 2002) 282 F.3d 1204, 1211.)

The following United States Supreme Court decisions, ijter alia, in

effect at the time the error occurred, are presented in support of~his claim:

Taylor v. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 487, and fu. 15 [56 L.Ed2d 468,

9g S.Ct. 1930] (cumulative effect of errors may violate due pro1ess); Brady

v. Maryland, supra, 373 U.S. 83 (withholding ofevidence favo

1
,ble to

accused violates due process); Pointer v. Texas, supra, 380 U.. 400

(confrontation clause provides criminal defendant right to direc Ily confront

adversarial evidence); Gardner v. Florida, supra, 430 U.S. 439 {due

process violation in capital proceeding where petitioner sentencbd on basis

of unreliable information);. Godfrey v; Georgia (1980) 446 U.Sj420 [64

L.Ed2d 398, 100 S.Ct. 1759] (Eighth Amendment requires hig ler degree of .

. scrutiny in capital proceedings); Hicks v. Oklahoma (1979) 447f'S, 343

[65 L.Ed.2d 175, 100 S.Ct. 2227] (federal due process claim in state-created

right).
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the entire judgment must be reversed. "

Additionally, the appellant should be afforded any further relief supported

by the law and" evidence including, in the alternative, reversal of one or

more of the convictions of first degree murder; reversal of the multiple

murder special circumstance finding; remand for an evidentiary hearing on

the prejudicial effect of the denial of consular rights guaranteed by the

Vienna Convention; remand for an evidentiary hearing to determine

whether witness 15 received a quidpro quo for his testimony,. and reversal

of the death penalty with a remand for a new penalty triaL
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